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PART I

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Except for historical information, this Annual Repon Form 10-K may be deemed to contain “forwardking statements” within the meaning of the Pevat
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Examples of forwaabking statements include, but are not limited(#):projections of or statements regarding return
investment, future earnings, interest income, saldsme, other income, earnings or loss per shygosyth prospects, capital structure, and othenfaml terms, (b)
statements of plans and objectives of managen®rdtatements of future economic performance, dpdtatements of assumptions, such as economidticorsd
underlying other statements. Such forward-lookitagesnents can be identified by the use of forwankihg terminology such as “anticipates,” “belieyes
“continue,” “could,” “estimate,” “expects,” “intent“may,” “might,” “outlook,” “potential,” “predict” “should, “ “will,” as well as the negative of rof the
foregoing or variations of such terms or comparaiiminology, or by discussion of strategy. No aasae may be given that the future results destiilyethe
forward-looking statements will be achieved. While believe these forward-looking statements arsargble, they are only predictions and are subjdatown
and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factoey of which are beyond our control, which cotddise actual results, performance or achieveroetiffer
materially from anticipated future results, perfame or achievement expressed or implied by sughafd{ooking statements. In addition, other risks, utaiaties
assumptions, and factors that could affect ourt®and prospects are described in this reporidtieg under the heading “ltem 1A. Risk Factorsti @bsewhere,
and may further be described in the our prior arndré filings with the Securities and Exchange Cassion and other written and oral statements madeleased
by us. Such forward-looking statements in this AadrReport on Form 10-K include, without limitatidhpse contained in Item 1. Business, Item 7. Mansmnt's
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition &webults of Operations, Iltem 8. Financial StatemantsSupplementary Data, including, without limdaf the
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, amd 1te. Executive Compensatic

Given these risks and uncertainties, you are caetimot to place undue reliance on such forwarlihgpstatements. These forward-looking statemepesals only
as of the date they were made, and we assume igatidoh to update forward-looking statements tdéeifactual results or changes in or additionsiéofaictors
affecting such forward-looking statements.




Item 1. Business.

BUSINESS DESCRIPTION

Curtiss-Wright Corporation is a global company tthelivers highly engineered, critical function puats and services to the commercial, defense, gnangl
industrial markets. The Corporation was formed989 by the merger of companies founded by the Whgbthers and Glenn Curtiss, both aviation pioseéfe
are incorporated under the laws of the State ch®ate and headquartered in Charlotte, North Carolive are listed on the New York Stock Exchange$RYand
trade under the symbol CW.

Our strategy is to be an integrated, global difiedindustrial company. We expect that the diiaraiion of the portfolio should mitigate the impat the volatility
of business cycles and allow us to leverage gramvitew products and markets. We strive for consisteganic sales growth, operating margin expansiod free
cash flow generation, while also maintaining aigigted and balanced capital deployment strategy.

We are positioned on high-performance platformsribguire technical sophistication. Our technolegiee intended to improve operating efficiency aregt
demanding performance requirements. Our abilifyravide high-performance, advanced technologies cost-effective basis is fundamental to our sirafer

meeting customer demand. We compete globally, piliyrfzased on technology and pricing. Our busirdsdlenges include price pressure, technological
development, and geopolitical events, such as #reow terrorism and diplomatic accords.

Business Segments

We manage and evaluate our operations based qmatiects we offer and the different markets we eseBased on this approach we operate through segments
Commercial/Industrial, Defense, and Energy.

Our principal manufacturing facilities are locatedhe United States in New York, Ohio, North Caral and Pennsylvania, and internationally in Careaadd the
United Kingdom.

Commercial / Industrial

Sales in the Commercial/lndustrial segment are gmilgnto the commercial aerospace and general tridumarkets and, to a lesser extent, the defandeoil and
gas markets. The businesses in this segment prawddeersified offering of products and serviceduding: surface technology services such as seenipg, laser
peening, coatings and advanced surface analytidgsirial products such as electronic throttle mmtevices and transmission shifters; electro-raattal actuation
control components, and utility systems used arai: The businesses within our Commercial/Indaksegment are impacted primarily by the generahemic
conditions which may include consumer consumptiocoonmercial construction rates, as the naturéeif products and customers primarily support dloba
commercial aerospace, commercial vehicles, proe@sstransportation industries. As commercial ingalsbusinesses, production and service procaeisest vary
widely and rest primarily within material modifidan, machining, assembly, and testing and inspeeticommercial grade specifications. The busirsedistribute
products through commercial sales and marketingratla and may be impacted by changes in the regylahvironment.

Defense

Sales in the Defense segment are primarily to #fende markets and, to a lesser extent, to theawugbwer generation market. The businesses isdgisient
provide a diversified offering of products inclugirembedded computing board level modules, intedratibsystems, turret aiming and stabilization yetsj and
weapons handling systems. Additional products helmain coolant pumps, power-dense compact maergrators, and secondary propulsion systems, gilyma
to the U.S. Navy. We also have been able to leeepagven defense technology and engineering egpediprovide Reactor Coolant Pump (RCP) technologmp
seals, and control rod drive mechanisms for comiaenaclear power plants. The businesses withinDrfense segment are impacted primarily by govemime
funding and the direction of U.S. government spegdOur products typically support government egitn aerospace defense, ground defense anddefealse
industries. Our defense businesses supporting gmet contractors typically utilize more advanceatpiction and service processes than our commercial
businesses and have stringent specifications arfiorpence requirements. The businesses marketiatibdte products through regulated governmentresting
channels.




Eneray

Sales in the Energy segment are primarily to treeaun power generation market and, to a lessengxttethe oil and gas market. The businessessrstigment
provide a diversified offering of products, inclodia wide range of hardware, pumps, valves, presassels, fastening systems, specialized containtoers,
airlock hatches, spent fuel management productsflaid sealing technologies for nuclear power fgaand nuclear equipment manufacturers. Additignale
provide industrial pressure relief management systand butterfly valves to the petrochemical ahdmd gas industries.

The businesses within our Energy segment are iragdmt pricing and demand for various forms of epéegg. coal, natural gas, oil, and nuclear). Theihesses
are typically dependent upon the need for new cocisbn, maintenance, and overhaul by nuclear gnergil and gas providers. The businesses are sfibject to
changes in regulation impacting demand, consumpdiod underlying supply. The production and serpiceesses are primarily material modification, hiaing,
assembly, and testing and inspection that aredypfoccommercial grade or regulated specificatidige businesses distribute products through comaleaes and
marketing channels and may be impacted by changée iregulatory environment.

OTHER INFORMATION

Acquisitions
During 2014 , we acquired three businesses ancceigpeontinue to seek core acquisitions that ansistent with our long-term growth strategy.
Commercial/lndustrial:

The Commercial/Industrial segment acquired Compb@erting and Repair Services Limited (CCRS) fgrragimately £15 million ($ 25 million ), net of das
acquired. CCRS is a provider of corrosion resistaatings and precision airfoil repair servicesderospace and industrial turbine applications.

Energy:

The Energy segment acquired certain assets anthedstertain liabilities of Nuclear Power Services. (NPSI) for approximately CAD 9 million (approxately$8
million ) in cash. NPSI provides qualified nuclemmponent sourcing, equipment qualification, conuiaéigrade dedication (CGD) services, and instruaten &
control component manufacturing primarily to then@adian and International Canada Deuterium Uranii@AKDU")

nuclear industry.

The Energy segment acquired the valve divisionr@fdinasa Engenharia E Materiais LTDA of Sao CaBoszil
for approximately $1.8 million in cash.

Certain Financial Information

For information regarding sales by geographic negsee Note 18 to the Consolidated Financial Steaésrcontained in Part Il, Item 8, of this Annuajprt on
Form 10-K.

In 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , our foreign operat@sa percentage of pre-tax earnings were essgtili|lgenerating 51% , 48% , and 48% , respelgtived our pre-
tax earnings.

Government Sales

Our direct sales to the U.S. Government and forgmrernment end use represented 33% , 34% , andfitbthsolidated revenue during 2014 , 2013 , @P2
respectively. The decrease in government sale@li8,2as compared to 2012, is due to our strategivesify our business, which has been accomplighenarily
through acquisitions serving commercial marketS. Government sales, both direct and indirectgarerally made under standard types of governnuetitacts,
including fixed price, fixed price-redeterminabésd cost plus fixed or award fees.
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In accordance with normal U.S. Government busipesstices, contracts and orders are subject ttapartcomplete termination at any time at the apof the
customer. In the event of a termination for congane by the government, there generally are panssior recovery of our allowable incurred costd an
proportionate share of the profit or fee on theknarmpleted, consistent with regulations of the.lG8vernment. Fixed-price redeterminable contrastslly
provide that we absorb the majority of any costrnve In the event that there is a cost undertumctistomer recoups a portion of the underrun baged a formul
in which the customer’s portion increases as thltetmin exceeds certain established levels.

Generally, long-term contracts with the U.S. Goweent require us to invest in and carry signifidamels of inventory. However, where allowable, vidize
progress payments and other interim billing prastion nearly all of these contracts, thus reduttiagverall working capital requirements. It is poticy to seek
customary progress payments on certain of our actstr\Where we obtain such payments under U.S.i@mesnt prime contracts or subcontracts, the U.S.
Government has either title to or a secured inténethe materials and work in process allocablet@mrgeable to the respective contracts. (See Ndfegl, and 5 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements, containéthm I, Item 8, of this Annual Report on Form Kp-

Customers

We have hundreds of customers in the various inésswve serve. No commercial customer accountethfwe than 10% of our total sales during 2014 320dr
2012.

Approximately 28% , 28% , and 34% of our total sdte 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 , respectively, werévdd from contracts with agencies of, and primet@actors

to, the U.S. Government. Information on the Compmagles to the U.S. Government, including direé¢s as a prime contractor and indirect sales as a
subcontractor, is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Commercial/Industrial $ 149,15 $ 140,90 $ 160,78(
Defense 467,46 458,32¢ 459,58!
Energy 3,581 3,08( 2,04¢

Total Government sales $ 620,20 $ 602,31: $ 622,40¢
Patents

We own and license a number of United States amiigio patents and patent applications, which haemtobtained or filed over a period of years. Vge ftense
intellectual property to and from third partieseSifically, the U.S. Government receives licenseslir patents that are developed in performang@waérnment
contracts, and it may use or authorize otherséahe inventions covered by such patents for goment purposes. Additionally, unpatented researeteldpment,
and engineering skills, some of which have beemiaed by us through business acquisitions, makienanrtant contribution to our business. While auellectual
property rights in the aggregate are importanh&dperation of our business, we do not considesticcess of our business or business segmerggtaterially
dependent upon the timing of expiration or protetf any one or group of patents, patent apptioatior patent license agreements under which weoperate.

Research and Developme

We conduct research and development activitiesnmd#omer-sponsored contracts, shared developroatracts, and our own independent research and
development activities. Customer-sponsored researdtdevelopment costs are charged to costs ofsgamid when the associated revenue is recognizewisF
received under shared development contracts aaugtion of the total development expenditures uttteshared contract and are shown net as resaadch
development costs. Company-sponsored researcheaetbdment costs are charged to expense when @tc@ustomer-sponsored research and development
activity amounted to $10 million , $5 million , aBd9 million , in 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , resp&yi. Total research and development expenses arwtm$68
million , $64 million , and $54 million in 2014 P23 , and 2012 , respectively.




Executive Officer

Executive
Name Current Position Business Experience Age Officer Since
David C. Adams Chairman and Chief Executive Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Corpiora since 61 2005
Officer January 2015. Prior to this, he served as Presidadt Chie
Executive Officer of the Corporation from August130 He als¢
served as President and Chief Operating Officeéh@fCorporatiol
from October 2012 and as @ijief Operating Officer of th
Corporation from November 2008. He has been a liresf the
Corporation since August 2013.
Thomas P. Quinly Vice President and Chief Operating/ice President of the Corporation since Novembeirt028nd Chie 56 2010
Officer Operating Officer of the Corporation since OctoBed 3. He als
served as President of Curtlgight Controls, Inc. fron
November 2008.
Glenn E. Tynan Vice President of Finance and Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial @iffiof the 56 2000
Chief Financial Officer Corporation since June 2002.
Paul J. Ferdenzi Vice President, General Counsel. Vice President, General Counsel, and Corporateeeyr of the 47 2011
and Corporate Secretary Corporation since March 2014. Prior to this, hevedras Vice
Presidentuman Resources of the Corporation from Nover
2011 and also served as Associate General Coundehssistan
Secretary of the Corporation from June 1999 and MNa91,
respectively.
K. Christopher Farkas Vice President and Corporate Vice President and Corporate Controller of the Gaafpion since 46 2014
Controller September 2014. Prior to this, he served as Assi€arporatt
Controller of the Corporation from May 2009.
Harry S. Jakubowitz ~ Vice President and Treasurer Vice President of the Corporation since May 200d &reasurer ¢ 62 2005

the Corporation since September 2005.
Employee:

At the end of 2014 , we had approximately 9,000 leyges, 6% of which are represented by labor ureankcovered by collective bargaining agreements.
Available informatior

We file annual reports on Form 10-K, quarterly népon Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K, praky statements for our annual stockholders’ mestias
well as any amendments to those reports, with doeigies and Exchange Commission (SEC). The putiig read and copy any of our materials filed wlig SEC
at the SEC’s Public Reference Room at 100 F Stket\Washington, DC 20549. The public may obtaforimation on the operation of the Public RefereRoem
by calling the SEC at 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC miamtains an Internet site at www.sec.gov thataiostreports, proxy and information statements,ahdr
information regarding issuers that file electroficavith the SEC, including our filings. These refsoare also available free of charge through tivedtor Relations
section of our web site atww.curtisswright.comas soon as reasonably practicable after we elécainfile.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors.

We have summarized below the significant, knownemaitrisks to our business. Our business, findrciadition, and results of operations and casivgloould be
materially and adversely impacted if any of thésksrmaterialize. Additional risk factors not curtlg known to us or that we believe are immatemaly also impair
our business, financial condition, and resultspdrations. The risk factors below should be comsidiéogether with information included elsewher¢his Annual
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Report on Form 10-K as well as other requireddgify us to the Securities Exchange Commissioih, asour Form 10-Q’s, Form 8-K'’s, proxy statemdotour
annual shareholder meetings, and subsequent amstsjifi@ny.

A substantial portion of our revenues and earnidgpends upon the continued willingness of the Gosernment and our other customers in the deferthestry tc
buy our products and services.

In 2014 , approximately 33% of our revenues werévdd from or related to defense programs. U.Semled spending has historically been cyclical, afdrde
budgets tend to rise when perceived threats tomaltsecurity increase the level of concern overcthuntry’s safety. At other times, spending byrttitary can
decrease. Competing demands for federal funds wapressure on all areas of discretionary spendvhizh could ultimately impact the defense budgedecrease
in U.S. Government defense spending or changgseindéng allocation could result in one or more @f programs being reduced, delayed, or termin&eduction
in defense industry spending may or may not havadarrse effect on programs for which we providspcts and services. In the event expendituresedieed
for products we manufacture or services we progiti are not offset by revenues from foreign salew, programs, or products or services that we otiyre
manufacture or provide, we may experience a reoludti our revenues and earnings and a materiarseledfect on our business, financial conditior eesults of
operations.

If we fail to satisfy our contractual obligationsyr contracts may be terminated and we may inggmicant costs or liabilities, including liquidatedamages an
penalties

In general, our contracts may be terminated forfailure to satisfy our contractual obligations.dddition, some of our contracts contain substhingiaidated
damages provisions and financial penalties reletedir failure to satisfy our contractual obligaso For example, the terms of the Electro-Mechmoasion's
AP1000 China and AP1000 United States contracts Wiestinghouse include liquidated damage penatiyigions for failure to meet contractual deliveatek if
we caused the delay and the delay was not excusabl®ctober 10, 2013, we received a letter fronstiighouse stating entitlements to the maximum annoi
liquidated damages allowable under the AP1000 Ctamdract of approximately $25 million. To dates vave not met certain contractual delivery dateleuthe
AP 1000 China and domestic contracts; however theresignificant uncertainties as to which parsiesresponsible for the delays, and we believeave hdequate
legal defenses. Consequently, as a result of theeatmatters, we may incur significant costs orilitiés, including penalties, which could have ater&al adverse
effect on our financial position, results of op&as, or cash flows. As of December 31, 2014, &mge of possible loss for liquidated damages i®&10 million.

As a U.S. Government contractor, we are subjeatiamber of procurement rules and regulatic

We must comply with and are affected by laws awmgilaions relating to the award, administratiord gerformance of U.S. Government contracts. Governim
contract laws and regulations affect how we doress with our customers and, in some instancegsenadded costs on our business. A violation dfipéaws
and regulations could result in the impositioninés and penalties or the termination of our cattrar debarment from bidding on contracts. Thessfand
penalties could be imposed for failing to followopurement integrity and bidding rules, employingioper billing practices or otherwise failing tdlfov cost
accounting standards, receiving or paying kickbackéiling false claims. We have been, and expecontinue to be, subjected to audits and invastgs by
government agencies. The failure to comply withtérens of our government contracts could harm osirtess reputation. It could also result in ouigpess
payments being withheld.

In some instances, these laws and regulations ienfgoss or rights that are more favorable to theegament than those typically available to commangarties in
negotiated transactions. For example, the U.S. fhovent may terminate any of our government corgrantl, in general, subcontracts, at its conveniaaceell as
for default based on performance. Upon termindiortonvenience of a fixed-price type contract,ieemally are entitled to receive the purchase doceelivered
items, reimbursement for allowable costs for warprocess, and an allowance for profit on work altyucompleted on the contract or adjustment feslif
completion of performance would have resulted imsa. Upon termination for convenience of a coshbersement contract, we normally are entitled to
reimbursement of allowable costs plus a portiotheffee. Such allowable costs would normally inelodr cost to terminate agreements with our sugpiad
subcontractors. The amount of the fee recoveremhyif is related to the portion of the work accdsef@d prior to termination and is determined byatiegjon.

A termination arising out of our default could espaus to liability and have a material adverseceffe our ability to compete for future contraatsl @rders. In
addition, on those contracts for which we are tehmi¢h others and are not the prime contractor|it® Government could terminate a prime contradiea which
we are a subcontractor, irrespective of the qualityur services as a subcontractor.




In addition, our U.S. Government contracts typicafban one or more base years and multiple optansy The U.S. Government generally has the righot
exercise option periods and may not exercise aproperiod if the agency is not satisfied with performance on the contract or does not receiveiffignto
continue the program. U.S. Government procuremexyt awlversely affect our cash flow or program padsfiity.

A significant reduction in the purchase of our proid by the U.S. government could have a matetie¢ige effect on our business. The risk that gawental
purchases of our products may decline stems frenmaéiture of our business with the U.S. governmengre it may:

* terminate, reduce, or modify contracts or subcatdrd its requirements or budgetary constrainenge
« cancel multiyear contracts and related orders if funds becamagailable; an
« shift its spending prioritie

In addition, as a defense contractor, we are stutgatsks in connection with government contraitsluding without limitation:

» the frequent need to bid on programs prior to cetimd the necessary design, which may result ioneseen technological difficulties and/or cost aves
« the difficulty in forecasting long-term costsdaschedules and the potential obsolescence of giodelated to longerm, fixed price contract

» contracts with varying fixed terms that may hetrenewed or followed by follown contracts upon expiratic

» cancellation of the folloven production phase of contracts if program reeuéets are not met in the development pt

« the failure of a prime contractor customer to perfen a contrac

» the fact that government contract wins can be steteby other contractors; ¢

» theinadvertent failure to comply with any the UG&vernment rules, laws, and regulations, includirgFalse Claims Act or the Arms Export Controt.

We use estimates when accounting for long-ternracist Changes in estimates could affect our pabfiity and overall financial position.

Long-term contract accounting requires judgmeratigt to assessing risks, estimating contract neeeand costs, and making assumptions for schaddle
technical issues. Due to the size and nature offrabaur contracts, the estimation of total revenared costs at completion is complicated and sttgenany
variables. For example, assumptions have to be mea@eding the length of time to complete the amitas costs also include expected increases iasnawd price
for materials. Similarly, assumptions have to belenggarding the future impact of efficiency inittas and cost reduction efforts. Incentives, awapdice
escalations, liquidated damages, or penaltieseetlat performance on contracts are consideredimating revenue and profit rates and are recovdeeh there is
sufficient information to assess anticipated penfamce. It is possible that materially different amts could be obtained, because of the significantiee
judgments and estimation processes described atbaiéerent assumptions were used or if the uhdeg circumstances were to change. Changes inriyioig
assumptions, circumstances, or estimates may hanaegial adverse effect upon future period finahaporting and performance. See “Critical Accaumt
Estimates and Policies” in Part Il, Item 7 of tfasm 10-K.

Our backlog is subject to reduction and cancellatiwhich could negatively impact our revenues agslilts of operations.

Backlog represents products or services that cstomers have committed by contract to purchase érenTotal backlog includes both funded (unfilleders for
which funding is authorized, appropriated, and @mttially obligated by the customer) and unfundackhog (firm orders for which funding has not been
appropriated and/or contractually obligated bydbstomer). The Corporation is a subcontractor itmg@icontractors for the vast majority of our goveemt
business; as such, substantially all amounts iklbg@are funded. Backlog excludes unexercised aohtptions and potential orders under ordering tygntracts
(e.g. Indefinite Delivery / Indefinite Quantity).aBklog is adjusted for changes in foreign exchaages and is reduced for contract cancellationg@mdinations in
the period in which they occur. Backlog as of Deben81, 2014 was $1,674 million . Backlog is subjedluctuations and is not necessarily indicatWéuture
sales. The U.S. government may unilaterally modifgancel its contracts. In addition, under certdiour commercial contracts, our customers maiaterally
modify or terminate their orders at any time fagittconvenience. Accordingly, certain portions of backlog can be cancelled or reduced at the mpfithe U.S.
government and commercial customers. Our failurepdace cancelled or reduced backlog could neglgtimpact our revenues and results of operations.

We operate in highly competitive markets.
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We compete against companies that often have grestes volumes and financial, research, humanparleting resources than we have. In additionesofour
largest customers could develop the capability amufacture products or provide services similgrrtaucts that we manufacture or services that weige. This
would result in these customers supplying their @noducts or services and competing directly witHar sales of these products or services, allld€iwcould
significantly reduce our revenues. Furthermoreaveefacing increased international competition @eds-border consolidation of competition. Our nggamaent
believes that the principal points of competitiorour markets are technology, product quality,grenince, price, technical expertise, and timelinésielivery. If
we are unable to compete successfully with existingew competitors in these areas, our business)dial position, results of operations, or cdetv$, could be
materially and adversely impacted.

Our future growth and continued success is depengson our key personnel.

Our success is dependent upon the efforts of auoismanagement personnel and our ability to ataad retain other highly qualified management otinical
personnel. We face competition for management aatifged technical personnel from other companies @arganizations. Therefore, we may not be abtet&in

our existing management and technical personnidl oew management or technical positions or vagas created by expansion or turnover at our exgsti
compensation levels. Although we have entereddhmge of control agreements with some membemnidismanagement, we do not have employment cdsatrac
with our key executives. We have made a conceffed é reduce the effect of the loss of our semmnagement personnel through management suatessio
planning. The loss of members of our senior managéand qualified technical personnel could haweaerial and adverse effect on our business.

Our international operations are subject to riskedavolatility.

During 2014 , approximately 32% of our consolidateegenue was from customers outside of the Unitate§, and we have operating facilities in foraigontries.
Doing business in foreign countries is subjectumarous risks, including without limitation: potitil and economic instability; the uncertainty & #bility of non-
U.S. customers to finance purchases; restricta@etpolicies; and complying with foreign regulatand tax requirements that are subject to changdeWhese
factors or the impact of these factors are diffitolpredict, any one or more of these factorsaaalversely affect our operations. To the exteat fibreign sales are
transacted in foreign currencies and we do notréntie currency hedge transactions, we are exptsgdk of losses due to fluctuations in foreigmrency exchange
rates, particularly for the Canadian dollar, thedz$wiss franc, and the British pound. Significinttuations in the value of the currencies of tbentries in which
we do business could have an adverse effect oresults of operations.

We may be unable to protect the value of our ietélial property.

Obtaining, maintaining, and enforcing our intellesdtproperty rights and avoiding infringing on theellectual property rights of others are impottéetors to the
operation of our business. While we take precaatipsteps to protect our technological advantagdsraellectual property and rely in part on patérademark,
trade secret, and copyright laws, we cannot ashateéhe precautionary steps we have taken willgtetaly protect our intellectual property rightedause patent
applications in the United States are maintainezkrecy until either the patent application islighled or a patent is issued, we may not be awfaigrd-party
patents, patent applications, and other intellégt@perty relevant to our products that may bloak use of our intellectual property or may be usetthird-party
products that compete with our products and presed&'hen others infringe on our intellectual propeghts, the value of our products is diminishadd we may
incur substantial litigation costs to enforce dghts. Similarly, we may incur substantial litigatti costs and the obligation to pay royalties ieoshclaim we
infringed on their intellectual property rights. hwe develop intellectual property and technolegi¢h funding from U.S. Government contracts, gbgernment
has the royalty-free right to use that property.

In addition to our patent rights, we also rely opatented technology, trade secrets, and confaléntormation. Others may independently develdpssantially
equivalent information and techniques or othengigi® access to or disclose our technology. We noaip@ able to protect our rights in unpatentedrietdyy, trade
secrets, and confidential information effectivalye require each of our employees and consultarezdoute a confidentiality agreement at the comem@eat of an
employment or consulting relationship with us. hisrno guarantee that we will succeed in obtaiamg retaining executed agreements from all emp®ye
consultants. Moreover, these agreements may neidereffective protection of our information or,time event of unauthorized use or disclosure, thay not
provide adequate remedies.

Our future financial results could be adversely aofed by asset impairment charges.
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At December 31, 2014 , we had goodwill and othtangible assets, net of accumulated amortizatibapproximately $1,348 million , which represented
approximately 40% of our total assets. Our goodwitlubject to an impairment test on an annuakhasil is also tested whenever events and circuoestandicate
that goodwill may be impaired. Any excess goodwefiulting from the impairment test must be writbéin the period of determination. Intangible asg@ther tha
goodwill) are generally amortized over the usefeal df such assets. In addition, from time to tinve, may acquire or make an investment in a busithessvill
require us to record goodwill based on the purclpaise and the value of the acquired assets. Wesumbgequently experience unforeseen issues withkziginess
that adversely affect the anticipated returns eflthsiness or value of the intangible assets &gktran evaluation of the recoverability of theaeled goodwill and
intangible assets for such business. Future datations of significant write-offs of goodwill ortiengible assets as a result of an impairment temtyaccelerated
amortization of other intangible assets could haweaterial adverse impact on our results of opmratand financial condition.

Our operations are subject to numerous domesticiatginational laws, regulations, and restrictiora)d noncompliance with these laws, regulationsl, an
restrictions could expose us to fines, penaltiaspsnsion, or debarment, which could have a mdtedaerse effect on our profitability and overatidncial
condition.

We have contracts and operations in many partseofvorld subject to United States and foreign land regulations, including the False Claims Aajutations
relating to import-export control (including thetdnnational Traffic in Arms Regulation promulgateater the Arms Export Control Act), technology sfan
restrictions, repatriation of earnings, exchangarats, the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the UAKti-Bribery Act, and the anti-boycott provisionéthe

U.S. Export Administration Act. Although we haveglamented policies and procedures and provideditigithat we believe are sufficient to addressehesks, we
cannot guarantee that our operations will alwaysplyg with these laws and regulations. Failure byueur sales representatives or consultants tglowith these
laws and regulations could result in administrataieil, or criminal liabilities and could, in thextreme case, result in suspension or debarmentdavernment
contracts or suspension of our export privilegdsctvcould have a material adverse effect on osimass.

We are subject to liability under environmental faw

Our business and facilities are subject to numefederal, state, local, and foreign laws and regpria relating to the use, manufacture, storagedliveg, and
disposal of hazardous materials and other wastdupts. Environmental laws generally impose liapildr investigation, remediation, and removal ofduaous
materials and other waste products on property osvared those who dispose of materials at wast, siteether or not the waste was disposed of legéllige time
in question. We are currently addressing envirortaleamediation at certain current and former féed, and we have been named as a potentiallpnsgpge party
along with other organizations in a number of emwmental clean-up sites and may be named in cdonagith future sites. We are required to contrébtd the
costs of the investigation and remediation andstal#ish reserves in our financial statementsudturé costs deemed probable and estimable. Althaeghave
estimated and reserved for future environmentaktiation costs, the final resolution of these liibs may significantly vary from our estimatesdacould
potentially have an adverse effect on our restltgperations and financial position.

Unanticipated changes in our tax provisions or estpe to additional income tax liabilities couldexdt our profitability.

Our business operates in many locations under gmaant jurisdictions that impose income taxes. Charig domestic or foreign income tax laws and r&ins, ol
their interpretation, could result in higher or Evwincome tax rates assessed or changes in tHalityxaf certain revenues or the deductibilityasrtain expenses,
thereby affecting our income tax expense and ptuifity. Corporate tax reform continues to be @ity in the U.S. and other jurisdictions. Changethe tax
system in the U.S. could have significant effegtsitive or negative, on our effective tax rate andur deferred tax assets and liabilities. Intamd audits by
income tax authorities could result in unanticigatecreases in our income tax expense.

Our current debt, and debt we may incur in thereitgould adversely affect our business and firarmbsition.

As of December 31, 2014 , we had $954 million dftdmitstanding, of which $953 million is long-tedabt. Our level of debt could have significant Gangences
for our business including: requiring us to use @ash flow to pay the principal and interest onaeit, reducing funds available for acquisitiond ather
investments in our business; making us vulnerab&ebnomic downturns and increases in interess;rieiting us from obtaining additional debt; aingpacting ou

ability to pay dividends.

A percentage of our workforce is employed unddective bargaining agreement
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Approximately 6% of our workforce is employed undetiective bargaining agreements, which from tbméime are subject to renewal and negotiation.cafeot
ensure that we will be successful in negotiating nellective bargaining agreements, that such niagarts will not result in significant increasestie cost of labor,
or that a breakdown in such negotiations will regtult in the disruption of our operations. Althowgh have generally enjoyed good relations with lmathunionize
and non-unionized employees, if we are subjedliorl actions, we may experience an adverse impaatiooperating results.

For example, on August 24, 2012, the Electronic hd@dcal Division (EMD) of Curtiss Wright’Defense segment experienced a strike at its Gtiesennsylvani:
facility. The financial impacts of the strike weae $18 million and $6 million shift in revenue amgkerating income, respectively, from 2012 to 2@Qil&: to the
temporary suspension of work, and an additionah$ion unfavorable impact to operating income assult of unrecoverable absorption of overheadtscos

Our earnings and margins depend in part on subamtr performance, as well as raw material and congnt availability and pricing.

Our businesses depend on suppliers and subcomgr&otaaw materials and components. At times sotvactors perform services that we provide to astamers.
We depend on these subcontractors and vendorsabthegr contractual obligations in full compliane&h customer requirements. Generally, raw mateead
purchased components are available from a numbdiffefent suppliers, though several suppliersaaresole source of certain components. If a soleesosupplier
should cease or otherwise be unable to deliver soctponents, our operating results could be adlyerapacted. In addition, our supply networks camstimes
experience price fluctuations. Our ability to penficour obligations as a prime contractor may beeeghly affected if one or more of these supplieesuaable to
provide the agreed-upon supplies or perform theexyupon services in a timely and cost-effectivamea. While we have attempted to mitigate the ¢sfet
increased costs through price increases, theneoaassurances that higher prices can effectivelyalssed through to our customers or that we widllile to offset
fully or on a timely basis the effects of highewrmaterials costs through price increases.

Our business involves risks associated with compigxufacturing processes.

Our manufacturing processes depend on certainstagaied and high-value equipment. Unexpectedr&slof this equipment may result in production gela
revenue loss, and significant repair costs. Intamdiequipment failures could result in injuriesour employees. Moreover, the competitive natfi@uo businesses
requires us to continuously implement process cesitgended to achieve product improvements andifaeturing efficiencies. These process changesantsne:
result in production delays, quality concerns, envdeased costs. Any disruption of operations afacilities due to equipment failures or procedsiruptions coul
have a material adverse effect on our business.

The airline industry is heavily regulated, and # ¥ail to comply with applicable requirements, oesults of operations could suffer.

Governmental agencies throughout the world, incigdhe U.S. Federal Aviation Administration (FAA)dathe European Aviation Safety Agency, prescribe
standards and qualification requirements for aft@amponents, including virtually all commercidllime and general aviation products. Specific tagjans vary
from country to country, although compliance withArrequirements generally satisfies regulatory regmaents in other countries. We include, with thedocts
that we sell to our aircraft manufacturing custesndocumentation certifying that each part compligs applicable regulatory requirements and meptdicable
standards of airworthiness established by the FAth® equivalent regulatory agencies in other agesitin order to sell our products, we and thelpots we
manufacture must also be certified by our individDBEM customers. If any of the material authoriaa$i or approvals qualifying us to supply our pradis revoke
or suspended, then the sale of the subject predudd be prohibited by law, which would have anerde effect on our business, financial conditiow), @esults of
operations.

From time to time, the FAA or equivalent regulatagencies in other countries propose new regutorchanges to existing regulations, which arallysmore
stringent than existing regulations. If these psgubregulations are adopted and enacted, we maysignificant additional costs to achieve comp@nwhich
could have a material adverse effect on our busjriggncial condition, and results of operations.

Our future success will depend, in part, on outligbio develop new technologies.
Virtually all of the products produced and soldusyare highly engineered and require sophisticat@alifacturing and system-integration techniques and
capabilities. The commercial and government mariketghich we operate are characterized by rapitignging technologies. The product and program needsr

government and commercial customers change and
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evolve regularly. Accordingly, our future perforntandepends in part on our ability to identify enieggechnological trends, develop and manufactarepetitive
products, and bring those products to market guiakcost-effective prices.

Potential product liability risks exist from theqatucts that we sel

We manufacture highly engineered products, and ptmiiucts may contain design or manufacturing sroordefects, which may result in product liabititgims
against us. For example, in December 2013, wegaksth other unaffiliated parties, received a cldiom Canadian Natural Resources Limited (CNRL}gaimg
to a fire and explosion at a delayed coker un@&RL’s Fort McMurray refinery which resulted in thgury of five CNRL employees, damage to propentyl
equipment, and various forms of consequential$osh as loss of profit, lost opportunities, andimess interruption. The fire and explosion occursmn a CNRL
employee bypassed certain safety controls and dpemeperating coker unit. The total quantum afgedd damages arising from the incident has not fieglized,
but is estimated to meet or exceed $1 billion. \Weently maintain what we believe to be suitabld adequate commercial, property and casualty, jtdibility,
and other forms of insurance to cover this matter @her potential claims. The Corporation is cutfjeunable to estimate an amount, or range ofriatilosses, if
any, from this matter. The Corporation believdsai$ adequate legal defenses and intends to défisnmatter vigorously. There can be no assuraraeever, that
we will be able to maintain our insurance on acaleletterms or that such insurance will provide adég protection against these potential liabilitiaghe event of
a judgment against us on this matter or other daigainst us, a lack of sufficient insurance cayer@ould have a material adverse effect on ounkessi financial
condition, and results of operations. Moreover neifeve maintain adequate insurance, any succesksfim could have a material adverse effect onboisiness,
financial condition, results of operations, or céelws, and on the ability to obtain suitable oegdate insurance.

We self-insure health benefits and may be advensggicted by unfavorable claims experience

We are self-insured for our health benefits. If tiuenber or severity of claims increases, or we@geired to accrue or pay additional amounts becthesclaims
prove to be more severe than our original assedsmanoperating results would be adversely affieo®ur future claims expense might exceed histbiésels,
which could reduce our earnings. We expect to parétly assess our self-insurance strategy. Weeayeired to periodically evaluate and adjust oaimgs reserves
to reflect our experience. However, ultimate resoity differ from our estimates, which could resulbsses over our reserved amounts. In addibenause we do
not carry “stop loss” insurance, a significant ease in the number of claims that we must coveetodr self-insurance retainage could adversebcaffur
profitability.

Increasing costs of certain employee and retiragefits could adversely affect our financial positicesults of operations, or cash flov

Our earnings may be positively or negatively impddty the amount of income or expense we recorddopension and other postretirement benefit plars.
GAAP requires that we calculate income or expeaséie plans using actuarial valuations. Theseatalos reflect assumptions relating to financiatkeaand
other economic conditions. Changes in key econamdicators can change the assumptions. The masfisant year-end assumptions used to estimateiqens
other postretirement benefit expense for the fdlhawyear are the discount rate, the expected leng-tate of return on plan assets, expected fubedical cost
inflation, and expected compensation increaseaddlition, we are required to make an annual measmmneof plan assets and liabilities, which may ltéaa
significant change to equity through a reductioimorease to other comprehensive income. For aisson regarding how our financial statements eaaffected
by pension and other postretirement benefit plasswnting policies, see “Management’s Discussiah/malysis—Critical Accounting Estimates and P@&si—
Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits” in Raltem 7 of this Form 10-K. Although U.S. GAAP gense and pension or other postretirement conivitgiire
not directly related, the key economic factors tiffgct U.S. GAAP expense would also likely affédet amount of cash the company would contributbeégension
or other postretirement plans. Potential pensiantritiutions include both mandatory amounts requineder federal law, Employee Retirement Income BigcAct,
and discretionary contributions to improve the pldanded status. An obligation to make contribosido pension plans could reduce the cash availabigorking
capital and other corporate uses.

Our operating results and financial condition may ddversely impacted by the current worldwide eotoaonditions.

We currently generate significant operating castv$l, which combined with access to the credit margeovides us with significant discretionary fumglicapacity.
However, financial markets in the United Stategolpa, and Asia have been experiencing extremeptisruin recent years, including, among other thjrextreme
volatility in security prices, severely diminishikguidity and credit availability, rating downgraslef certain investments and declining valuatiohstieers. While
currently these conditions have not impaired oulitplbo operate our business, there can be noraase that there will not be
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a further deterioration in financial markets andfatence in major economies, which could impactawmer demand for our products, as well as ourtgtiti
manage normal commercial relationships with outausrs, suppliers, and creditors. We are unabpeedict the likely duration and severity of a djgian in
financial markets and adverse economic conditimasstie effects they will have on our business amahtial condition.

Future terror attacks, war, natural disasters, dher events beyond our control could adversely chpar businesse

Despite our concerted effort to minimize risk ta production capabilities and corporate informatsgstems and to reduce the effect of unforeseemrigitions to
us through business continuity planning and disast®very plans, terrorist attacks, war, natuisdsters, such as hurricanes, floods, tornadoesggepaic diseases,
or other events, such as strikes by a significastaner’s or supplier’s workforce, could adverseipact demand for or supply of our products anddaiso cause
disruption to our facilities or systems, which abalso interrupt operational processes and adyeirselct our ability to manufacture our products @novide
services and support to our customers. We opeaaiiities in areas of the world that are exposedatwral disasters, such as but not limited toibamnes, floods,
tornados, and pandemic diseases. Financial difiésubf our customers, delays by our customersadyction of their products, high fuel prices, twncern of
another major terrorist attack, and the overalte@sed demand for our products could adverselgtafie operating results and financial position.

Intrusion on our systems could damage our busir

We store sensitive data, including intellectualgenty, proprietary business information, and caetiitthl employee information, on our servers andlutes.
Despite our implementation of firewalls, switchgesnd other network security measures, our serdatapases, and other systems may be vulnerabtertputer
hackers, physical or electronic break-ins, saboteg@puter viruses, worms, and similar disruptifsom unauthorized tampering with our computer syste\WWe
continue to review and enhance our computer systerng to prevent unauthorized and unlawful inioas, but in the future it is possible that we may be able to
prevent all intrusions. Such intrusions could regubur network security or computer systems beimgipromised and possibly result in the misappatiorn or
corruption of sensitive information or cause disias in our services. We might be required to exb&gnificant capital and resources to protectragjaremediate,
or alleviate problems caused by such intrusiong. guth intrusion could cause us to be non-complidtit applicable laws or regulations, subject utegal claims
or proceedings, disrupt our operations, damageeputation, and cause a loss of confidence in mdyzts and services, any of which could have @&rn#tadverse
effect on our business, financial condition, arguites of operations.

There are risks associated with owning our comntocks

Like any equity security, our common stock is sabje a number of risks that may adversely impactshare price including: there is a limited tradimarket in ou
common stock; we may not in the future be ableapdividends on our common stock; we may issue comstock for acquisitions or other purposes thatctcbe
dilutive to current stockholders; and we have vagianti-takeover defenses such as our rights pldmar ability to issue preferred stock that mascdurage a
potential acquirer.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

Our corporate headquarters is located at a leasdiyf in Charlotte, North Carolina. As of Decemi®, 2014 , we had 185 facilities worldwide, irdihg 5
corporate and shared-services facilities. Approxiiye68% of our facilities operate as manufactuangl engineering, metal treatment, or aerospaadawkplants,
while the remaining 32% operate as selling and atstnative office facilities. The number and tyddaxilities utilized by each of our reportable semnts are
summarized below:

Owned Facilities Location Commercial/ Industrial Defense Energy Total

North America 12 3 8 23
Europe 18 — — 18
Asia 2 — — 2
Total 29 3 8 4C
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Leased Facilities Location Commercial/ Industrial Defense Energy Total

North America 5C 13 31 94
Europe 24 9 1 34
Asia 1 2 12
Total 83 283 34 14C

Our principal manufacturing facilities are locatedhe United States in New York, Ohio, North Caral and Pennsylvania, and internationally in Caread the
United Kingdom. The buildings on the propertieeredd to in this Item are well maintained, in g@otdition, and are suitable and adequate for tke pgesently
being made of them. Management believes the privéucapacity of our properties is adequate to roaetinticipated volume for the foreseeable future.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

In the ordinary course of business, we and ouridisites are subject to various pending claims,slatg, and contingent liabilities. We do not bediehat th
disposition of any of these matters, individualhjirothe aggregate, will have a material adverecebn our consolidated financial position or tesaof operations.

In December 2013, the Corporation, along with otiveffiliated parties, received a claim, from CaaadNatural Resources Limited (CNRL) filed in theu@t of
Queen's Bench of Alberta, Judicial District of Galg The claim pertains to a January 2011 fireexpglosion at a delayed coker unit at its Fort MciMuymefinery
that resulted in the injury of five CNRL employedamage to property and equipment, and varioussafnesonsequential loss such as loss of profit, los
opportunities, and business interruption. Thedind explosion occurred when a CNRL employee byplasseain safety controls and opened an operatkgrainit.
The total quantum of alleged damages arising ftwarncident has not been finalized, but is estichédemeet or exceed $1 billion. The Corporatiorimzéns
various forms of commercial, property and casugltgduct liability, and other forms of insurancewver, such insurance may not be adequate to tdoweosts
associated with a judgment against us. The Coriporat currently unable to estimate an amount ngezof potential losses, if any, from this matiére Corporatio
believes it has adequate legal defenses and intertt#fend this matter vigorously. The Corporatidimancial condition, results of operations, aadtcflows, could
be materially affected during a future fiscal qaaudr fiscal year by unfavorable developments dcame regarding this claim.

We have been named in approximately 211 pendinguasvthat allege injury from exposure to asbestosdate, we have secured dismissals with prejuatice
without prejudice in approximately 193 and 276 laitgs respectively and are currently in discussionsimilar dismissal of several other lawsuitsd &ave not
been found liable or paid any material sum of monesettlement in any case. We believe that themahuse of asbestos in our past and current dpasaand the
relatively nonfriable condition of asbestos in our products makaslikely that we will face material liabilityni any asbestos litigation, whether individuallyirothe
aggregate. We maintain insurance coverage for heteatial liabilities and we believe adequate cage exists to cover any unanticipated asbestoiitlya

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable
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PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant's Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases @&quity Securities.

MARKET INFORMATION

Our common stock is listed and traded on the Newk Yatock Exchange (NYSE) under the symbol CW.

Stock Price Range 2014 2013

High Low High Low
Common Stock
First Quarter $ 69.9C $ 57.7: $ 37.1¢ 3 33.4¢
Second Quarter 70.3: 59.2 37.4¢ 30.6¢
Third Quarter 73.61 60.6( 48.4( 36.4¢
Fourth Quarter 72.9¢ 63.9( 62.97 44.7]

As of January 1, 2015, we had approximately 4/8gistered shareholders of our common stock, §iad@alue.
DIVIDENDS

During the first quarter of 2014, the Company iased its quarterly dividend to thirteen cents ($Palshare, a 30% increase over the prior quaititeshd.

2014 2013
Common Stock
First Quarter $ 0.1z $ 0.0¢
Second Quarter 0.1z 0.1C
Third Quarter 0.1z 0.1C
Fourth Quarter 0.1z 0.1C

SECURITIES AUTHORIZED FOR ISSUANCE UNDER EQUITY CORNENSATION PLANS

The following table sets forth information regamgliour equity compensation plans as of Decembe2(@1l4 the end of our most recently completed figeal:

Number of securities

to
be issued upon Number of securities remaining
exercise Weighted average available for future issuance under
of outstanding exercise price of equity compensation plans
options, outstanding options, (excluding securities reflected in
Plan category warrants, and rights warrants, and rights the first column)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 2,162,415 €)] $37.44 2,995,601 (b)
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders None Not applicable Not applicable

(a) Consists of 2,088,4&hares issuable upon exercise of outstanding aptind vesting of performance share units, restrist@res, restricted stock units,
shares to non-employee directors under the 2002@hdl Omnibus Incentive Plan, 73,929 shares issuatiler the Employee Stock Purchase Plans.

(b) Consists of 2,334,381 shares available farr&ubption grants under the 2014 Omnibus IncerRiem, 661,22@hares remaining available for issuance L
the Employee Stock Purchase Plan.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities
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The following table provides information about sapurchases of equity securities that are regidteyeus pursuant to Section 12 of the SecuritieshBrge Act ¢
1934, as amended, during the quarter ended Dece3tp2014 .

Maximum
Total Number of Dollar amount of
Shares Purchased shares that may
as Part of a yet be
Publicly Purchased
Total Number of Average Price Announced Under the
shares purchased Paid per Share Program Program
October 1 — October 31 111,80 $ 66.3¢ 1,877,39 $ 13,246,68
November 1 — November 30 87,20( 70.3¢ 1,964,59 7,113,04
December 1 — December 31 101,70( 69.9¢ 2,066,29 —
For the quarter ended December 31 300,70 $ 68.72 2,066,29 $ —

During the fourth quarter of 2014, we completed2B&1 share repurchase program through the reme@fs800,700 shares of common stock. The 201Eshar
repurchase program authorized the Corporationgorobase up to 3,000,000 shares of our common,stoekidition to approximately 690,000 shares remagi
under a previously authorized share repurchasegmand was subject to a $100 million repurchiasiédtion. The 2011 share repurchase program wasplied
in 2014 as a result of the $100 million repurchaséation. In addition, on September 25, 2014, @@npany received authorization from its boardigdators to
enter into a new share repurchase program begimmid@15 to purchase up to approximately $300 amilbf its common stock. On November 4, 2014, the
Corporation announced it will repurchase at le2803million in shares under its newly authorize@@anillion share repurchase program, beginning@imuary
2015. Under the current program, shares may béhnpsed on the open market, in privately negotiastsactions and under plans complying with RuldzbiDand
10b-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1984nmaended.

The following performance graph does not constisaiéciting material and should not be deemed fideéhcorporated by reference into any of our otfiengs
under the Securities Act or the Securities Exchakgef 1934, except to the extent we specifi¢adgrporate this information by reference therein.

PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The following graph compares the annual changberctimulative total return on our Company’s Comr8tuck during the last five fiscal years with theaal
change in the cumulative total return of the RUZ@90 Index, the S&P SmallCap 600 Index, and elfrconstructed proxy peer group. The proxy peeugr
companies are as follows:

AAR Corp EnPro Industries Inc. Mueller Water Products Inc
Actuant Corp Esterline Technologies Corp. Orbital Sciences Corp
Applied Industrial Technologies Inc Flowserve Corp Rockwell Collins Inc.

B/E Aerospace Inc GenCorp Inc. Spirit Aerosystétoklings Inc
Barnes Group Inc Hexcel Corp Teledyne Technologies Inc.
CIRCOR International Inc IDEX Corporation Triumg@houp Inc.

Crane Co. Kaman Corp Woodward Inc

Cubic Corp Moog Inc.

The graph assumes an investment of $100 on Decedtib2009 and the reinvestment of all dividendsl jpliring the following five fiscal years.
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COMPARISON OF CUMULATIVE FIVE YEAR TOTAL RETURN

300 A

200

100

0 T T T T T T
2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
@— Curnss-Winght Corp —l— S&P SmallCap 600 Index
—— Russell 2000 Peer group

Company / Index 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
Curtiss-Wright Corp 10C 107.0¢ 115.1: 108.1¢ 206.9: 236.5¢
S&P SmallCap 600 Index 10C 126.3: 127.5¢ 148.4: 209.7: 221.8:
Russell 2000 10C 126.8¢ 121.5¢ 141.4: 196.3¢ 207.37
Peer group 10C 127.4¢ 126.9( 146.7: 220.67 218.1(
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following table presents our selected finand&h from continuing operations. The table shbeldead in conjunction with Item Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©perations, and Item 8Financial Statements and Supplementary Daththis Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Five-Year Financial Highlights

CONSOLIDATED SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

(In thousands, except per share data) 2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
Net sales $ 2,243,121 % 2,118,08 $ 1,82330 $ 1,732,211 $ 1,566,71!
Net earnings from continuing operations 169,94¢ 139,40: 104,08: 117,12¢ 83,25¢
Total assets 3,399,51. 3,458,27. 3,114,58: 2,635,54 2,233,14.
Total debt 954,34¢ 959,93t 880,21! 586,43( 396,64«
Earnings per share from continuing operations:
Basic $ 354 % 297 % 22 % 25 % 1.8z
Diluted $ 34¢ ¢ 291 ¢ 22C ¢ 24¢ % 1.8C
Cash dividends per share $ 05z $ 03¢ $ 03t $ 03z $ 0.3z

Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Famcial Condition and Results of Operations.

COMPANY ORGANIZATION

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiariea @iversified, multinational provider of highly eéngered, technologically advanced, products andes to a
broad range of industries which are reported thnoaiy Commercial/Industrial, Defense, and Energyrents. We are positioned as a market leader aaross
diversified array of niche markets through engimegand technological leadership, precision manufatg, and strong relationships with our customés provide
products and services to a number of global madadshave achieved balanced growth through theesafid application of our core competencies in eegfing
and precision manufacturing. Our overall strategipibe a balanced and diversified company, leb®rable to cycles or downturns in any one maded, to
establish strong positions in profitable niche netsk Approximately 32% of our 2015 revenues areetqul to be generated from defense-related markets.

Beginning in the first quarter of 2014, the Corpimarealigned its reportable segments with its eradkets to strengthen its ability to service coss and
recognize certain organizational efficiencies. Asult of this realignment the Corporation has tiee reportable segments: Commercial/IndustriafeBse, and
Energy. Please refer to Note 18 of the Corporati@onsolidated Financial Statements for furthesrimfaition on the segment realignment and for furihfermation
on our products and services and the major masegt®d by our three segments, refer to the Busbessription in Part I, Item | of this Annual Repon Form 10-
K.

As discussed in Note 2, Discontinued Operations/ssts Held for Sale, during the year ended Deee®b, 2014, we have sold certain businesses asdifitd
certain other businesses as held for sale. Théésexfoperations of these businesses are repageliscontinued operations within our Consolid@&dements of
Earnings. Prior year amounts have been restateohform to the current year presentation.

Our Management's Discussion and Analysis of Fireln€ondition and Results of Operations begins aittoverview of our company, followed by economid an
industry-wide factors impacting our company andrttegkets we serve, a discussion of the overalltesficontinuing operations, and finally a mor¢aied
discussion of those results within each of our rigglide operating segments.

Analytical Definitions

Throughout management’s discussion and analydiaaricial condition and results of operations, tirens “incremental” and “organic” are used to ekptzhanges
from period to period. The term “incremental” idgo highlight the impact
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acquisitions had on the current year results, fuiclvthere was no comparable prior-year periodrdfoee, the results of operations for acquisitiaresincremental
for the first twelve months from the date of acgigs. The remaining businesses are referred the$organic”. The definition of “organic” excludéise effect of
foreign currency translation.

Market Analysis and Economic Factors
Economic Factors Impacting Our Marke

Many of Curtiss-Wright's industrial businesses diigen in large part by global economic growth. LaSd world economies continue to slowly recoventithe
2008-2009 global recession. In 2014, the U.S. emgnas measured by real gross domestic product YGibBwed modest growth of 2.4%, according to tlestm
recent estimate, compared with a 2.2% increasé1i8 and a 2.3% increase in 2012. As GDP contiruesbiound modestly from the weakness tied to tbbail
economic recession, the U.S. has also experiereméased levels of unemployment and improvemeritgeihousing market, aided by a low interest rate
environment. However, the global environment cargtgiockets of instability, particularly in Europejere we continue to be faced with lower relaterels of
economic activity.

Looking ahead to 2015, the broader U.S. econoreypgcted to continue to recover at a moderate pattecurrent estimates for U.S. real GDP growihgiag
from 2.5% to 3.5%. However, world economies maytioor to experience volatility due to the sloweaarttexpected rebound following the European debiscta
worsening of geopolitical tensions, the continusalrgh in crude oil production and the potential fising U.S. interest rates. Overall, 2015 GDP dfoiw world
economies is expected to grow by approximately 3rb2915, up from 3.3% in 2014, according to thednational Monetary Fund, aided by improvementd.ia
and European economies, as well as in India anziIBYde remain cautiously optimistic that our contoial and industrial markets will continue to impeoin 2015

Defense

A portion of our business operations are attributetthe defense sector, predominantly in the Urfitades, and characterized by long-term programsantracts
driven primarily by the Department of Defense (DdiDfgets and funding levels. We have a well-difiediportfolio of products and services that supgly
branches of the U.S. military, with content on maigh performance programs and platforms.

The U.S. Defense budget serves as a leading indiohbur defense market, and its future outlook r@en marked with improved confidence and thenpiatefor
budget stability over the next few years. In thevipus decade, we experienced a period of signifigeowth in defense spending and related suppleahbadgets.
Following a recent pullback over the past few yefutsire defense spending, as it relates to U.$er3e spending, is expected to see moderate gajwth
approximately 2% over the next five years. The psggl FY2016 Defense budget, which begins in Oct®d£8, is expected to be $534 billion (base) o5#ai8lion
(including base plus overseas contingency opes(i@iCO)), a positive for the industry as it woutdyide the DoD additional stability and flexibilitp enter into
multi-year contracts, while pushing out the acritesboard sequester cuts “sequestration” mandatéioeh2011 Budget Control Act.

While we monitor the budget process as it relatggdgrams in which we participate, we cannot mtettlie ultimate impact of future DoD budgets, whiehd to
fluctuate year-by-year and program-by-program. Assailt, some of the budget reductions and programeellations may negatively impact programs incivhwe
participate. We expect to benefit from increasetdling levels on C4ISR, electronic warfare, unmarsystems, and communications programs within orospace
defense market. As a leading supplier of Commeg@fithe-Shelf (COTS) and COTS+ solutions, we cmmi to demonstrate that electronics technology will
enhance our ability to design and develop futureegations of advanced systems and products forgediormance applications, while also meeting tligary’s
Size, Weight and Power (SWaP) considerations. tmaual defense market, we expect continued sofidihg for the U.S. shipbuilding program, particlylas it
relates to production on the Ford class aircrafi@aand Virginia class submarine programs. Ingnaund defense market, U.S. growth is expectestbialy
recover, while international demand should remalidsparticularly for our turret drive stabilizati systems.

Commercial Aerospace

As a part of our diversified portfolio, we derivevenue from the global commercial aerospace maratiding the commercial jet, regional jet, andncoercial
helicopter markets. Our primary focus in this markg@OEM products and services for commercialyetgre we provide a combination of flight controbautility
actuation systems, sensors, and other sophistiefgettonics, as well as shot and laser peeningcses:; to our primary customers, Boeing and Airt8isot and laser
peening are also utilized on highly stressed coraptsnof turbine engine fan blades, landing geat arcraft structures. Nearly all of our revenuessige the OEM
market.
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The largest driver of our commercial aerospacentassiis OEM parts, which is highly dependent on aieevaft production. Industry data supports ameéase in
commercial aircraft deliveries over the next fevange as 2011 marked the first year in a multi-yaduction up-cycle for the commercial aerospacekataln the
current cycle, OEM-oriented companies are expetctgerform well, due to planned increases in prtidady Boeing and Airbus, on both legacy and néeeraft,
with record-high backlogs on the latter.

In addition, according to the International Air isport Association (IATA), air travel continuestte robust and is likely to reach almost 3.5 billmassenger miles
or 7.0% growth in 2015, which is well-above the%.§rowth trend of the past two decades. The laid 2&cline in oil prices is expected to be a keytgoutor to
the increased passenger growth in 2015, as thim fille price of fuel is expected to lead to cheaixares for consumers. As such, following agpérformance in
the commercial jet market over the past four yehesjndustry is expected to continue its growt2@i5. Industry experts also expect a modest growtlook for
both regional and business jets.

Power Generatiol

As a part of our product offering, we derive revefitom the commercial nuclear power generation etadkhere we supply a variety of highly enginequeztiucts
and services, including reactor coolant pumps,robmtd drive mechanisms, valves, motors, spentrismagement, containment doors, bolting solutians,
enterprise resource planning and plant processatent

According to the Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRt@iclear power comprises approximately 20% oftedlelectric power produced in the United Statéth
approximately 100 reactors operating across 62eangower plants in 31 states. Our growth is driwethe U.S. plant recertification process, as Igesl of the
operating U.S. nuclear power plants have appliedrfavill be applying for 20-year plant life extéoss as they reach the end of their current 40-gparating lives.
As of December 31, 2014, 74 reactors have recgilget life extensions, applications from 19 additibreactors have been submitted and are pendprg\ag, and
letters of intent to apply have been submitted ffbmore reactors with expected application subirddges from 2015 through 2021. Additionally, asessments
and analysis from the events at Fukushima contioaeive safety and reliability improvements, weré@een and continue to expect increased oppaesinit
worldwide for our vast portfolio of advanced nucléechnologies, and we also expect increased appites as the nuclear industry complies with otiegulatory
requirements on existing plants, particularly ther T regulations proposed by the NRC.

In addition to plant reertifications, there are several factors thatesygected to drive an expansion in global commertialear power demand over the next se\
years. The Energy Information Administration (Efajecasts that worldwide total energy consumptexpected to increase at an average annual rté%f
between 2012 and 2040. Continued growth in globaiahd for electricity, especially in developing ewies with limited supply such as China and Inuidl,
require increased capacity. In addition, the carthsupply constraints and environmental concetribigted to the current dependence on fossil fheige led to a
greater appreciation of the value of nuclear tetdgyas the most efficient and environmentallyridly source of energy available today. As a resudtexpect
growth opportunities in this market both domestjcahd internationally, although the timing of orsleemains uncertain.

Domestically, four new build reactors are understarction utilizing the Westinghouse AP1000 readtsign, for which we are the sole supplier of tetlacoolant
pumps. Applications for an additional 24 new reett 16 power plants have been submitted to thé,N#h the AP1000 design having been selected @oof the
potential new reactors. Internationally, new nucfdant construction is active. Currently, there approximately 70 new plants under constructiobdicountries,
with approximately 183 planned and 311 proposed thesnext several decades. In particular, Chitenits to expand its nuclear power capabilitiesifagmtly
through the construction of new nuclear power glaincluding two AP1000 plants currently under ¢nrddion that are expected to be the first Genenalil design
in operation.

As a result, we are positioned for solid expected nrder activity and increased sales for our aasty of nuclear technologies due to ongoing maaree and
upgrade requirements on operating nuclear plames)ewed interest in products to aid safety andrekthe reliability of existing reactors, and tleatinued
emphasis on global nuclear power construction.

General Industrial

Revenue derived from our diversified offering te tieneral industrial market consists of indust@isors and control systems, critical-function esland valve
systems, as well as surface treatment servicesMely our products and services to OEMs and aéigtet industrial customers, including the transgtaoh,
commercial trucking, off-road equipment, constroictiautomotive, chemical, oil and gas, and medichlstries. Our performance in these markets i€&jiy
sensitive

22




to the performance of the U.S. and global econgmiék increases in global GDP and industrial paighn leading to higher sales, particularly for surface
treatment services.

A key driver within our general industrial marké&sur sensors and controls systems products, madably for electronic throttle controls, shift ¢mis, and tractio
control systems, serving on- and off-highway anecsgty vehicles. Increased demand for electroaitrol systems and sensors has been driven byeti: for
improved operational efficiency, safety, repeatghiteduced emissions, enhanced functionality, gnedter fuel efficiencies to customers worldwidey to our
future growth is expanding the human-machine iaterftechnology portfolio and providing a complgtetem solution to our customers. Existing and eewtrg
trends in commercial vehicle safety, emissionsrobnand improved driver efficiency are propelliogmmercial vehicle OEMs toward higher performance
subsystems. These trends are accelerating thetievolrom discrete human machine interface comptanwards a more integrated vehicle interfaceitecture.
Meanwhile, our surface treatment services, inclgdinot and laser peening, engineered coatingsarealgtical services, have benefited from rising dechfrom
commercial aerospace and general industrial cusgme

Looking ahead, based on expectations for steadifydving global economic conditions, these busieesse likely to experience continued modest grdased on
higher sales volumes and new international emissiegulations affecting several industries in whighparticipate.

We also service the chemical and oil and gas inéssthrough numerous industrial valve products.rdééntain a significant global maintenance, repail overhat
(MRO) business for our pressure-relief valve tedbgies as refineries opportunistically service pgtade equipment that has been operating at fodlaty in
recent years. We also produce severe service,tapegitical valves for the power and process stdes. We have experienced increased demand driverw
exploration and expansion of sub-segments, inctudffshore drilling and shale gas, which is expéd¢teboost end-user demand. We also have seemlastiial
renaissance in the U.S. chemical industry duedotjflil, affordable natural gas which has led wHer adoption of severe service valve technolbgpking ahead,
we believe improved economic conditions and comiihglobal expansion will be key drivers for futgrewth of our severe service and operationallyazitvalves.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
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Year Ended December 31, Percent changes

(In thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012

Sales:

Commercial/Industrial $ 1,074,77. $ 950,69¢ $ 677,72. 12 % 4C %

Defense 737,56¢ 767,49¢ 768,10: (4)% — %

Energy 430,78t 399,88 377,48 8% 6 %
Total sales $ 2,243,121 $ 2,118,08 $ 1,823,30 6% 1€ %

Operating income:

Commercial/Industrial $ 142,83: $ 105,24 $ 66,57¢ 36 % 58 %
Defense 102,25: 116,61¢ 90,28! (12)% 2S %
Energy 67,60: 57,20« 55,64! 18% 3%
Corporate and eliminations (30,319 (41,94, (31,110) 28 % (35)%
Total operating income $ 282,370 $ 237,12 $ 181,39« 18 % 31%
Interest expense (35,799 (37,059 (26,307) 3)% 41%
Other income, net 36¢ 98( 12¢ (63)% NM
Earnings before income taxes 246,94« 201,05( 155,22: 23 % 3C %
Provision for income taxes (76,99 (61,64¢) (51,140 25% 21%
Earnings from continuing operations $ 169,94¢ $ 139,40: $ 104,08: 22 % 34%
New orders $ 2,409,200 $ 2,161,33. $ 1,791,15!
Backlog $ 1,674,14. % 1,597,000 $ 1,551,95!

NM- not meaningful
Sales

Sales increased $125 million , or 6% , in 2014campared with 2013 . The increase in sales in 20pdimarily due to an increase in sales in our
Commercial/Industrial and Energy segments of $rb2don and $31 million, respectively. The increase in sales in our Comiakindustrial segment was primar
due to the incremental impact of acquisitions @ #llion and increased organic sales to the comiakaerospace and oil and gas markets. Salesaseidn the
Energy segment primarily due to higher global detfan severe-service industrial valves and preseelief valves.

Sales increased $295 million , or 16% , in 2013;ampared with 2012. The increase in sales wasapityrdue to our Commercial/Industrial segment 27$
million , which was primarily due to the impactatquisitions, which contributed $241 million , &% , of incremental sales. Sales increased in tieedy segment
primarily due to higher global demand for sevenadse industrial valves and pressure relief valves.

Net sales by end mark
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Year Ended December 31, Percent changes

2014 vs. 2013 vs.
(In thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2013 2012

Defense markets:

Aerospace $ 285,57t $ 262,91 $ 302,60: 9% (13)%
Ground 74,06¢ 80,06 93,81« (0% (15)%
Naval 381,33t 370,74¢ 335,40¢ 3% 11%
Other 8,61z 16,37( 24,44¢ (47)% (33%
Total Defense $ 749,590 $ 730,09t $ 756,26 3% ()%

Commercial markets:

Aerospace $ 428,08: $ 398,87 $ 335,07: 7% 19 %
Oil and Gas 232,36( 186,63t 128,40¢ 24% 45%
Power Generation 427,46( 461,57 433,33« (N% 7%
General Industrial 405,63: 340,90: 170,22. 1% 10C %
Total Commercial $ 1,493,531 $ 1,387,98! $ 1,067,03: 8% 30%
Total Curtiss-Wright $ 2,243,120 $ 2,118,08 $ 1,823,30 6% 16 %

Components of sales and operating income growitrédse):

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic 2% 14% 2% 24%
Acquisitions/divestitures 4% 3% 14% 5%
Foreign currency —% 2% —% 2%
Total 6% 19% 16% 31%

Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eBéegmber 31, 2013
Sales

Defense sales increased $19 million , or 3% , agpened to the prior year period, primarily due drecrease in sales in the aerospace defense aabdedense
markets partially offset by lower sales in the grdaefense markets. Our Parvus acquisition corigib17 million of incremental sales, primarilythe aerospace
and ground defense markets. The increase in sathe aerospace defense market is primarily dircteased demand for sensors and embedded computing
products. Sales in the naval defense market inedegasmarily due to higher production levels on Yfieginia class submarine. In the ground defenseketasales
decreased primarily due to lower sales of our tudriee stabilization systems on international grdulefense platforms.

Commercial sales increased $106 million , or 8%6$1,494 million , as compared to the prior yeaiqug primarily due to increased sales in the coneiaé
aerospace, oil and gas, and general industrialetgnwhich were partially offset by lower saleshia power generation market. The increase in salte
commercial aerospace market was driven primarilinbyeased product sales on the Boeing 787 platfSates increased in the oil and gas market priynduie to
higher global demand for severe-service industaales and pressure relief valves. In additioreséicreased in the general industrial market dileet incremental
contribution from our Arens acquisition and higkafes of industrial vehicle product sales. In tbevgr generation market, sales decreased primaréytal lower
levels of production on the AP1000 Domestic andh@lgrograms.

Operating income
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During the year ended December 31, 2014, operateane increased $45 million , or 19% , to $282iaml, compared with the same period in 2013, while
operating margin increased 140 basis points t%42.8cquisitions contributed incremental operatimgpme of $8 million. On a segment basis, the iaseein
operating income in our Commercial/Industrial segnug $38 million , or 36% , to $143 million , wasmarily due to the increase in sales and our costainment
efforts. In our Defense segment, operating incoewahsed as our continuing operating margin impneve initiatives were offset by increases in cost Bwer
levels of production on the AP1000 China prograrmh lawer levels of production on the AP1000 Domegtimgram. In our Energy segment, the increase énatimc
income and operating margin was primarily driverhigher sales volumes in the oil and gas marketedisas the benefit of our ongoing margin improveine
initiatives.

Nor-segment operating expense

Non-segment operating expense decreased $12 milia$30 million , primarily due to lower pension exse primarily as a result of the prior year's gens
amendment.

Interest expens
Interest expense of $36 million , was essentiddlyds compared to the prior year period.
Effective tax rate from continuing operatic

Our effective tax rates for 2014 and 2013 were %@lahd 30.7% , respectively. The increase in thecéffe tax rate in 2014, as compared to 2013, jisgily due to
lower research and development tax credits.

Earnings from continuing operatiol

Earnings from continuing operations increased $8tlom, to $170 million , in 2014, as comparedte prior year period, primarily due to higher ggrg income
in our Commercial/Industrial and Energy segmentslawer pension expense.

Comprehensive income (loss)

Pension and Postretirement adjustme

The $74 million loss included in other compreheasihcome for the year ended December 31, 2014diesipn and postretirement adjustments is primdiriky to
the change in the funded status of our pensiomspiaconnection with the 2014 annual pension reurement. The primary driver of the decrease irfuhded
status of our pension plans was change in the G\ dkcount rate from 4.75% to 4.0% and an updaties assumption of mortality rates. The $87 nmillgension
and postretirement gain in other comprehensivenirector the year ended December 31, 2013 was mdirdyto the actuarial gain resulting from the aniyeak-end
remeasurement. The actuarial gain was driven bgasase in the CW Plan discount rate from 4.0% &% and favorable asset return performance.

Foreign Currency Translation adjustmel

The increase in foreign currency translation adjestts to comprehensive income from a $ 7 milligs lw a $79 million loss for the year ended Decer@he2014
is primarily due to strengthening of the U.S. dollarsus the British Pound, the Euro, and the Skiaac during the year ended December 31, 201drapared to
relatively flat exchange rates in all three curieawersus the U.S. dollar during the year endezeB¥er 31, 2013 .

Backlog and new orde

Backlog increased 5% to $1,674 million at Decen8igr2014 from $1,597 million at December 31, 208w orders increased $248 million to $2,409 millain
December 31, 2014 primarily due to the incrementglct of acquisitions of $86 million , increaseders of pumps and generators in the naval defeasket, and
a new contract for our turret drive stabilizatigstems.

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBéegmber 31, 2012

Sales
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Defense sales decreased 3% , as compared to the/@ar period, primarily due to lower sales in élegospace defense and ground defense marketallpaffset
by an increase in sales in the naval defense marketdecrease in sales in the aerospace defemketmas primarily due to lower production leveistbe Black
Hawk and lower sales of embedded computing ancseasd controls products supporting various hptioprograms. In the ground defense market, sales
decreased primarily due to lower production lewgighe Bradley platform and lower comparable safesmbedded computing products. These decreases wer
partially offset by an increase in naval defendessdue to increased production on the CVN-79 haddamp up of production on the Virginia Class satine
program. This was partially offset by lower levefsproduction on the DDG-1000 and DDG-51 destrgyregrams and completion of production on the Adeanc
Arresting Gear program.

Commercial sales increased by $321 million , or 3@86$1,388 million , as compared to the priorrygeriod, mainly due to an increase in sales taydreral
industrial market, and to a lesser extent incremmssales in the oil and gas and commercial aemespaarkets. Sales increased in the general indListerket
primarily due to the incremental sales from ourwasitjons of Williams, PG Drives, and Arens. Therigase in sales to the to the oil and gas markepnmarily
due to our Phdnix acquisition. The increase inssadehe commercial aerospace market was primauidgyto increased sales of our to flight controbjpias on all
major Boeing aircraft and specialty production sappn Boeing's 787 aircraft.

Operating income

During the year ended December 31, 2013, operateame increased $56 million , or 31% , to $237iaml, compared with the same period in 2012, while
operating margin increased 130 basis points t%41.&cquisitions contributed incremental operaiimgpme of $9 million ; however they were 110 basimts
dilutive to operating margin. Acquisitions are gelly dilutive to operating margin during theirdiryear due to purchase price accounting adjussvaert higher
levels of intangible amortization expense.

On a segment basis, the increase in operating iedomur Commercial/Industrial segment of $39 mili or 58% , to $105 million , was due to $12 imillof
restructuring charges that occurred in the priarykat did not recur in the current year, as aglincreased organic coating sales, primarily é&ncbmmercial
aerospace market. In our Defense segment, opefatiogie increased $26 million , or 29% , to $11¥Wiom , mainly due to improved profitability in odlefense
businesses as a result of prior year restructumitigtives, as well as certain otieae charges related to a labor union strike at Elsifitl additional costs incurred ¢
to a significant change in estimate on the AP1@fi@iract. These charges did not recur in 2013. Gipgrincome in the Energy segment was essentiaity f
Nor-segment operating expense

Non-segment operating expense increased $11 milli&42omillion , primarily due to higher pension erpes and higher foreign currency exchange losses.
Interest expens

Interest expense increased $11 million , to $3%onil primarily due to the issuance of $400 milliof Senior Notes in February 2013 and $100 milbéSenior
Notes in September 2013. During 2013, the Corpumatiaverage debt outstanding and average borraaiagvas $991 million and 3.4%, respectively, carad to
$602 million, and 3.9%, in the prior year period.

Effective tax rate from continuing operatic

Our effective tax rates for 2013 and 2012 were @0, and 32.9% , respectively. The change in effedtx rate is primarily due to increased beneéitdized from
research and development credits and the revdrsaltain valuation allowances as a result of imprbprofitability.

Earnings from continuing operatiol

Earnings from continuing operations increased $8komto $139 million in 2013 , as compared to {iméor year period, primarily due to the increas@perating
income in the Commercial/Industrial and Defensersags offset by the increased pension expensenéerés$t expense discussed above.

Comprehensive income (loss)
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Pension and Postretirement adjustme

For 2013, the $87 million pension and postretirehgam in other comprehensive income was mainlytdube actuarial gain resulting from the annuaryend
remeasurement. This was driven by an increaseei€W Plan discount rate from 4.0% to 4.75% andriable asset return performance. For 2012, the $tliom
pension and postretirement loss in other compréheisome was mainly due to the actuarial lossltiegy from the annual year-end remeasurement. Whis
driven by a decrease in the CW Plant discountfrate 4.5% to 4.0% and was partially offset by fakde asset return performance.

Foreign Currency Translation adjustmel

The decrease in foreign currency translation adjests to comprehensive income of $33 million t& arfillion loss for the year ended December 31, 2613
primarily due to a decrease in the Canadian excheaitg versus the U.S. dollar during the year efszember 31, 2013 as compared to an increase iGahadian
exchange rate versus the U.S. dollar during the reded December 31, 2012.

Backlog and new orde

Backlog was essentially flat at $1,597 million adember 31, 2013 from $1,552 million at Decembe2812. New orders increased $370 million to $2 iflion
at December 31, 2013 primarily due to the incremldnipact of acquisitions of $397 million .

RESULTS BY BUSINESS SEGMENT

Commercial/Industrial

Sales in the Commercial/lndustrial segment are gmilgnto the commercial aerospace and general tridumarkets, and to a lesser extent, the defandeoil and
gas markets.

The following tables summarize sales, operatingrime and margin, and new orders, and certain iterpadting comparability within the Commercial/Indiest
segment.

Year Ended December 31,

(In thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs 2013 2013 vs 2012
Sales $ 1,074,77. $ 950,69¢ $ 677,72. 13% 4C%
Operating income 142,83: 105,24! 66,57¢ 3€6% 58%
Operating margin 13.%% 11.1% 9.£% 22C bps 130 bp:
Restructuring charges — — 12,44¢ NM NM
New orders $ 1,069,01! $ 1,008,19 $ 736,31: 6 % 37%
Backlog $ 462,25: $ 485,60 $ 397,33: (5)% 22%

NM - not meaningful

Components of sales and operating income growttrédse):

2014 vs 2013 2013 vs 2012
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic 6 % 32% 5% 46%
Acquisitions/divestitures 7% 5% 3% 12%
Foreign currency — % (2)% —% —%
Total 13% 3€E% 4C% 58%

Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eBéegmber 31, 2013
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Sales

Sales increased $124 million , or 13% , to $1,01Bam, as compared to the prior year period, ity due to the incremental impact of acquisitiansl increased
demand in the commercial markets. Acquisitions rdoated $63 million of incremental sales, primaulye to our Arens acquisition, which contribute® $dillion
of incremental sales in the general industrial rear8ales in the commercial aerospace market isedeprimarily due to the ramp up in productionsate the
Boeing 787 program and increased demand for ofeiitechnology services.

Operating income

Operating income increased $38 million , or 36%$143 million , and operating margin increased B2€is points to 13.3% . The increase in operatiogme is
primarily due to increased profitability from oud22 and 2013 acquisitions, increased sales ofurtmce technologies services and improved profitgbesulting
from our ongoing margin improvement initiatives.qiésitions contributed $5 million of incrementalespting income.

Backlog and new orde

Backlog decreased $23 million to $462 million ampared to the prior year period. New orders in@d&61 million to $1,069 million , from the prioegr period,
primarily due to incremental new orders from acitjaiss of $62 million .

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBDéegmber 31, 2012
Sales

Sales increased $273 million , or 40% , to $951ionil, as compared to the prior year period, pritpalue to the incremental impact of our acquisipwhich
contributed $241 million of incremental sales.

The increase in sales in the general industriaketas mainly due to the acquisitions of Willian®5 Drives, and Arens. In the oil and gas market,brease in
sales is primarily due to the acquisition of Phoiixthe commercial aerospace market the increasalés is due to both increased sales of outtftightrol product
on Boeing aircraft and emergent and specialty prtioln support on Boeing’s 787 aircraft. In additistrong demand for sensor and control productsrggthe
regional jet and commercial helicopter markets iGboated to increased commercial aerospace salesd@trease in sales in the defense market wasrpyimtiae to
lower sales in the defense aerospace market doeéw production work on the V-22 Osprey program.

Operating income

Operating income increased $39 million , or 58%$105 million and operating margin increased 1&€idpoints to 11.1% . Acquisitions contributech$i8ion of
operating income; however they were 260 basis gdiifitive to current period results. Operatingoime increased due to increased profitability fram2012
acquisitions, increased sales of our surface tdogies services, and improved profitability resugtifrom our ongoing margin improvement initiativ€sirrent year
results were favorably impacted by a nonrecurresgructuring charge of $12 million from the pri@ay, a curtailment gain as a result of a changeiird.K.
pension plans, and certain licensing agreementswr@ entered into during the year.

Backlog and new orde

Backlog increased $88 million to $486 million asnared to the prior year period. New orders in@e&272 million to $1,008 million , from the prigear period,
primarily due to incremental new orders from acitioiss of $238 million.

Defense

Sales in the Defense segment are primarily to #fiende markets and, to a lesser extent, the nymbaer generation market.

The following tables summarize sales, operatingiime and margin, and new orders, and certain iterpadgting comparability within the Defense segment.
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Year Ended December 31, Percent Changes

(In thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Sales $ 737,56t % 767,49¢ % 768,10: (4% — %
Operating income 102,25 116,61 90,28t (12% 29 %
Operating margin 13.9% 15.2% 11.¢% (13C%)ps 34C bps
Items impacting comparability
Restructuring charges — — 6,107 NM NM
Change in estimate:
AP1000 — — (23,689 NM NM
Tech Transfer — — 14,21 NM NM
Impacts of strike1) — (11,349
New orders $ 952,51t $ 750,35¢ $ 658,63¢ 27% 14%
Backlog $ 1,015,460 $ 875,56( $ 921,34. 16 % (5)%

NM - not meaningful

(1) - The financial impacts of the strike were a8 $nillion and $6 million shift in revenue and ogiéng income,
respectively, from 2012 to 2013, due to the tempyosaspension of work and an a $5 million unfavéaimpact
to 2012 operating income as a result of unrecovemtsorption of overhead costs.

Components of sales and operating income growitrédse):

2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic (6)% (18)% 1% 2€%
Acquisitions/divestitures 2% 3% 1% — %
Foreign currency — % 3% — % 3%
Total (4% (12)% — % 2¢%

Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eBéegmber 31, 2013

Sales

Sales decreased $30 million , or 4% , to $738 onillifrom the comparable prior year period. OuvBssacquisition contributed $17 million of increntedrsales,
primarily to the ground defense and aerospace deferarkets. Within the defense market, aerospdeestesales increased primarily due to the incréshen
contribution from Parvus and higher sales of oubesided computing products. In the ground defenskatyasales decreased primarily due to lower saflesir

turret drive stabilization systems on internatiograund defense platforms. Sales to the power géinarmarket were lower primarily due to lower lsvef
production on the AP1000 domestic program.

Operating income

Operating income decreased $14 million , or 1286102 million , compared with the same period0d2 while operating margin decreased 130 basigptd
13.9% . Our Parvus acquisition contributed $3 onillof incremental operating income.

The decrease in operating income is primarily dusigher costs on the AP1000 China program asagdibwer levels of production on the AP1000 Dongesti
program. This was partially offset by our cost edmtent efforts in our defense businesses andtirernental impact of our Parvus acquisition.

Backlog and new orde
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Backlog increased $140 million to $1,015 milliorDeticember 31, 2014 from $876 million at December2B13. New orders increased $202 million , as amenb
to the prior year, primarily due to higher ordefgomps and generators in the naval defense markk& new contract for our turret drive stabiliaatsystems.

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBeéegmber 31, 2012

Sales

Sales were essentially flat as compared to the pear period. Sales decreased in the defense trrk&eo lower levels of production on the DDG-1@0@ DDG-
51 destroyer programs, completion of productiott@nAdvanced Arresting Gear program and lower petidao levels on the Black Hawk and Global Hawk.sThi
was partially offset by an increase in sales inrtiieal defense market due to increased productidgheCVN-79 aircraft carrier program and the rargpip of
production on the Virginia Class submarine program.

Operating income

Operating income increased $26 millioor 29%, to $117 million , and operating margin increase@ Bdsis points to 15.2% . Excluding the items intipgc
comparability noted in the first table above, ofiagaincome increased primarily due to certainigiag agreements entered into in 2013 and a shiftdduction
schedules as a result of the 2012 strike.

Backlog and new orde

Backlog decreased $46 million to $876 million ampared to the prior year period. New orders in@d&92 million to $750 million , from the prior yegeriod.
Energy

Sales in the Energy segment are primarily to thara gas and nuclear power generation markets.

The following tables summarize sales, operatingrime and margin, and new orders, within the Eneegyrent.

Year Ended December 31, Percent Changes
(In thousands, except percentages) 2014 2013 2012 2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Sales $ 430,78¢ $ 399,88: $ 377,48 8% 6 %
Operating income 67,60: 57,20¢ 55,64: 18 % 3%
Operating margin 15.7% 14.2% 14.7% 14C bps (40) bp:
Restructuring — — 3 64¢ NM NM
New orders $ 387,66¢ $ 402,77¢  $ 396,20: (4)% 2%
Backlog $ 196,420 % 235,83( % 233,28t (17% 1%
Components of sales and operating income growitrédse):
2014 vs. 2013 2013 vs. 2012
Operating Operating
Sales Income Sales Income
Organic 6 % 17 % 1% — %
Acquisitions 2% ()% 5% 3%
Foreign currency — % 2% —% — %
Total 8% 18% 6% 3%

Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eBaéegmber 31, 2013
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Sales

Sales increased $31 million , or 8% , to $431 millj from the comparable prior year period, pritgatue to higher sales in the oil and gas marketusfpressure
relief and severe-service industrial valves. Ingbwer generation market, sales were essentiallydt increased sales of safety products to eiemal operating
reactors were offset by lower sales of productd@mestic operating reactors.

Operating income

Operating income increased $10 million , or 18%$@8 million and operating margin increased 14€idpoints to 15.7% . The increase in operatiegrime and
operating margin was primarily driven by higheresatolumes in the oil and gas market and benedita bur ongoing margin improvement initiatives. § growth
was partially offset by lower profitability in th@wer generation market due to the aforementiooeen sales on domestic operating reactors.

New orders

New orders decreas$15 million to $388 million , compared with the saperiod in 2013, primarily due to lower demanthi@ power generation market.

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBDéegmber 31, 2012

Sales

Sales increased $22 million , or 6% , to $400 onillj as compared to the prior year period, mainky @ our AP Services acquisition which contribuget7 million
of incremental sales, to the power generation ntahk¢he power generation market, excluding thpaot of our AP Services acquisition, higher safes o
instrumentation and control products and delivesiesur spent fuel management NETCO SNAP-IN® prodised in existing operating reactors, more théseof
competitive pressure from low natural gas pricabfawer plant outages. Sales in the oil and gagebancreased primarily due to increase in domesiit
international MRO activity.

Operating income

Operating income increased $1.6 million , or 3% $%7.2 million primarily due to our AP Servicegaisition, which contributed $1.4 million in operag income.
Backlog and new orde

Backlog increased $3 million to $236 million as quared to the prior year period, and new orderst68$nillion were essentially flat.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Sources and Uses of Cash

We derive the majority of our operating cash inflivsam receipts on the sale of goods and servicdscash outflow for the procurement of materials kafar; cash
flow is therefore subject to market fluctuationsl @onditions. A substantial portion of our businissie the defense sector, which is characterizebig-term
contracts. Most of our long-term contracts allowdeveral billing points (progress or milestonejttbrovide us with cash receipts as costs arereduhroughout
the project rather than upon contract completibereby reducing working capital requirements.

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Net cash provided by (used in):
Operating activities $ 331,76t $ 237,827 $ 152,47.
Investing activities 53,44¢ (313,69) (492,99))
Financing activities (92,439 140,13t 254,24
Effect of exchange rates (17,959 (2,002) 3,91¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent $ 274,82; $ 63,27 $ (82,369

Year ended December 31, 2014 compared to year eBéegmber 31, 2013
Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increasedrfillon to $332 million during the year ended Detteer 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year pepiocharily
due to higher cash earnings, improved advancedatwhs, and lower cash taxes.

Investing Activities
Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were $67 million in 2084empared to $72 million in 2013. Capital expeamdis were lower in 2014, as compared to 2013, pilyrdue
to expansions in certain business within our En&ggment in 2013.

Divestitures

During 2014 , we committed to a plan to disposessfain businesses in order to enhance our opgrafiitiencies and focus on our core strengths disposed of
four businesses aggregating to cash proceeds®8 #illion . No divestitures took place during 2013

Acquisitions

During 2014 we acquired three businesses and eigeontinue to seek acquisitions that are consisté&h our long-term growth strategy. A combinatiof cash
resources, including cash on hand, funds availaddier our credit agreement, and proceeds from enioSNotes, were utilized to fund the acquisitiomkich
totaled $34 million . In 2013, we acquired five Imesses with a total purchase price of $236 million

Additional acquisitions will depend, in part, orethvailability of financial resources at a costapital that meet our stringent criteria. As suiatyre acquisitions, if
any, may be funded through the use of our casltasid equivalents, through additional financing labée under the credit agreement, or through naaniting
alternatives.

Financing Activities
Debt Issuance

There were no debt issuances or significant praigpyments on outstanding notes in 2014. In 28#3Corporation issued $500 million of Senior Naiged repaid
the $125 million 2003 senior notes that had matured

Revolving Credit Agreeme
In December 2014, the Corporation amended ouriegistedit facility by entering into a Second Amemeht to the Third Amended and Restated Credit Agess
(Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of financiadtitutions, led by Bank of America N.A., Wells FardN.A, and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. The amentimen

extends the maturity date of the agreement to Nbeen2019. There were no other material modificetimade to the Credit Agreement

As of December 31, 2014, the Corporation had nocobongs outstanding under the 2012 Senior Unseddeablving Credit Agreement (the Credit Agreement o
credit facility) and $54 million in letters of criedupported by the credit facility. The
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unused credit available under the Credit AgreeraeBtecember 31, 2014 was $446 million , which cdddorrowed in full without violating any of oueloit
covenants.

Repurchase of Common Stc

On September 25, 2014, the Company received aaétiom from its board of directors to enter intoeav share repurchase program beginning in 2016rthpse
up to approximately $300 million of its common stocThe Company's 2011 share repurchase prograntevapleted as of the end of 2014.

During the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Coynmpurchased approximately 976,000 shares of@umon stock for $65 million . The Company did not
repurchase any shares of its common stock duriag.20

Dividends

In the first quarter of 2014, the Corporation irawed its quarterly dividend to thirteen cents ($Pdalshare, an 30% increase over the prior yeadeatid. In the
second quarter of 2013, the Corporation increasagliarterly dividend to ten cents ($0.10) a shamel1.1% increase over the prior year dividenghGmed to
make dividend payments during the year ended Deeeith 2014 and 2013 were $25 million and $18 arilli respectively.

Year ended December 31, 2013 compared to year eBéegmber 31, 2012

Operating Activities

Cash provided by operating activities increasedrfiBon to $238 million during the year ended Detteer 31, 2013, as compared to the prior year pepiocharily
due to higher cash earnings, the timing of vendgnpents in the current year, and the timing of aded collections.

Investing Activities
Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures were $72 million in 2083empared to $83 million in 2012. Capital expeaumdis were lower in 2013, as compared to 2012, pilyrdue
to our Flight Systems facility expansion in 2012.

Acquisitions

During 2013 we acquired five businesses and expemintinue to seek acquisitions that are condistéh our long-term growth strategy. A combinatioincash
resources, including cash on hand, funds availaddier our credit agreement, and proceeds from enioSNotes, were utilized to fund the acquisitiomkich
totaled $236 million . In 2012, we acquired eighsimesses with a total purchase price of $460anilli

Additional acquisitions will depend, in part, orethvailability of financial resources at a costapital that meet our stringent criteria. As suatyre acquisitions, if
any, may be funded through the use of our casltasid equivalents, through additional financing labée under the credit agreement, or through naaniting
alternatives.

Financing Activities

Debt Issuance

On February 26, 2013 , the Corporation issued $8illibn of Senior Notes (the “2013 Notes”). ThelZ0Notes consist of $225 million of 3.70% Seniotdéathat
mature on February 26, 2023 , $100 million of 3.85&fior Notes that mature on February 26, 2028 $&5 million of 4.05% Senior Notes that mature on
February 26, 2028 . $100 million of additiondl ¥ Senior Notes were deferred and subsequentigdssn September 26, 2013 that mature on Septe2iber
2028 . The 2013 Notes are senior unsecured oldigatequal in right of payment to the Corporati@xisting senior indebtedness. The Corporatioits atption,
can prepay at any time all or any part of the 2Qb8s, subject to a make-whole payment in accoelarith the terms of the Note Purchase Agreement. |
connection with the issuance of the 2013 NotesCitiporation paid customary fees that have beesrieef and are being amortized over the term o2 Notes
Under the terms of the Note Purchase Agreementthporation is required to maintain certain finahcatios, the most restrictive of
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which is a debt to capitalization limit of 6090 he debt to capitalization ratio (as defined therNotes Purchase Agreement and Credit Agreerizecd)culated usir
the same formula for all of the Corporation’s dagteements and is a measure of the Corporatiodebtedness to capitalization, where capitalizatiguals debt
plus equity. As of December 31, 2013, the Corporgltiad the ability to borrow additional debt of$billion without violating our debt to capitalizah covenant.
The 2013 Notes also contain a cross default prmvigiith respect to the Corporation’s other semadebtedness.

In September 2013, we repaid the $125 million 28&3or notes that had matured.
Revolving Credit Agreeme

As of December 31, 2013 the Corporation had $50amibf borrowings under the 2012 Senior Unsecuredolving Credit Agreement (the Credit Agreement or
credit facility) and $42 million in letters of criedupported by the credit facility. The unusedditravailable under the Credit Agreement at Decar3tte 2013 was
$408 million, which could be borrowed in full withbviolating any of our debt covenants.

Repurchase of Common Stc

The Company did not repurchase any shares ofiitsram stock during 2013. During the year ended Déegr@l, 2012, the Company repurchased approximately
830,000 shares of our common stock for $26 million

Dividends

In the second quarter of 2013, the Corporationeiased its quarterly dividend to ten cents ($0.1€)ae, an 11.1% increase over the prior yeareiddCash used
to make dividend payments during the years endegiber 31, 2013 and 2012 were $18 million , andrilléon respectively.

Prior debt issuance

In August 2012, we amended and refinanced ouriegistedit facility by entering into a Third Ameraland Restated Credit Agreement (Credit Agreemitit) a
syndicate of financial institutions, led by Bank4&herica N.A., Wells Fargo, N.A, and JP Morgan GhBsank, N.A. The proceeds available under the €redi
Agreement are to be used for working capital, maegrowth initiatives, funding of future acquisitis, and general corporate purposes. Under the &frithe Credit
Agreement, we have a borrowing capacity of $500ionil In addition, the Credit Agreement providesameordion feature which allows us to borrow anitatthl
$100 million.

The Credit Agreement contains covenants that weidenusual and customary for an agreement ofythiss for comparable commercial borrowers, including
maximum consolidated net debt-to-capitalizatioioraef 60 percent. The agreement has customary gedntefault, such as non-payment of principal wtee;
nonpayment of interest, fees, or other amountssepayment default and cross-acceleration witlCimporation’s other senior indebtedness.

Borrowings under the Credit Agreement will accmierest based on (i) Libor or (ii) a base rateneftiighest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0.&)BofA’s
announced prime rate or (c) the Eurocurrency rate o, plus a margin. The interest rate and lef/&cility fees are dependent on certain finanéibs, as
defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreenadso provides customary fees, including admiaiste agent and commitment fees. In connectioh thie
Credit Agreement, we paid customary transaction feat have been deferred and are being amortizadioe term of the Credit Agreement.

On December 8, 2011, we issued $300 million of &eNbtes (the "2011 Notes"). The 2011 Notes comsi$tL00 million of 3.84% Senior Notes that matare
December 1, 2021 and $200 million of 4.24% Sen@ieS Notes that mature on December 1, 2026. Thé R@tes are senior unsecured obligations, equédlit
of payment to our existing senior indebtedness. &/eur option, can prepay at any time all or aast pf our 2011 Notes, subject to a make-whole mtrin
accordance with the terms of the Note Purchaseehgeat. In connection with our 2011 Notes, we pagt@amary fees that have been deferred and are being
amortized over the term of our 2011 Notes. We ageired under the Note Purchase Agreement to niaicgatain financial ratios, the most restrictifeadnich is a
debt to capitalization limit of 60%. The 2011 No##so contain a cross default provision with olreotsenior indebtedness.

On December 1, 2005, we issued $150 million of &Senior Series Notes (the "2005 Notes"). Our 206tes mature on December 1, 2017 and are senior
unsecured obligations, equal in right of paymerdupexisting senior indebtedness. We, at our aptian prepay at any time all or any part of ol0®Notes,
subject to a make-whole payment in accordance tivéth
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terms of the Note Purchase Agreement. In conneetittnour 2005 Notes, we paid customary fees thaetbeen deferred and are being amortized ovéetheof
our 2005 Notes. We are required under the NotehRgecAgreement to maintain certain financial ratios most restrictive of which is a debt to cdjzgdion limit
of 60%. The 2005 Notes also contains a cross dgfeaNision with our other senior indebtedness.

Capital Resources
Cash in Foreign Jurisdictions

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31, 2014$486million , of which $195 million were held ligreign subsidiaries. Our Canadian subsidiaried hel
substantial portion of the Company's cash and egslvalents, approximately $79 million at Decem®r2014. There are no legal or economic restristiabsent
certain regulatory approvals in China, where lbas t54 million of our foreign cash resides, onabd#ity of any of our subsidiaries to transfer fan@he Company
regularly assesses its cash needs and the avaitaniees to fund these needs. Our current asselsdoemnnot indicate the need to repatriate foreagh and cash
equivalents to fund U.S. operations; however #histibject to change based on changes in globabegomronditions, changes in global tax rates, drahges in the
global geopolitical environment.

Cash Utilization

Management continually evaluates cash utilizatitermatives, including share repurchases, acqoiisitiand increased dividends to determine the beostficial us:
of available capital resources. We believe thatoaish and cash equivalents, cash flow from op&stavailable borrowings under the credit facilégd ability to
raise additional capital through the credit marlegessufficient to meet both the short-term andjltarm capital needs of the organization, includimgreturn of
capital to shareholders through dividends and stegmerchases and growing our business through sitiqos.

Debt Complianct

As of December 31, 2014 , we were in compliancé ait debt agreements and credit facility covenantduding our most restrictive covenant, whictois debt to
capitalization ratio limit of 60%. As of Decembek, 2014 we had the ability to incur total additibmalebtedness of $1.2 billion without violatingradebt to
capitalization covenant.

Future Commitments

Cash generated from operations should be adequatedt our planned capital expenditures of apprateip $50 to $60 million and expected dividend peyts of
approximately $25 million in 2015 . There can beassurance, however, that we will continue to geleezash from operations at the current levelshagenerated
from operations is not sufficient to support theperating requirements and investing activitiesyway be required to reduce capital expendituresptofrom our
existing credit line, refinance a portion of ouisting debt, or obtain additional financing. Whéle companies are subject to economic risk, weelelthat our cash
and cash equivalents, cash flow from operations aaailable borrowings are sufficient to meet bibeh short-term and long-term capital needs of tigamzation.

In 2014 , we made contributions of approximatel® #4illion to the Curtiss-Wright Pension Plan. Imdary 2015, the Corporation made a voluntary pensio
contribution of $145 million . For more informati@m our pension and other postretirement bendfisspplease see Note 16 to the Consolidated Radanc
Statements.

The following table quantifies our significant feéucontractual obligations and commercial commitis@s of December 31, 2014 :

(In thousands) Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter
Debt Principal

Repayments $ 954,34¢ $ 1,06¢ $ —  $ 150,00 $ —  $ —  $ 803,27¢
Interest Payment on

Fixed Rate Debt 362,52 39,90¢ 39,90¢ 39,20¢ 31,64 31,64: 180,21!
Operating Leases 145,80¢ 27,61¢ 24,03¢ 20,51« 16,05¢ 11,89¢ 45,68
Build-to-suit Lease 20,59¢ 1,18¢ 1,21¢ 1,24¢ 1,28( 1,31 14,35:
Total $ 1,483,27 $ 69,78( $ 65,16 $ 210,96¢ $ 4898. $ 4485 $ 1,043,53
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We do not have material purchase obligations. Mbsur raw material purchase commitments are maeetty pursuant to specific contract requirements.

We enter into standby letters of credit agreemantsguarantees with financial institutions and @ugtrs primarily relating to future performance entain contract
to provide products and services and to secureragvaayments we have received from certain intienmaitcustomers. At December 31, 2014 , we hadrgent
liabilities on outstanding letters of credit duefalfows:

(In thousands) Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter ®
Letters of Credit $ 54,26: $ 1347¢ $ 21,91¢ $ 414 $ 462¢ 3 68C $ 9,42

(1) Amounts indicated as Thereafter are letters ofitthdt expire during the revolving credit agreememm but will automatically renew on the dateegpiration
In addition, amounts exclude bank guarantees afoappately $20.7 million .

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies

Our consolidated financial statements and accompgmpotes are prepared in accordance with accayiptimciples generally accepted in the United Stafe
America. Preparing consolidated financial statesegdjuires us to make estimates and assumptionafteet the reported amounts of assets, liabsljtievenues,
and expenses. These estimates and assumptiorifeatechby the application of our accounting p@giCritical accounting policies are those thatiregapplicatiol
of management’s most difficult, subjective, or cdexgudgments, often as a result of the need toeneskimates about the effects of matters tharnheréntly
uncertain and may change in subsequent periodsélifyve that the following are some of the moréaal judgment areas in the application of our acting
policies that affect our financial condition anduks of operations:

Revenue Recognitic

The realization of revenue refers to the timingi®fecognition in our accounts and is generallysidered realized or realizable and earned wheadh@ngs
process is substantially complete and all of thiewiéng criteria are met: 1) persuasive evidencamarrangement exists; 2) delivery has occurrestirices have
been rendered; 3) our price to our customer igiforedeterminable; and 4) collectability is readdpassured.

We determine the appropriate method by which wegeize revenue by analyzing the terms and conditigreach contract or arrangement entered into auith
customers. Revenue is recognized on certain prediles, which represents approximately 55% of atat tevenue, as production units are shipped itlacand risk
of loss have transferred. Revenue is recognizeskorice type contracts, which represents approeiynd®% of our total revenue, as services are mendd he
majority of our service revenues are generatedinvidhir Commercial/Industrial segment. The significastimates we make in recognizing revenue relatearily
to long-term contracts generally accounted for gisire cost-to-cost method of percentage-of-compiadiccounting that are associated with the dedigwglopment
and manufacture of highly engineered industriablpats used in commercial and defense applications.

Percentage-of-completion accounting

Revenue recognized using the cost-to-cost methpérokentage-of-completion accounting representpcoapnately 16% of our total net sales in 2014 e Typical
length of our contracts that utilize the cost-tstamethod of percentage-of-completion accountir®)-& years. This method recognizes revenue arfit psathe
contracts progress towards completion. Under tlsétoacost method of percentage-of-completion asting, sales and profits are recorded based oratfeeof
costs incurred to an estimate of costs at completio

Application of the cost-to-cost method of perceetafrcompletion accounting requires the use ofaeable and dependable estimates of the future iaiatabor,
and overhead costs that will be incurred and dglised cost estimating system in which all funosoof the business are integrally involved. Thesienates are
determined based upon industry knowledge and expeeiof our engineers, project managers, and finlastaff. These estimates are significant ancotfthanges
in cost and operating performance throughout tiniéraot and could have a significant impact on querating performance. Adjustments to original eatas for
contract revenue, estimated costs at completiahtteestimated total profit are often requiredvask progresses throughout the contract and mdoenvation is
obtained, even though the scope of work underdhéract may not change. These changes are reconded¢umulative basis in the period they are detexdito be
necessary.
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Under the cost-to-cost method of percentageenfipletion accounting, provisions for estimatedésson uncompleted contracts are recognized ipettied in whict
the likelihood of such losses are determined tprobable. However, costs may be deferred in amtip of future contract sales if follow-on prodoctorders are
deemed probable. Amounts representing contracigeharders are included in revenue only when theybeasestimated reliably and their realization a&smnably
assured.

In 2014 and 2013 the aggregate net changes inaeBmf contract costs were not material to thesGlishated Statement of Earnings for such annuabgein 2012
the aggregate net changes in estimates of comatg resulted in a decrease to sales and operatioge of $9 million and $13 million , respectiyel

Inventory

Inventory costs include materials, direct labod porchasing and manufacturing overhead costs hdrie stated at the lower of cost or market, wheaeket is
limited to the net realizable value. We estimateribt realizable value of our inventories and distabeserves to reduce the carrying amount ofetfr@gentories to
net realizable value, as necessary. We contineatiyuate the adequacy of the inventory reserves\igwing historical scrap rates, on-hand quasstitie compared
with historical and projected usage levels, an@io#nticipated contractual requirements. We gelydnald reserved inventory for extended period$oteescrappini
and disposing of the reserved inventory, which Gbuates to a higher level of reserved inventorstige to the level of annual inventory write-offs.

We purchase materials for the manufacture of comptsfor sale. The decision to purchase a set igpaht particular item is influenced by severattors
including: current and projected price, futurerastied availability, existing and projected contsaotproduce certain items, and the estimated rfeedsir
businesses.

For certain of our long-term contracts, we utilmegress billings, which represent amounts biledustomers prior to the delivery of goods andises/and are
recorded as a reduction to inventory and receigalmounts are first applied to unbilled receivatdad any remainder is then applied to inventonygiess billing
are generally based on costs incurred, includingcticosts, overhead, and general and administratists.

Pension and Other Postretirement Bene

In consultation with our actuaries, we determiredppropriate assumptions for use in determinirdi#ility for future pension and other postretient benefits.
The most significant of these assumptions inclb@ediscount rates used to determine plan obligstithe expected return on plan assets, the nunfileengoyees
who will receive benefits, their tenure, their sglievels, and their projected mortality. Changethiese assumptions, if significant in future yearay have an effe
on our pension and postretirement expense, assdg@ansion and postretirement assets and liabjldied our annual cash requirements to fund tHase.p

The discount rate used to determine the plan hestafgations as of December 31, 2014, and the @rperiodic costs for 2015, was decreased from%4.#5b4.00%
for the Curtiss-Wright Pension Plan, and from 41898.75% for the nonqualified benefit plan, to eeflcurrent economic conditions. The rates refleet
hypothetical rates at which the projected benddfiigations could be effectively settled or paid tuparticipants on that date. We determine owatist rates
utilizing a select bond yield curve developed by actuaries, by using the rates of return on higdlity, fixed-income corporate bonds availablehat measurement
date with maturities that match the plan’s expectsh outflows for benefit payments. These changesibuted to an increase in the benefit obligatd$70
million in the CW plans. The rate of compensatiocréase for the pension plans decreased from 4@/veighted average of 3.4% based upon a graddsl aic
5.0% to 3.0% that decrements as pay increaseshwiiects the experience over past years and dnep@ny’s expectation of future salary increasesalse
adopted updated mortality tables published by thee®y of Actuaries, to the current RP-2014 tabbdsich reflect greater mortality improvements ittte future for
the U.S. pension and postretirement benefit pfahese changes contributed to an increase in thefibebligation of $26 million.

The overall expected return on assets assumptioesisd primarily on the expectations of future grenfince. Expected future performance is determtiyed
weighting the expected returns for each asset blasise plan’s asset allocation. The expected metare based on long-term capital market assunspgimvided by
our investment consultants. We have consistenty tise 8.5% rate as a long-term overall averagerreand consider this rate to be a reasonablerggn of the
future long-term investment returns.
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The timing and amount of future pension incomexpease to be recognized each year is dependeheatetmographics and expected compensation of dne pl
participants, the expected interest rates in effefttture years, inflation, and the actual andested investment returns of the assets in the pensist.

The funded status of the Curtiss-Wright Pensiom Blecreased by $69 million in 2014, primarily da¢tte decrease in the discount rate and the chiarige
mortality tables used to value plan obligationBatember 31, 2014. We contributed $40 million ® @urtiss-Wright Pension Plan in 2014, and madelanvary
contribution of $145 million in January 2015.

The following table reflects the impact of changeselected assumptions used to determine the fustdéus of the Company’s U.S. qualified and nolifigd
pension plans as of December 31, 2014 (in thousaxdspt for percentage point change):

Increase in
Percentage Benefit Increase in
Assumption Point Change Obligation Expense
Discount rate 0.29% $ 22,000 $ 2,50(
Rate of compensation increase 0.25% 3,00( 80C
Expected return on assets (0.25% — 1,50(

See Note 16 to the Consolidated Financial Statesrfenfurther information on our pension and pdseeent plans.
Purchase Accountin

We apply the purchase method of accounting to oguisitions. Under this method, we allocate the obbusiness acquisitions to the assets acquirddiabilities
assumed based on their estimated fair values alatteeof acquisition, commonly referred to as theepase price allocation. As part of the purchasz @llocations
for our business acquisitions, identifiable intdmgiassets are recognized as assets apart fromwijabthey arise from contractual or other legajhts, or if they ar
capable of being separated or divided from the iaedusiness and sold, transferred, licensededentr exchanged. The purchase price is allocatttbt
underlying tangible and intangible assets acquaretiliabilities assumed based on their respectivarfarket values, with any excess recorded aswitiotVe
determine the fair values of such assets anditiahil generally in consultation with third-partgiluation advisors. Such fair value assessmentsressjgnificant
judgments and estimates such as projected cash, fthecount rates, royalty rates, and remaininfuliiees that can differ materially from actuaktsts. The
analysis, while substantially complete, is finatize later than twelve months from the date of &ition. The fair value of assets acquired (netagh) and
liabilities assumed of our 2014 acquisitions westineated to be $20 million and $4 million , respesdy.

Goodwill

We have $1 billion in goodwill as of December 3Q12 . Generally, the largest separately identiéasset from the businesses that we acquire isthe of their
assembled workforces, which includes the additibeakfit received from management, administrativarketing, business development, engineering, ectthtcal
employees of the acquired businesses. The suctess acquisitions, including the ability to retaristing business and to successfully competaridrwin new
business, is based on the additional benefit redeiom management, administrative, marketing,targiness development, scientific, engineering,tacknical
skills and knowledge of our employees rather thaproductive capital (plant and equipment, techgwl@and intellectual property). Therefore, sindamgible
assets for assembled workforces are part of gobdhél substantial majority of the intangible asdet our acquired business acquisitions are razedras goodwil

The recoverability of goodwill is subject to an aahimpairment test based on the estimated fairevaf the underlying businesses. We test for gobdnpairment
at the reporting unit level, which is one leveldyelthe operating segment level. The test is perarin the fourth quarter, which coincides with fiieparation of
our fiveyear strategic operating plan. Additionally, gooltligi tested for impairment when an event occurg circumstances change that would more likelynthat
reduce the fair value of a reporting unit belowcisrying amount.

Determining the fair value of a reporting unitusigmental in nature and involves the use of sigaift estimates and assumptions that we believeasenable but
inherently uncertain. Actual results may differrfréthose estimates. To calculate the fair valuereparting unit, we consider both comparative meankeltiples as
well as estimated discounted cash flows for thentémy unit. The significant estimates and assuomgtinclude, but are not limited to, revenue grorates,
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operating margins, and future economic and mardeditions. The discount rates are based upon fiatieg unit's weighted average cost of capital.

The first step in the analysis is to identify amtgntial impairment by comparing the carrying vaddi¢he reporting unit to its fair value. As a slgpent, we condu
additional sensitivity analysis to assess thefoskpotential impairment based upon changes irkélyeassumptions such as the discount rate, expkxtgederm
growth rate, and cash flow projections. If an innpent is identified, the second step is to meatheémpairment loss by comparing the implied faitue of
goodwill with the carrying value of the goodwill ®ne reporting unit. Based upon the completionwfannual test, we determined that there was nainmgnt of
value and that all reporting units estimated faiues were substantially in excess of their cagn@mounts. Therefore, it is not reasonably likbbt tsignificant
changes in these estimates would occur that waslglrin an impairment charge.

Other Intangible Assets

Other intangible assets are generally the reswtqtiisitions and consist primarily of purchasetht®logy, customer related intangibles, and tradksnéntangible
assets are recorded at their fair values as detedhrough purchase accounting, based on estimatesidgments regarding expectations for the estichfuture
after-tax earnings and cash flows arising fromofelbn sales. Definite-lived intangible assets aneréized on a straight-line basis over their estadaiseful lives,
which generally range from 1 to 20 years. Custorakted intangibles primarily consist of customsationships, which reflect the value of the beredérived from
the incremental revenue and related cash flowsdirget result of the customer relationship. Wdeenthe recoverability of all intangible assetslimling the
related useful lives, whenever events or changesdomstances indicate that the carrying amoughtmot be recoverable. We would record any impairinin the
reporting period in which it has been identified.

Iltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures aout Market Risk.

We are exposed to certain market risks from chaimgieserest rates and foreign currency exchantgsras a result of our global operating and finameictivities.
We seek to minimize any material risks from foredgmrency exchange rate fluctuations through oumaboperating and financing activities and, wheerded
appropriate, through the use of derivative finarncstruments. We used forward foreign currencytots to manage our currency rate exposures dtivengear
ended December 31, 2014 , and, in order to manag@terest rate risk, we may, from time to timetee into interest rate swaps to balance the ditfixed to
floating rate debt. We do not use such instrumtemtgading or other speculative purposes. Infoforategarding our accounting policy on financiadtiuments is
contained in Note 1-L to the Consolidated FinanStatements.

Interest Rate

The market risk for a change in interest ratedeslprimarily to our debt obligations. Our fixederénterest exposure , without consideration ofinterest rate swap
agreements was 99% and 94% , at December 31, 2@lBecember 31, 2013 , respectively. In order toaga our interest rate exposure, from time to tinee,
enter into interest rate swap agreements to mamageix of fixed-rate and variable-rate debt. Wtk interest rate swap agreements that were i plaof
December 31, 2014 , and December 31, 2013, oed fiate interest exposure was 57% and 55% , résplgciAs of December 31, 2014 , a change in irserates
of 1% would have an impact on consolidated intezgpense of less than $4 million . Information relgag our 2013, 2011 and 2005 Notes, Revolving &red
Agreement, and Interest Rate Swaps is containdidia 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Foreign Currency Exchange Ral

Although the majority of our operations are transdén U.S. dollars, we do have market risk expesarchanges in foreign currency exchange ratesapiy as it
relates to the value of the U.S. dollar versusGhradian dollar, the British pound, the Euro, ded3wiss franc. Any significant change againstitf dollar in the
value of the currencies of those countries in whiehdo business could have an effect on our busifiesincial condition, and results of operatidh&reign
exchange rates were to collectively weaken or gthemm against the dollar by 10%, net earnings whalge been reduced or increased, respectively, by
approximately $19 million as it relates exclusivayforeign currency exchange rate exposures.

Financial instruments expose us to counter-pasgglitrisk for non-performance and to market riskdioanges in interest and foreign currency ratesnvdnage
exposure to counter-party credit risk through speminimum credit standards, diversification ofucber-parties, and procedures to monitor conceatrabf credit
risk. We monitor the impact of market risk on thaé f/alue and cash flows of our investments by stimg primarily in investment grade interest-begrdecurities,
which
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have short-term maturities. We attempt to mininpassible changes in interest and currency exchaige to amounts that are not material to our dfsed
results of operations and cash flows.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

(In thousands, except per share data)

Net sales
Product sales
Service sales
Total net sales

Cost of sales

Cost of product sales
Cost of service sales
Total cost of sales
Gross profit

Research and development expenses
Selling expenses
General and administrative expenses
Operating income
Interest expense
Other income, net
Earnings before income taxes
Provision for income taxes
Earnings from continuing operations
Gain/(loss) from discontinued operations, net géta
Net earnings

Basic earnings per share:
Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations
Total
Diluted earnings per share:
Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations
Total
Dividends per share
Weighted average shares outstanding:
Basic
Diluted

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EARNINGS

For the years ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
$ 1,815,02i $ 1,71959 $ 1,450,31;
428,00t 398,49( 372,99
2,243,12 2,118,08 1,823,30
1,190,71. 1,123,29 960,87t
275,89 258,95 250,01
1,466,611 1,382,24: 1,210,88
776,51( 735,83 612,41¢
(67,84%) (63,58() (54,35%)
(128,00%) (128,47) (107,619
(298,291 (306,665 (269,05%)
282,37: 237,12 181,39«
(35,799 (37,059 (26,307)
365 98¢ 12¢
246,94 201,05( 155,22:
(76,995 (61,646 (51,140
169,94 139,40 104,08:
(56,617 (1,429 9,76¢
$ 113,33 $ 137,98 $ 113,84
$ 35. $ 297 $ 2.22
(1.1%) (0.09 0.21
$ 23€ $ 294 $ 2.44
$ 3.4 $ 291 $ 2.2C
(1.1%) (0.09 0.21
$ 231 $ 286 $ 2.41
$ 05: $ 03¢ $ 0.3t
48,01¢ 46,99 46,74
49,07 47,91: 47,41

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)

For the years ended December 31,

(In thousands)

2014 2013 2012
Net earnings $ 113,33t $ 137,98: $ 113,84«
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Foreign currency translation, net of tdx (79,38¢) (6,619 25,95
Pension and postretirement adjustments, net oftax (74,289 87,38¢ (16,33)
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (153,67() 80,76 9,62
Comprehensive income (loss) $ (40,33) $ 218,74t $ 123,46°

@ The tax benefit (expense) included in other comgmslve income (loss) for foreign currency transtatidjustments for 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 were $2.1
million , ($0.9) million , and $0.7 million , resgiévely.

@ The tax benefit (expense) included in other comgmelve income (loss) for pension and postretireradjustments for 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 were $41.3
million , ($49.4) million , and $9.1 million , resptively.

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

At December 31,
(In thousands, except share data) 2014 2013
ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 450,11¢ $ 175,29
Receivables, net 495,48( 603,59:
Inventories, net 388,67( 452,08
Deferred tax assets, net 44,31 47,65(
Assets held for sale 147,34° —
Other current assets 45,15! 58,66(
Total current assets 1,571,07! 1,337,28
Property, plant, and equipment, net 458,91¢ 515,71¢
Goodwill 998,50¢ 1,110,42
Other intangible assets, net 349,22° 471,37¢
Other assets 21,78¢ 23,46:
Total assets $ 3,399,51. % 3,458,27.
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities:
Current portion of long-term and short-term debt $ 1,06¢ $ 1,33¢
Accounts payable 152,26t 186,94
Accrued expenses 145,93t 142,93!
Income taxes payable 22,47: 78¢
Deferred revenue 176,69: 164,34
Liabilities held for sale 35,39. —
Other current liabilities 38,16: 38,25
Total current liabilities 571,99: 534,59:
Long-term debt 953,27¢ 958,60:-
Deferred tax liabilities, net 51,55¢ 123,64«
Accrued pension and other postretirement benesiisco 226,68 138,90:-
Long-term portion of environmental reserves 14,91: 15,49¢
Other liabilities 102,65 134,32t
Total liabilities 1,921,07: 1,905,56'
Contingencies and Commitments (Note 13, 17 and 19)
STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
Common stock, $1 par value,100,000,000 shares @zeldoat December 31, 2014 and 2013; 49,189,702sh
issued at December 31, 2014 and 2013; outstandargs were 47,904,518 at December 31,2014 and
47,638,835 at December 31, 2013. 49,19( 49,19(
Additional paid in capital 158,04 150,61¢
Retained earnings 1,469,30! 1,380,98
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) (128,41) 25,25¢
Common treasury stock, at cost (1,285,184 sha@s@mber 31, 2014 and 1,550,867 shares at Dece&dhpe
2013) (69,695 (53,349
Total stockholders' equity 1,478,43. 1,552,70:
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity $ 339951 § 3,458,27.

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

For the years ended December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net earnings $ 113,33¢ $ 137,98 $ 113,84«
Adjustments to reconcile net earnings to net cashiged by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 118,93: 121,49° 93,89¢
(Gain)/Loss on sale of businesses 29,18« (29,919
(Gain) loss on fixed asset disposals 632 77 (414)
Gain on bargain purchase — — (910)
Deferred income taxes (27,247 5,92¢ (3,87))
Share-based compensation 8,50( 7,34¢ 9,42¢
Impairment of assets 3,20z 887 4,98¢
Impairment of assets held for sale 41,36¢ — —

Changes in operating assets and liabilities, nbusfnesses acquired and disposed of:

Accounts receivable, net 12,84¢ 6,59¢ 26,52«
Inventories, net (19,375 (25,499 (30,100
Progress payments (6,97)) (6,13)) (7,929
Accounts payable and accrued expenses 16,147 8,561 (7,290
Deferred revenue 24,47 (7,287) (34,43¢)
Income taxes 38,94¢ (16,817 15,21:
Net pension and postretirement liabilities (26,43)) (1,630 (1,139
Other current and long-term assets and liabilities 4,21¢ 6,294 4,571
Net cash provided by operating activities 331,76¢ 237,82 152,47
Cash flows from investing activities:
Proceeds from sales and disposals of long-liveetsss 594 1,34¢ 2,551
Proceeds from divestitures 152,96 — 52,12¢
Acquisition of intangible assets — — (1,767)
Proceeds from insurance 2,357 — —
Additions to property, plant, and equipment (67,115 (72,247) (82,959
Acquisition of businesses, net of cash acquired (34,369 (236,13Y) (460,439
Additional consideration paid on prior year acdiosis (98¢) (6,667) (2,529
Net cash provided by (used for) investing actigitie 53,44¢ (313,69) (492,999
Cash flows from financing activities:
Borrowings under revolving credit facility 364,55 983,10¢ 576,93:
Borrowings of debt — 500,00( —
Payment of revolving credit facility (414,77() (1,229,14) (296,14%)
Principal payments on debt (80) (125,03) —
Repurchases of company stock (65,220 — (25,70%)
Proceeds from share-based compensation plans 38,18: 27,45( 15,49:
Dividends paid (25,019 (18,37)) (16,399
Other 29€ — —
Excess tax benefits from share-based compensation 9,61( 2,137 57
Net cash provided by (used for) financing actistie (92,439 140,13¢ 254,24:
Effect of exchange-rate changes on cash (17,959 (2,002) 3,91¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equisalent 274,82: 63,27: (82,369
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 175,29 112,02¢ 194,38°
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 450,11¢  $ 17529:  $ 112,02¢
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash activities:
Capital expenditures incurred but not yet paid 2,891 4,54¢ 1,47¢
Recognition of asset retirement obligation — — 6,904
Property and equipment under build to suit transact 14,73 6,22t —

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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January 1, 2012

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Dividends paid

Restricted stock, net of tax

Stock options exercised, net of tax
Other

Share-based compensation
Repurchase of common stock
December 31, 2012

Net earnings

Other comprehensive income, net of tax
Dividends paid

Restricted stock, net of tax

Stock options exercised, net of tax
Other

Share-based compensation
December 31, 2013

Net earnings

Other comprehensive loss, net of tax
Dividends paid

Restricted stock, net of tax

Stock options exercised, net of tax
Other

Share-based compensation
Repurchase of common stock

December 31, 2014

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(In thousands)

Accumulated

Additional Other
Paid Retained Comprehensive

Common Stock in Capital Earnings Income (Loss) Treasury Stock
$ 4887¢ $ 14319: $ 1,163,920 $ (65,13) $ (85,89()
— — 113,84 — _

— — — 9,62% —

— — (16,397 — —

— (6,237) — — 6,23%

311 6,431 — — 10,071

— (414 — — 414

— 8,907 — — 521

— — — — (25,709

$ 49,19 $ 151,88: $ 1,261,37 $ (55,509 $ (94,35()
— — 137,98: — —

— — — 80,76 —

— — (18,377 — —

— (2,127 — — 5,79¢

— (5,729 — — 34,45!

— (330) — — 33C

— 6,92( — — 43C

$ 49,19 $ 150,61¢ $ 1,380,98 §$ 25,25¢ $ (53,349
— — 113,33¢ — —

— — — (153,670 —

— — (25,019 — —

— (722) — — 3,15¢

— 311 — — 45,04¢

— (430) — — 43C

— 8,26¢ — — 234

— — — — (65,220)

$ 49,19( $ 158,04: $ 1,469,300 $ (128,41) $ (69,69Y)

See notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Curtiss-Wright Corporation and its subsidiarie® (@orporation or the Company) is a diversified mational manufacturing and service company thaiges,
manufactures, and overhauls precision componendtprvides highly engineered products and sentiwéise aerospace, defense, automotive, shipbuilding
processing, oil, petrochemical, agricultural equipin railroad, power generation, security, and iwetking industries.

A. Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tweants of the Corporation and its majority-ownelsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and aot® have
been eliminated.

B. Use of Estimates

The financial statements of the Corporation havenl@epared in conformity with accounting princgptgenerally accepted in the United States of AragiitS.
GAAP), which requires management to make estimatdgudgments that affect the reported amountsétasliabilities, revenue, and expenses and digtoof
contingent assets and liabilities in the accompanfinancial statements. The most significant eSthestimates includes the estimate of costs tpleteriong-term
contracts under the percentage-of-completion adoupmethods, the estimate of useful lives for ertyg plant, and equipment, cash flow estimated @isetesting
the recoverability of assets, pension plan andretitment obligation assumptions, estimates feeritory obsolescence, estimates for the valuatidnuaeful lives
of intangible assets and legal reserves. Actualtemay differ from these estimates.

C. Revenue Recognition

The realization of revenue refers to the timing®fecognition in the accounts of the Corporaton is generally considered realized or realizahtearned when
the earnings process is substantially completeadired the following criteria are met: 1) persuasigvidence of an arrangement exists; 2) delivesydeaurred or
services have been rendered; 3) the Corporatioits fo its customer is fixed or determinable; dhdollectability is reasonably assured.

We determine the appropriate method by which wegeize revenue by analyzing the terms and conditigreach contract or arrangement entered into auith
customers. Revenue is recognized on product salpsduction units are shipped and title and ridkss have transferred. Revenue is recognizeeovice type
contracts as services are rendered. The signifestithates we make in recognizing revenue are pitinfar long-term contracts generally accounteddsing the
cost-toeost method of percentage of completion accourtiagare associated with the design, developmehtemnufacture of highly engineered industrial piis
used in commercial and defense applications. Utidecost-to-cost percentage-of-completion methaacobunting, profits are recorded pro rata, bages gurrent
estimates of direct and indirect costs to comeatsh contracts. Changes in estimates of contréed, sasts, and profits are recognized using theutative catchip
method of accounting. This method recognizes ircthveent period the cumulative effect of the change current and prior periods. The effect of thenges on
future periods of contract performance is recoghaeif the revised estimate had been the origistitinate. A significant change in an estimate aammore
contracts could have a material effect on the Qan’s consolidated financial position, resulfoperations, or cash flows. In 2014 and 2013 glvegre no
individual significant changes in estimated cort@sts at completion. In 2012, the Corporatiomuined unanticipated additional costs of $23.7 wnillon its long-
term contract with Westinghouse for disassemblgpéetion, and preparation for shipment costs mrlat¢he reactor coolant pumps (RCPs) that the @atjon is
supplying for the AP1000 nuclear power plants inn@hin addition, in 2012 the Corporation recordecmulative catch up benefit of $14.2 million tethto a
change in estimate on its technology transfer eshtsn the AP1000 nuclear program.

Losses on contracts are provided for in the pariaghich the losses become determinable and thessxaf billings over cost and estimated earningsiog-term
contracts is included in deferred revenue.

D. Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivalents consist of money market fundscantmercial paper that are readily convertible g@eh, all with original maturity dates of three riranor less.

E. Inventory
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Inventories are stated at lower of cost or mafRetduction costs are comprised of direct matenidllabor and applicable manufacturing overhead.
F. Progress Payments

Certain long-term contracts provide for interimlibiis as costs are incurred on the respective actstrPursuant to contract provisions, agencié¢iseot).S.
Government and other customers are granted tieesecured interest for materials and work-in-pgsdéecluded in inventory to the extent progressmenyts are
received. Accordingly, these receipts have beeorteg as a reduction of unbilled receivables andritories, as presented in Notes 4 and 5 to theddated
Financial Statements.

G. Property, Plant, and Equipment

Property, plant, and equipment are carried atlesstaccumulated depreciation. Major renewals atigtments are capitalized, while maintenance apdirs that
do not improve or extend the life of the assetexygensed in the period they are incurred. Depiiecig computed using the straight-line method tag®on the
estimated useful lives of the respective assets.

Average useful lives for property, plant, and equépt are as follows:

Buildings and improvements 5 to 40 years
Machinery, equipment, and other 3to 15 years

H. Intangible Assets

Intangible assets are generally the result of atipris and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, trademarks, aokinology
licenses. Intangible assets are amortized on igistsine basis over their estimated useful livehjch range from 1 to 20 years. See Note 8 to ihresGlidated
Financial Statements for further information onestimtangible assets.

I. Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

The Corporation reviews the recoverability of alig-lived assets, including the related usefuldjwehenever events or changes in circumstancesaiiedihat the
carrying amount of a long-lived asset might notémoverable. If required, the Corporation comp#nesestimated fair value determined by either tigiscounted
future net cash flows or appraised value to thatedl asset’s carrying value to determine whetterethas been an impairment. If an asset is corsidemaired, the
asset is written down to fair value in the perioavhich the impairment becomes known. The Corponatécognized no significant impairment chargeassets
held in use during the years ended December 34 20d December 31, 2013. For impairment chargessets held for sale, refer to Note 2, Discontinued
Operations and Assets Held for Sale. In 2012, & ation recognized an impairment of $5.0 milliorGeneral and administrative expenses, in conmeetith its
2012 restructuring plan, a component of which watng a facility.

J. Goodwill

Goodwill results from business acquisitions. Thep@eation accounts for business acquisitions ycating the purchase price to the tangible anchgitde assets
acquired and liabilities assumed. Assets acquinediabilities assumed are recorded at their falues, and the excess of the purchase price ogemtiounts
allocated is recorded as goodwill. The recoverghilf goodwill is subject to an annual impairmesgttor whenever an event occurs or circumstancegehthat
would more likely than not result in an impairmenie impairment test is based on the estimated/éire of the underlying businesses. The Corparatigoodwill
impairment test is performed as of October 31 ohegear. See Note 7 to the Consolidated Finantsé®ients for further information on goodwiill.

K. Pre-Contract Costs
The Corporation, from time to time, incurs costbégin fulfilling the statement of work under a eifie anticipated contract that has yet to be oigtdifrom a
customer. If it is determined that the recoveriethese costs are probable, the costs will be @iiged, excluding any start-up costs which are egpd as incurred.

When circumstances change and the contract isngeialeemed probable, the capitalized costs wiltbegnized in earnings. Capitalized pre-contrastwere
$2.7 million and $1.8 million at December 31, 2Ghd 2013 , respectively.
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L. Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Accounting guidance requires certain disclosurganding the fair value of financial instruments.elxo the short maturities of cash and cash equit@laccounts
receivable, accounts payable, and accrued expeahsaset book value of these financial instruméntieemed to approximate fair value. See Notesi98rto the
Consolidated Financial Statements for further imfation on the Corporation's financial instruments.

M. Research and Development

The Corporation funds research and developmentgnugfor commercial products and independent relseard development and bid and proposal work ekate
government contracts. Development costs includéergng and field support for new customer requiats. Corporation-sponsored research and devefdgpme
costs are expensed as incurred.

Research and development costs associated withncesisponsored programs are capitalized to invertiod are recorded in cost of sales when produets a
delivered or services performed. Funds receive@usiared development contracts are a reductitredbtal development expenditures under the staretlact
and are shown net as research and development costs

N. Accounting for Share-Based Payments

The Corporation follows the fair value based metbbdccounting for share-based employee compemsatioich requires the Corporation to expense altehase:
employee compensation. Share-based employee coatjgenis a non-cash expense since the Corporatities these obligations by issuing the sharesuatiss-
Wright Corporation instead of settling such obligas with cash payments.

Compensation expense for all non-qualified shatmog, performance shares, performance-basedatestishares, time-based restricted stock, andrpeafece-
based restricted stock units is recognized on @egrachedule over the requisite service periothentire award based on the grant date fair value

O. Income Taxes

The Corporation accounts for income taxes usin@#set and liability method. Under the asset aliy method, deferred tax assets and liabiliies recognized
for future tax consequences attributable to difiees between the financial statement carrying atsafrexisting assets and liabilities and theipessive tax bases.
The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities change in tax laws is recognized in the resfltsperations in the period the new laws are ethd valuation
allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying ansooitleferred tax assets unless it is more likedy tnot that such assets will be realized.

The Corporation records amounts related to unceit@bome tax positions by 1) prescribing a minim@mognition threshold a tax position is requiredniet befor:
being recognized in the financial statements arti&)neasurement of the income tax benefits rezedrirom such positions. The Corporation’s accogngiolicy
is to classify uncertain income tax positions @& not expected to be resolved in one year as-umoent income tax liability and to classify irget and penalties
as a component of Interest expense and Generaldamuhistrative expenses, respectively. See Note 12 Consolidated Financial Statements for furthe
information.

P. Foreign Currency

For operations outside the United States of Amdtiaaprepare financial statements in currencieeraghan the U.S. dollar, the Corporation translatesets and
liabilities at period-end exchange rates and incetatement amounts using weighted-average exchratggefor the period. The cumulative effect of station
adjustments is presented as a component of acctedudther comprehensive income (loss) within stotdkrs’ equity. This balance is affected by foretmmrency
exchange rate fluctuations and by the acquisitidoreign entities. Gains and (losses) from foreigmrency transactions are included in Generalaaimdinistrative
expenses within the results of operations, whicbuarted to $2.9 million , $2.6 million , and ($2r8jllion for the years ended December 31, 2014 32Cind 2012
respectively.

Q. Derivatives

Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Coaots:
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The Corporation uses financial instruments, sudiogrd exchange and currency option contracteetige a portion of existing and anticipated fareigrrency
denominated transactions. The purpose of the Catipats foreign currency risk management prograio iduce volatility in earnings caused by exclearage
fluctuations. All of the derivative financial ingtments are recorded at fair value based upon quadekiet prices for comparable instruments, withghi@ or loss on
these transactions recorded into earnings in theca which they occur. These gains and (losaes)lassified as General and administrative exgseinsthe
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and amount¢®6t8) million , ($6.2) million , and $0.9 milliofor the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 @@l 2
respectively. The Corporation does not use devigdtnancial instruments for trading or speculafgposes.

Interest Rate Risks and Related Strate

The Corporation’s primary interest rate exposuselts from changes in U.S. dollar interest ratége Torporation’s policy is to manage interest cssitg a mix of
fixed and variable rate debt. The Corporation pcially uses interest rate swaps to manage suabsaxgs. Under these interest rate swaps, the CGdimor
exchanges, at specified intervals, the differeretevben fixed and floating interest amounts caledldty reference to an agreed-upon notional priheipunt.

For interest rate swaps designated as fair valdgdse(i.e., hedges against the exposure to chamgfes fair value of an asset or a liability oridantified portion
thereof that is attributable to a particular risi#)anges in the fair value of the interest ratepswadfset changes in the fair value of the fixee debt due to changes
in market interest rates.

R. Recently Issued Accounting Standards

Standards Issued Not Yet Adopted

Effect on the financial

Standard Description statements

ASU 2014-09 Revenue In May 2014, the FASB issued a comprehensive ngenge recognition standard which will ~ The Corporation is currently

from contracts with supersede previous existing revenue recognitiotiegngie. The standard creates a five-step modelaluating the impact of the

customers for revenue recognition that requires companiesxarcise judgment when considering contract adoption of this standard on its
terms and relevant facts and circumstances. Tleestiep model includes (1) identifying the Consolidated Financial

Date of adoption: January tpntract, (2) identifying the separate performanigiégations in the contract, (3) determining the Statements.

2017 transaction price, (4) allocating the transactidoepto the separate performance obligations and (5

recognizing revenue when each performance obligdiis been satisfied. The standard also
requires expanded disclosures surrounding reveszagnition. The standard is effective for fiscal
periods beginning after December 15, 2016 and alfoweither full

retrospective or modified retrospective adoption.

ASU 2014-08 Reporting  In April 2014, new guidance was issued that amémelgurrent discontinued operations guidanc&he Corporation plans to adopt
Discontinued Operations The new guidance limits discontinued operation reépg to situations where the disposal repres#mésprovisions of the new
a strategic shift that has (or will have) a majibee on an entity's operations and financial ressul guidance during the first
Date of adoption: Decembemd requires expanded disclosures for discontiopedations. The adoption of this new guidanceguarter of 2015. The
15, 2014 will be effective prospectively for annual repodiperiods beginning after December 15, 2014 asidnificance of this guidance is
interim periods within those years, with early afitop permitted in certain instances. dependent on any future
divestitures or disposals.
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2. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS AND ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

As part of a strategic portfolio review conductad014, the Corporation has identified certain besses which it considers non-core. The Corporatiosiders
businesses non-core when the business’ produseraces do not complement its existing busineasdsvhere the long-term growth prospects are bttew
Corporation’s expectations. As part of this initiat the Corporation has divested four business@914. Additionally, during the third quarter @12, the
Corporation classified certain other businessdgefisfor sale. The results of operations of thasgriesses are reported as discontinued operatitima wur
Consolidated Statements of Earnings and prior ggerunts have been restated to conform to the duream presentation.

The aggregate financial results of all discontinapdrations were as follows:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Net sales $ 363,86¢ $ 392,69 $ 285,19:
Loss from discontinued operations before incomeséx (48,519 (3,09%) (14,930
Income tax benefit/(expense) 14,26¢ 1,67¢ 6,181
Gain/(loss) on sale of busines§gs (22,36() — 18,51:

Earnings from discontinued operations $ (56,61) $ 1,429 $ 9,76:

@1 oss from discontinued operations before incomegancludes approximately $41.4 million of held $ate impairment expense in the year ended DeceBibher

2014 .

@In the year ended December 31, 2014 , the Corporaticognized aggregate after tax losses of $2Rliémon the sale of the Benshaw, 3D, Upstream essels
business. No businesses were sold in 2013 . In 2812Corporation recognized an after tax gaifil#.5 million on the Heat Treat divestiture. Furttetails about

these transactions are described below.
Assets held for sa

During the third quarter of 2014, the Corporatiomenitted to a plan to sell two surface technolagatment facilities within the Commercial/Industsagment.

The Corporation also committed to a plan to selEhgineered Packaging business and its Aviati@u@ Support Equipment business, within the Defeesenen

as well as its Downstream refining business, withsnEnergy segment. As of December 31, 2014 ethaesinesses have been classified as held foasdltheir
results of operations have been presented as tiisged operations in the Consolidated StatemeBiaohings.

The aggregate components of the assets classffiedld for sale, are as follows:

(In thousands) December 31, 20:
Assets held for sale:
Receivables, net $ 60,18"
Inventories, net 27,41«
Property, plant, and equipment, net 22,47
Goodwill 42,39t
Other intangible assets, net 19,15:
Other assets 5,631
Deferred tax assets, net 11,17«
Reserve for assets held for sale (41,079
Total assets held for sale, current $ 147,34
Liabilities held for sale
Accounts payable $ 12,57¢
Accrued expenses 8,32(
Other current liabilities 13,93(
Other liabilities 563
Total liabilities held for sale, current $ 35,39:
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The following table outlines the net sales and iegsi(loss) before income taxes attributable toetsgets held for sale:

Net Sales Earnings /(loss) before income taxes

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Commercial/lndustrial

Surface Technologies - Domestic $ 439 % 467 $ 1,767 $ (2,269 $ (52¢) $ (319
Defense

Engineered Packaging 19,84: 19,48¢ 17,86: 1,827 85¢€ 1,16t

Aviation Ground Support Equipment 29,33: 28,02: 28,58t (8,649 (122) 27
Energy

Downstream 127,59« 109,27( 98,341 (32,289 (3,179 (12,389
Total included in discontinued operations $ 181,16: $ 16144t § 146,551 $ (41,370 $ (2967 § (11,51

As of December 31, 2014, the Corporation impaicedjtlived assets held for sale in the amount d &iillion , $6.2 million , $33.1 million for certaiDomestic
Surface Technologies facilities, the Corporatiofwgation Ground Support Equipment business, andbigoration’s Downstream refining business, respely.
Impairment charges have been included in the figatmve.

Divestitures and facility closure

During 2014 , the Corporation disposed of four basses aggregating to cash proceeds of $ 153mritien its Defense and Energy segments. The divessi
resulted in aggregate pre-tax losses in exces@®fifllion , and tax benefits of approximately $éillion . During 2014, the Corporation also clogbcee
international manufacturing facilities in its SuréaTechnologies business. During 2012, the Corjporaisposed of its Heat Treat business for $58anil The
following table outlines the net sales and earr{tagss) before income taxes attributable to disoored operations. Gains and losses recognizedninemtion with
the sale of the businesses have been includedéortinued operations on the Consolidated Stateafdfdarnings but have been excluded in the taldseprted
below.

Net Sales Earnings /(loss) before income taxes

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Commercial/lndustrial

Surface Technologies - International $ 4358 % 4,60 $ 424¢ $ (6,127 $ (805 $ (989

Heat Treat — — 10,78t — — 4,92¢
Defense

Benshaw 29,02¢ 70,74: 89,18: (3,067) 2,17¢ 5,97

3D Radar 344 5,16¢ 7,444 (1,117 21t 1,49:
Energy

Upstream 143,18 145,60¢ 9,33t 14,267 10,89¢ (2,090

Vessels 5,79¢ 5,127 17,64« (11,119 (12,61) (12,729
Total included in discontinued operations $ 182,70t $ 23124 $ 13863¢ $ (7,149 $ (130 $ (341

2014 Divestitures and facility closures

Surface Technologiesinternational

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Corporatitmsed certain of its international surface techgglmanufacturing facilities located in Canaddyltand Austria.
As a result of the facility closures, the Compamyuirred $5.3 million of pre-tax closure costs, urtthg a $3.2 millioimpairment on fixed assets, which are inclu
in the figures presented above. All operations l@ased at these facilities as of December 31,.2014

Benshaw
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On June 30, 2014 , the Corporation sold the as$éts Benshaw business, within our Defense segnemegal-Beloit Corporation for $49.7 million éash, net of
cash sold, and final working capital adjustmentse Torporation recognized a pre-tax loss on ditegstiof $7.3 million. The Corporation recognized a tax benef
$2.9 million in connection with the sale.

3D Radar

On April 30, 2014 , the Corporation sold the aseéthe 3D Radar business, within the Defense sagrteeChemring Group PLC for $2.4 million in caslet of
final working capital adjustments. The disposautes! in a $0.6 million pre-tax gain.

Upstream

On December 17, 2014 , the Corporation completeddhe of its upstream oil and gas business, wiki@rEnergy segment, for $98 million in cash, rfetash sold,
and final working capital adjustments. The Corporatecognized a pre-tax loss on divestiture of. $18illion . The Corporation recognized a tax bérf$0.6
million in connection with the sale.

Vessels

During the third quarter of 2014 , the Corporatimmpleted the sale of its Vessels business, wittérEnergy segment, for $2 million in cash, nerafisaction
costs. The Corporation recognized a pre-tax losdiwestiture of $8.6 million . The Corporation rgoized a tax benefit of $3.2 million in connectiwith the sale.

2012 Divestitures
Heat Treat

On March 30, 2012 , the Corporation sold the assedgeal estate of its heat treating busineshwid been reported in the Commercial/Industegirent, to
Bodycote plc for $52 million . The heat treatingsmess’ operating results are included in discerthoperations in the Corporation’s Consolidatede®tent of
Earnings for all periods presented. Discontinueeragions for the year ended December 31, 2012dedunet sales of $10.8 million and earnings befareme
taxes of $4.9 million , respectively. The Corparatrecognized a pre-tax gain of $29.9 million ii2@nd has recorded the gain in discontinued dpesafor the
year ended December 31, 2012 .

3. ACQUISITIONS

The Corporation continually evaluates potentialiésitjons that either strategically fit within ti@rporation’s existing portfolio or expand the Cangtion’s
portfolio into new product lines or adjacent maskeThe Corporation has completed a number of aitipuis that have been accounted for as businesbinations
and have resulted in the recognition of goodwiliia Corporation's financial statements. This gabdrises because the purchase prices for thesmésses refle:
the future earnings and cash flow potential in exa# the earnings and cash flows attributableéeéactrrent product and customer set at the time of

acquisition. Thus, goodwill inherently includeg tknow-how of the assembled workforce, the abditthe workforce to further improve the technol@nd product
offerings, and the expected cash flows resultiogifthese efforts. Goodwill may also include expgstgnergies resulting from the complementary sgiatét these
businesses bring to existing operations.

The Corporation allocates the purchase price adlaites of acquisition based upon its understandirigeofair value of the acquired assets and assuiatgtties. In
the months after closing, as the Corporation obtatfditional information about these assets amiitias, including through tangible and intangilalsset appraisals,
and as the Corporation learns more about the naegyired business, it is able to refine the esémaf fair value and more accurately allocate thehmse price.
Only items identified as of the acquisition date eonsidered for subsequent adjustment. The Catiporwill make appropriate adjustments to the pase price
allocation prior to completion of the measuremesriqa, as required.

In 2014, the Corporation acquired three businefssean aggregate purchase price of $34.4 millinat,of cash acquired, all of which are describedhane detail

below. In 2013, the Corporation acquired five basses for an aggregate purchase price of $ 23@idmminet of cash acquired, all of which are désed in more
detail below. In 2012, the Corporation acquirechelgusinesses for an aggregate purchase pricd@2.g million , net of cash acquired.

53




The Corporation’s Consolidated Statement of Eamiinglude $19.1 million of net sales and $0.2 willof net earnings from the Corporation’s 2014 &itjons.

The following table summarizes the estimated falugs of the assets acquired and liabilities asduahthe date of acquisition for all acquisitiomasummated
during 2014 , 2013, and 2012:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Accounts receivable $ 2,991 $ 2597 $ 53,75!
Inventory 304 30,93( 52,22t
Property, plant, and equipment 2,802 18,06¢ 40,91¢
Other current assets 81 3,22¢ 7,24¢
Intangible assets 13,50! 102,26! 182,68:
Current and non-current liabilities (1,759 (18,959 (44,61°)
Pension and postretirement benefits — (6,472) (8,149
Deferred income taxes (2,199 (19,68 (50,367
Debt assumed — — (23,819
Due to seller — (3,367 (240)
Net tangible and intangible assets 15,72¢ 131,98t 219,63
(Gain on Bargain Purchase) — — (910)
Purchase price 34,36¢ 236,13! 462,41¢
Goodwill $ 18,63¢ $ 104,14 243,69!

Supplemental Pro Forma Statements of Operations ®étnaudited)

The assets, liabilities, and results of operatwmfrtie businesses acquired in 2014 were not mhteriae Corporation’s consolidated financial piositor results of
operations and therefore pro forma financial infation for the acquisitions are not presented.

The following table presents unaudited consolidatedforma financial information for the combinegbults of the Corporation and its completed busines
acquisitions during the year ended December 313 208 2012 as if the 2013 acquisitions had occwredanuary 1, 2012 . Pro forma results were pusiyo
disclosed for the 2012 acquisitions as if the 28dQuisitions had occurred on January 1, 2011.

(In thousands, except per share data) 2013 2012

Net sales $ 2,184,71 $ 2,157,81!
Net earnings from continuing operations 143,96( 116,76¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio 3.04 2.4¢

The unaudited pro forma consolidated results wegpgred using the acquisition method of accourdimjare based on the historical financial infororafor a 12
month period. The unaudited pro forma consolida¢sdlts are not necessarily indicative of what@nsolidated results of operations actually wowldenbeen had
we completed the acquisitions on January 1, 20t 2ddition, the unaudited pro forma consolidatesllts do not purport to project the future rssaf operations «
the combined company nor do they reflect the exggetalization of any cost savings associated thiétacquisition. The unaudited pro forma consofidaesults
reflect primarily the following pro forma pre-taxjastments:

« Elimination of historical intangible asset anmation expense (approximately $0.7 million and&illion in 2013 and 2012respectively

« Additional amortization expense (approximatedy@million and $ 18.5 million in 2013 and 2012spectively) related to the fair value of idenbfi
intangible assets acquired.

» Additional depreciation expense (approximately2dmillion and $ 1.6 million in 2013 and 201&spectively) related to the fair value adjusttierproperty
plant, and equipment acquired.
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< Elimination of the fair value adjustments to @aisition-date inventory that has been sold in 26f183.7 million , and recognition in 2012 of thdlfualue of
the fair value adjustment to acquisition date inggn

* Reclassification of $2.1 million of the Corpaeat’'s 2013 acquisition costs directly attributatidethe acquisition into 2012. Included in thesetsase
advisory, investment banking, and legal and reguyatosts incurred by the Corporation. The Corponatecords acquisition costs in General and
administrative expenses.

«  Elimination of historical interest expense (appmately $0.6 million and $ 5.3 million in 2013chB012, respectively

* Additional interest expense (approximately $#iion and $ 16.5 million in 2013 and 2012 , resipeely) associated with the incremental borrowitteest
would have been incurred to acquire these compasie$ January 1, 2012 .

2014 Acquisitions

COMMERCIAL/INDUSTRIAL

Component Coating and Repair Services Limited

On January 10, 2014 , the Corporation acquired 160#te issued and outstanding capital stock of @mment Coating and Repair Services Limited (CCRS) f
approximately £15 million ( $25 million ) in caghet of cash acquired. The Share Purchase Agrearoetains a purchase price adjustment mechanism and
representations and warranties customary for aaaion of this type, including a portion of theghase price deposited into escrow as securitpdtential
indemnification claims against the sellers. CCR8rafes out of two locations in Glasgow and Alfreitothe United Kingdom and will operate within the
Corporation's Commercial/Industrial segment. CCRS provider of corrosion resistant coatings aedipion airfoil repair services for aerospace amtistrial
turbine applications. Revenues were approximatély fillion in the latest fiscal year ended May 2013.

ENERGY

Nuclear Power Services In

On February 18, 2014 , the Corporation acquirethteassets and assumed certain liabilities of &ardPower Services Inc. (NPSI) for approximatelyDCHAmillion
(approximately $8.0 million ) in cash. The Assetdhase Agreement contains representations andmi@saustomary for a transaction of this typeluding a
portion of the purchase price held back as sectoitpotential indemnification claims against tledler. NPSI is based in Ontario, Canada and wiflrafe within the
Corporation's Energy segment. NPSI provides gedlifiuclear component sourcing, Equipment QualiicatCommercial Grade Dedication (CGD) servicesl, an
Instrumentation & Control component manufacturimignarily to the Canadian and International CANDWlmar industry. NPSI generated revenues of
approximately CAD 5 million for the year ended Dextxer 31, 2013.

Engemasa Pressure Relief Valves

On June 4, 2014 , the Corporation acquired theavdivision of Engemasa Engenharia E Materiais LTdd/Sao Carlos, Brazil
for approximately $1.8 million in cash. The divisiwill operate within the Corporation's Energy segim

The purchase price of the 2014 acquisitions haea b#ocated to the net tangible and intangibletasscquired with the remainder recorded as gobdwithe basis
of estimated fair values. The following table sumizes the purchase price allocations for CCRS aR8IN
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(In thousands) CCRS NPSI

Accounts receivable $ 2,98 % 7
Inventory 64 112
Property, plant, and equipment 1,98 79C
Other current assets 71 1C
Intangible assets 9,56( 3,40¢
Current and non-current liabilities (1,759 —
Deferred income taxes (2,049 —
Net tangible and intangible assets 10,87: 4,32¢
Purchase price 24.,64¢ 7,96¢
Goodwill $ 13,77:  $ 3,64(
Amount of tax deductible goodwill $ — % 3,64(

2013 Acquisitions

COMMERCIAL/INDUSTRIAL

Phénix Group

On February 28, 2013, the Corporation acquirethelloutstanding shares of Phonix Holding GmbH®7.9 million, net of cash acquired. The Share Purchas
Transfer Agreement contains a purchase price ad@rgtmechanism and representations and warranissnsary for a transaction of this type, includigortion
of the purchase price deposited into escrow agisgfor potential indemnification claims againketseller. Management funded the purchase from the
Corporation’s revolving credit facility and excesssh at foreign locations.

Phonix, headquartered in Germany, is a designemamiifacturer of valves, valve systems, and relsiggort services to the global chemical, petroét&imand
power (both conventional and nuclear) markets. nBhifias 282 employees and operates Phonix Valveslkmarsen, Germany; Strack, located in Barleben,
Germany; and Daume Control Valves, located in HanoB8ermany. Phonix also owns sales subsidiarigswarehouses in Texas and France. Revenues of the
acquired business were approximately $60 milliarilie year ended 2012.

Arens Controls

On October 4, 2013 , the Corporation acquired 100%e membership interests of Arens Controls, [(A@ns) for $ 95.6 million in cash, net of purchgsice
adjustments and cash acquired. The Purchase Agnéeorgains customary representations and warsrtieluding a portion of the purchase price depdsinto
escrow as security for potential indemnificatioails against the seller. Management funded thehpaecfrom the Corporation’s revolving credit fagili

Arens is a designer and manufacturer of highly+eeefied, precision operator interface controls avaep management systems for commercial and off-road
industrial vehicles. Arens has approximately &Bployees and is headquartered in Arlington Hejgdhitsois. Revenues of the acquired business vaprroximatel
$ 57 million for the year ended 2012.

DEFENSE

Parvus

On October 1, 2013 , the Corporation acquired 100%e share capital of Parvus Corporation (Parfars$37.1 million in cash, net of cash acquir€de Stock
Purchase Agreement contains customary represergaticd warranties, including a portion of the pasehprice deposited into escrow as security feeryiat
indemnification claims against the seller. Manageinfiended the purchase from the Corporation’s néagl credit facility.

Parvus is a designer and manufacturer of rugged foma factor computers and communications sulesystfor the aerospace, defense, homeland seauriy,

industrial markets. Parvus has approximately 50leyegs and is headquartered in Salt Lake City, URalvenues of the acquired business were approaiyr20
million for the year ended 2012.
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ENERGY

Other

During 2013, the Corporation acquired the asse@walpath, Inc and Gulff33 Valve Pros, LLC througlo separate transactions for a purchase price2d #illion
and $ 3.3 million respectively. The Asset Purch&geements contain representations and warrantgemary for a transaction of this type, includangortion of

the purchase price held back as security for pateéntiemnification claims against the seller. @path has developed a proprietary software platiatitizing mobile
technology to enable applications that provideiicant efficiencies within a nuclear plant. GulfgBvides valve repair and maintenance servicéisetoffshore oil

and gas market.

The purchase price of the 2013 acquisitions haea b#ocated to the net tangible and intangibletasscquired with the remainder recorded as gobdwithe basis
of estimated fair values. Immaterial purchase padieistments were made during 2014 to certaine2@13 acquisitions and are included in the adieesion

herein:

(In thousands) Phonix Arens Parvus Other Total
Accounts receivable $ 12,22¢ $ 9,441 3,63¢ 66€ 25,97:
Inventory 20,35¢ 5,34¢ 5,12z 101 30,93(
Property, plant, and equipment 12,57¢ 4,781 43t 26¢ 18,06¢
Other current assets 2,15t 972 104 — 3,22¢
Intangible assets 42,30¢ 43,10( 15,00( 1,86( 102,26!
Current and non-current liabilities (7,495) (7,99)) (3,859 38z (18,959
Pension and postretirement benefits (6,477) — — — (6,477)
Deferred income taxes (14,259 94 (5,519 — (19,687
Due to seller (119) — (230) (3,017 (3,36))
Net tangible and intangible assets 61,27: 55,75: 14,69¢ 267 131,98t
Purchase price 97,88t 95,61: 37,05¢ 5,57¢ 236,13!
Goodwill $ 36,61 $ 39,86( 22,36 5,311 104,14
Amount of tax deductible goodwill $ — % 39,86( — 5,311 45,17
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4. RECEIVABLES

Receivables include current notes, amounts bibetistomers, claims, other receivables, and unhilgenue on long-term contracts, which consisemudunts
recognized as sales but not billed. Substantidilgmaounts of unbilled receivables are expectedetdilled and collected in the subsequent yearinfnaterial
amount of unbilled receivables are subject to neige provisions. The amount of claims and unapjpret@nge orders within our receivables balances are
immaterial.

Credit risk is diversified due to the large numbgentities comprising the Corporation’s customasdand their geographic dispersion. The Corporadieither a
prime contractor or subcontractor to various agenof the U.S. Government. Revenues derived djraatd indirectly from government sources (primatilg U.S.
Government) were 33% and 34% of consolidated ree®imu2014 and 2013 , respectively. Total recegsbue primarily from the U.S Government were $457.
million and $205.1 million at December 31, 2014 20d 3 , respectively. Government (primarily the Us®vernment) unbilled receivables, net of progress
payments, were $72.9 million and $82.5 million &Bmber 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

The composition of receivables is as follows aBe¢ember 31.:

(In thousands) 2014 2013

Billed receivables:

Trade and other receivables $ 363,24: $ 444,84
Less: Allowance for doubtful accounts (5,619 (6,857%)

Net billed receivables 357,62: 437,98

Unbilled receivables:

Recoverable costs and estimated earnings not billed 150,52t 184,12(
Less: Progress payments applied (12,66¢) (18,517)

Net unbilled receivables 137,85¢ 165,60!

Receivables, net $ 49548( $ 603,59:

5. INVENTORIES

Inventoried costs contain amounts relating to Iterga contracts and programs with long productioties; a portion of which will not be realized wittone
year. Long term contract inventory includes an irterial amount of claims or other similar items sdbjto uncertainty concerning their determinationealization.
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or rearkhe composition of inventories as of Decemleis3s follows:

(In thousands) 2014 2013
Raw material $ 201,99¢ $ 231,21
Work-in-process 89,42: 114,37:
Finished goods 103,83: 117,44
Inventoried costs related to U.S. Government ahdrdbng-term contracts 59,07( 58,79¢
Gross inventories 454,32 521,83:
Less: Inventory reserves (51,439 (54,400
Progress payments applied, principally relate@dbgiterm contracts (14,21°) (15,349
Inventories, net $ 388,67( $ 452,08

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, inventory aistudes capitalized contract development cost88f3%million and $37.1 million respectively, related to cert:
aerospace and defense programs. These capitatigedvaill be liquidated as production units areévdbd to the customer. As of December 31, 20142018 $7.2
million and $13.8 million , respectively, are schidl to be liquidated under existing firm orders.

6. PROPERTY, PLANT, AND EQUIPMENT
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The composition of property, plant, and equipmeras follows as of December 31.

(In thousands) 2014 2013
Land 21,76: $ 24,25(
Buildings and improvements 219,21¢ 218,55:
Machinery, equipment, and other 750,00¢ 800,57:
Property, plant, and equipment, at cost 990,98° 1,043,37.
Less: Accumulated depreciation (532,06¢) (527,651)
Property, plant, and equipment, net $ 45891¢ $ 515,71

Depreciation expense from continuing operationgHeryears ended December 31, 2014 , 2013, argl\@84 $66.6 million , $63.2 million , and $55.2lroih ,
respectively.

7. GOODWILL

In connection with the change in reportable segmédiscussed in Note 18, we reallocated the goodlwatl existed as of December 31, 2012 to our ngmsats on
a relative fair value basis.

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwillZ6£4 and 2013 are as follows:

(In thousands) Commercial/Industrie Defense Energy Consolidated
December 31, 2012 $ 27324 % 467,91 $ 272,13t $ 1,013,300
Acquisitions 76,10¢ 22,61t 5,311 104,03«
Goodwill adjustments (3,169 — 42¢ (2,73%)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1,62¢ (5,109 (697) (4,17¢)
December 31, 2013 $ 347,81¢ $ 485,43 $ 277,17¢  $ 1,110,42!
Acquisitions $ 13,770 $ — 3 4,86 $ 18,63¢
Assets held for sale — (6,52%) (35,87() (42,395
Divestitures — (11,69 (43,66() (55,35%)
Goodwill adjustments (2,09¢) (254) — (1,350
Foreign currency translation adjustment (9,639 (20,21°) (1,60¢) (31,459
December 31, 2014 $ 350,86: $ 446,74 $ 200,90: $ 998,50t

The purchase price allocations relating to therrssies acquired are initially based on estimates Cbrporation adjusts these estimates based umdahalysis
including input from third party appraisals, wheseched appropriate. The determination of fair v@uaalized no later than twelve months from asdion.
Goodwill adjustments represent subsequent adjussniethe purchase price allocation for acquisgtiaa determined by the respective accounting goé&an
requirements based on the date of acquisition.

During 2014 , the Corporation finalized the allésatof the purchase price for all businesses aequarior to 2014 The adjustments to the Corporation's purc
price allocation were not material.

The Corporation completed its annual goodwill innpegnt testing as of October 31, 2014 , 2013 , &i® 2nd concluded that there wasmpairment of value. TF
estimated fair value of the reporting units subissdip exceeded the recorded book value.

8. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET

Intangible assets are generally the result of adtipris and consist primarily of purchased techggl@ustomer related intangibles, and trademarkangible assets
are amortized over useful lives that generally eslngtween 1 and 20 years.
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The following table summarizes the intangible assetjuired (including their weighted-average uskefak) by the Corporation during 2014 and 20N indefinite
lived intangible assets were acquired in 2014 4320

2014 2013
(In thousands, except years data) Amount Years Amount Years
Technology $ 10C 50 $ 21,10: 135
Customer related intangibles 13,20( 13.6 73,14¢ 16.9
Other intangible assets 20C 1.0 8,50¢ 3.3
Total $ 13,50( 133 $ 102,75 15.1

The following tables present the cumulative comgpasiof the Corporation’s intangible assets as e€&nber 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respactivel

2014 2013
Accumulated Accumulated
(In thousands) Gross Amortization Net Gross Amortization Net
Technology $ 178,36¢ $ (84,589 $ 93,788 ¢ 21388¢ $ (88,649 $ 125,24
Customer related intangibles 356,84« (122,92() 233,92: 430,60 (127,19 303,41(
Other intangible assets 38,46( (16,947 21,51¢ 66,43¢ (23,717) 42,72¢
Total $ 57367 $ (224,449 $ 349,227 $ 710,92t $ (239,549) &  471,37¢

Amortization expense from continuing operationstfar years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013, arf@&e $38.3 million , $39.0 million , and $24.9lian ,
respectively. The estimated future amortizationezge of intangible assets over the next five yisaas follows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 34,76¢
2016 34,26
2017 33,77¢
2018 32,68(
2019 30,84¢
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9. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Forward Foreign Exchange and Currency Option Coots:

The Corporation has foreign currency exposure piiyna the United Kingdom, Europe, and Canada.e Torporation uses financial instruments, suctoasaird
and option contracts, to hedge a portion of exgstind anticipated foreign currency denominatedstxetions. The purpose of the Corporation’s foreigmency risk
management program is to reduce volatility in eagsicaused by exchange rate fluctuations. Guidameecounting for derivative instruments and heggi
activities requires companies to recognize alhefderivative financial instruments as either aseetiabilities at fair value in the Consolidatdlance Sheets.

Interest Rate Risks and Related Strate

The Corporation’s primary interest rate exposuselts from changes in U.S. dollar interest ratége Torporation’s policy is to manage interest cssitg a mix of
fixed and variable rate debt. The Corporation pcially uses interest rate swaps to manage suabsaxgs. Under these interest rate swaps, the CGdimor
exchanges, at specified intervals, the differereteveen fixed and floating interest amounts caledldty reference to an agreed-upon notional priheipeunt.

For interest rate swaps designated as fair valdgds(i.e., hedges against the exposure to chamgfes fair value of an asset or a liability oridantified portion
thereof that is attributable to a particular rig)anges in the fair value of the interest ratepswadfset changes in the fair value of the fixee debt due to changes
in market interest rates.

In March 2013, the Corporation entered into fixedlbating interest rate swap agreements to corthierinterest payments of (i) the $100 million8=s6notes, du
February 26, 2025 , from a fixed rate to a floaiintgrest rate based on 1-Month LIBOR plus a 1.8p¥&ad, and (ii) the $75 million , 4.05% notes, Babruary 2¢
2028, from a fixed rate to a floating intereserbfised on 1-Month LIBOR plus a 1.73% spread.

In January 2012, the Corporation entered into fitkefloating interest rate swap agreements to cdrifie interest payments of (i) the $200 millich24%notes, du
December 1, 2026 , from a fixed rate to a floatimgrest rate based on 1-Month LIBOR plus a 2.0p%ad, and (ii) $25 million of the $100 million .83% notes,
due December 1, 2021 , from a fixed rate to aifbgainterest rate based on 1-Month LIBOR plus &% %pread.

The notional amounts of the Corporation’s outstagdinterest rate swaps designated as fair valugdsedere $400 million at December 31, 2014 and Déee 31,
2013.

The fair value accounting guidance requires thsetasand liabilities carried at fair value be dféexs and disclosed in one of the following thregegories:

Level 1: Quoted market prices in active marketddentical assets or liabilities that the compaay the ability to access.

Level 2: Observable market based inputs or unobbésinputs that are corroborated by market dath as quoted prices, interest rates, and yieldesurv

Level 3: Inputs are unobservable data points tfehat corroborated by market data.

Based upon the fair value hierarchy, all of theviand foreign exchange contracts and interest radgs are valued at a Level 2.

Effects on Consolidated Balance She

The location and amounts of derivative instrumairtfalues in the consolidated balance sheet dosvbe
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December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013
Assets
Undesignated for hedge accounting

Forward exchange contracts $ 60 $ 60¢
Total asset derivative® $ 60t $ 60%
Liabilities
Designated for hedge accounting

Interest rate swaps $ 5121 $ 49,84*
Undesignated for hedge accounting

Forward exchange contracts $ 67¢ $ 271
Total liability derivatived? $ 5797 $ 50,12:

MForward exchange derivatives are included in Otherent assets and interest rate swap assetsciuded in Other assets.
@Forward exchange derivatives are included in Otberent liabilities and interest rate swap liat#btare included in Other liabilities.
Effects on Consolidated Statements of Earn

Fair value hedgt

The location and amount of gains or losses on ¢ugéd fixed rate debt attributable to changesémtharket interest rates and the offsetting gaissflon the relats
interest rate swaps for the years ended Decembeve3¢ as follows:

Gain/(Loss) on Swap Gain/(Loss) on Borrowings
(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Income statement classification:
Other income (loss), net $ 44,72:  $  (49,84) $ (742) $ (44729 $ 49,84F $ 74z

Undesignated hedges

The location and amount of gains and (losses) rézed in income on forward exchange derivative @mis not designated for hedge accounting for #zesyende
December 31, were as follows:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Forward exchange contracts:

General and administrative expenses $ (6,880 $ (6,19¢) $ 88:
Debt

The estimated fair value amounts were determinethidyorporation using available market informatiwhich is primarily based on quoted market priceghe
same or similar issues as of December 31, 2014 faihvalue of our debt instruments are charazeras a Level 2 measurement in accordance witlaithealue
hierarchy. The estimated fair values of the Corfionés fixed rate debt instruments at December2Bl4 , aggregated $959 million compared to a aagryalue of
$945 million . The estimated fair values of the @oation’s fixed rate debt instruments at Decen®ier2013 , aggregated $887 millioompared to a carrying val
of $900 million .

The carrying amount of the variable interest raltdpproximates fair value because the interéss eze reset periodically to reflect current madkaditions.

The fair values described above may not be indieatf net realizable value or reflective of futfmé values. Furthermore, the use of different rodtiogies to
determine the fair value of certain financial instients could result in a different estimate of failue at the reporting date.

Nonrecurring measuremer
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As discussed in Note 2. Discontinued Operations/ssits Held For Sale, the Corporation classifexthin businesses as held for sale during the thiedter. In
accordance with the provisions of the ImpairmerD@posal of Long-Lived Assets guidance of FASB {fiodtion Subtopic 360-10, the carrying amountio# t
disposal groups were written down to their estimidiéér value, less costs to sell. For the year dridecember 31, 2014, an impairment charge of $alllibn was
recorded in loss from discontinued operations. fiirevalue of the disposal groups were determin@uarily by using non-binding quotes. In accordandén the
fair value hierarchy, the impairment charges reedrdere classified as a Level 3 measurement abé#ded on significant other unobservable inputs.

10. ACCRUED EXPENSES AND OTHER CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accrued expenses consist of the following as ofeDewer 31:

(In thousands) 2014 2013

Accrued compensation $ 88,79: $ 88,10¢
Accrued commissions 10,78 12,83¢
Accrued interest 9,68¢ 9,73(
Accrued insurance 6,757 4,88t
Accrued 401K 7,05( —
Other 22,867 27,37¢
Total accrued expenses $ 145,93¢ $ 142,93!

Other current liabilities consist of the followilag of December 31:

(In thousands) 2014 2013

Warranty reserves $ 15,68¢ $ 15,91«
Additional amounts due to sellers on acquisitions 1,73¢ 5,25(
Reserves on loss contracts 2,97¢ 4,067
Deferred tax liability 2,44¢ 3,17¢
Pension and other postretirement liabilities 5,12( 4,28(
Other 10,18¢ 5,56¢
Total other current liabilities $ 38,16: $ 38,25

11. RESTRUCTURING ACTIVITIES

The Corporation did not have any material restniroguinitiatives in 2014 and 2013.

2012 Restructuring Initiative

The Corporation focuses on being the low-cost mlenof its products by reducing operating costsiemplementing lean manufacturing initiatives, whiwe in
part led to the involuntary termination of certpivsitions and the consolidation of facilities amdduct lines.

During the year ended 2012, the Corporation reabrdstructuring costs by segment as follows:
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(In thousands) Commercial/Industrial Defense Energy Consolidated

Cost of sales $ 7,41 % 3227 $ 136 $ 10,77¢
Selling expenses — 417 13 43C
General and administrative 5,03: 2,46: 497 7,99:
Total $ 12,44¢ % 6,107 $ 64¢ $ 19,20:

During 2012, the Corporation committed to a planestructure existing operations through a redadtiovorkforce and consolidation of operating lomas. The
plan impacted all three of the Corporation’s reglole segments and resulted in costs incurred ofiilli®n . In the Commercial/Industrial segmenfstrecturing
costs of $7 million , were primarily for severarared benefits costs and $5 million of non-cash dosta fixed asset writdown due to the ceased use of an oper
facility. In the Defense and Energy segments, nesiring costs of $6 million and $1 million , respieely, were primarily for severance and benefi$ts associated
with headcount reductions.

The Corporation has completed its restructuringyitiets under the 2012 restructuring plan.

The following table summarizes the cash compongfittse Corporation’s restructuring plans. Accruestructuring costs are included in Other curretilities in
the accompanying balance sheet.

Severance and Abandonment

(In thousands) Benefits of facility costs Total

December 31, 2012 $ 1,02 $ 6,106 $ 7,12¢

Provisions — — —

Payments (774 (5,519 (6,297%)

Adjustments (24¢) (587) (837)

December 31, 2013 $ — % — —

12. INCOME TAXES

Earnings before income taxes for the years endedmbier 31 consist of:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Domestic $ 120,56: $ 105,18¢ $ 80,47¢
Foreign 126,38: 95,86: 74,74¢

$ 246,94: $ 201,05( $ 155,22:

The provision for income taxes for the years eridedember 31 consists of:
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(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Current:

Federal $ 70,60¢ $ 29,320 % 27,88
State 9,06t 5,62¢ 5,46t
Foreign 33,40: 20,80° 21,36¢
113,07! 55,75¢ 54,71¢

Deferred:
Federal (29,469 7,98: 75¢
State (1,275 644 (1,129
Foreign (5,070 (802) (5,179
(35,819 7,82¢ (5,536
Valuation allowance (26€) (1,937) 1,96(
Provision for income taxes $ 76,998 $ 61,64t $ 51,14(

The effective tax rate varies from the U.S. fedstalutory tax rate for the years ended Decembepraicipally:

2014 2013 2012

U.S. federal statutory tax rate 35.(% 35.C% 35.C%
Add (deduct):

State and local taxes, net of federal benefit 2.4 1.€ 1.7
R&D tax credits (1.9 (1.5 0.9)
Foreign earning® (4.9 (3.7 (3.0
All other, net (0.5) (0.9 0.1
Effective tax rate 31.2% 30.7% 32.£%

M Foreign earnings primarily include the net impdatifferences between local statutory rates and k& Federal statutory rate, the cost of repatddoreign
earnings, and the impact of changes to foreignataln allowances.

The components of the Corporation’s deferred tartasand liabilities at December 31 are as follows:
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(In thousands) 2014 2013
Deferred tax assets:

Capital loss carryover $ 17,55 $ —
Environmental reserves 10,12: 9,91:
Inventories 18,49¢ 20,197
Postretirement/postemployment benefits 13,32¢ 12,64:
Incentive compensation 16,14( 6,72
Accrued vacation pay 4,96¢ 5,74¢
Warranty reserves 4,33( 5,07:
Share-based payments 4,42: 7,71¢
Pension plans 84,49 43,68¢
Net operating loss 8,90¢ 9,82¢
Other 12,60¢ 14,79:
Total deferred tax assets 195,37: 136,31°
Deferred tax liabilities:
Undistributed earnings 7,84( 4,077
Depreciation 33,117 52,24:
Goodwill amortization 74,55¢ 65,64«
Other intangible amortization 62,77 81,63¢
Other 1,612 4,11¢
Total deferred tax liabilities 179,90: 207,71¢
Valuation allowance 23,47¢ 6,321
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) $ (8,000 $ (77,720

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are reflectethe Corporation’s consolidated balance sheeteatmber 31 as follows:

(In thousands) 2014 2013

Net current deferred tax assets $ 4431 $ 47,65(
Net current deferred tax liabilities 2,44¢ 3,17t
Net noncurrent deferred tax assets 1,68: 1,44¢
Net noncurrent deferred tax liabilities 51,55¢ 123,64«
Net deferred tax assets/(liabilities) $ (8,009 $ (77,720

The Corporation has income tax net operating lass/forwards related to international operationsypproximately $26.4 million of which $16.4 millidrave a
indefinite life and $10.0 million expire through2®. The Corporation has federal and state inca@xenét loss carryforwards of approximately $68.7iom , of
which $21.0 million are net operating losses whegpire through 2034 and $47.7 million are capitakl carryforwards which expire in 201%he Corporation hi
recorded a deferred tax asset of $26.5 milliorentifihg the benefit of the loss carryforwards.

Management assesses the available positive antiveegaidence to estimate if sufficient future tabeincome will be generated to utilize the exigtideferred tax
assets. A significant piece of objective negatividence evaluated was the cumulative loss incusied the three-year period ended December 31, 20ddrtain of
the Corporation’s foreign locations. Such objectwvélence limits the ability to consider other sdbive evidence such as projections for future ¢ginoWwhe
Corporation increased its valuation allowance by.$illion , to $23.5 million , as of December 2D14 , in order to measure only the portion ofdbferred tax
asset that more likely than not will be realizedeValuation allowance increased $17.6 millwimcipally as a result of the tax benefit ass@dawith the capital lo:
carryforward incurred from the sale of its discan#d operations offset by various minor activitilse amount of the deferred tax asset considesditable,
however, could be adjusted if estimates of futaxalle income during the carryforward period aceiced or if objective negative evidence in the fafm
cumulative losses is no longer present and additimeight may be given to subjective evidence sashrojections for growth.

Income tax payments of $35.0 million were made(h4£, $69.4 million in 2013 , and $42.7 million2012 .
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The amount of undistributed foreign subsidiariemie@s considered to be permanently reinvested/foch no provision has been made for U.S. federém@ign

taxes at December 31, 2014 was $295.2 milliors. bt practicable to estimate the amount of tax Would be payable if these amounts were repattitt the
United States; however, foreign tax credits mayiality offset any tax liability.

The Corporation has recognized a liability in Otlibilities for interest of $1.7 million and petiak of $1.1 million as of December 31, 2014 .

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoofninrecognized tax benefits is as follows:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Balance at January 1, $ 10,62: $ 11,30 $ 5,76¢
Additions for tax positions of prior periods 1,421 1,511 4,591
Additions for tax positions related to the currgear 1,73¢ 1,76¢ 1,01¢
Settlements (2,039 (3,86¢) (59)
Lapses of statute of limitations (41) (140 (28)
Foreign currency translation (142) 3
Balance at December 31, $ 11,56( $ 10,62¢ $ 11,30:

In many cases the Corporation’s uncertain tax jpositare related to tax years that remain subjeexamination by tax authorities.

The following describes the open tax years, by majojurisdiction, as of December 31, 2014 :

United States (Federal)
United States (Various states)
United Kingdom

Canada

2011
1998
2007
2008

present
- present
present
- present

The Corporation does not expect any significanhgea to the estimated amount of liability assodiatih its uncertain tax positions through the rewlve

months. Included in the total unrecognized tax lienat December 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 is 88lltbn , $7.6 million , and $9.0 millionrespectively, which,

recognized, would favorably affect the effectivedme tax rate.

13. DEBT

Debt consists of the following as of December 31:

(In thousands) 2014 2014 2013 2013
Estimated Fair Estimated Fair

Carrying Value Value Carrying Value Value
Industrial revenue bond, due 2023 $ 8,40( 8,40 $ 8,40( 8,40(
Revolving credit agreement, due 2019 — — 50,00( 50,00(
5.51% Senior notes due 2017 150,00( 162,61 150,00( 163,05¢
3.84% Senior notes due 2021 99,93 99,93« 98,63: 98,63:
3.70% Senior notes due 2023 225,00( 225,74¢ 225,00( 209,14(
3.85% Senior notes due 2025 98,36( 98,36( 88,55t 88,55¢
4.24% Senior notes due 2026 197,23 197,23 173,55 173,55
4.05% Senior notes due 2028 74,34¢ 74,34¢ 64,41 64,41:
4.11% Senior notes due 2028 100,00( 100,80: 100,00( 89,25
Other debt 1,06¢ 1,06¢ 1,38: 1,38¢
Total debt 954,34¢ 968,51« 959,93 946,38¢
Less: current portion of long-term debt and shentrt debt 1,06¢ 1,06¢ 1,33¢ 1,33¢
Total long-term debt $ 953,27¢ 967,44" $ 958,60: 945,05!
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The weighted-average interest rate of the CorpmraiRevolving Credit Agreement was 1.7% in 2014 2013 .

The debt outstanding had fixed and variable intestss averaging 3% during the year ended Dece81het014 .

Aggregate maturities of debt are as follows:

(In thousands)

2015 $ 1,06¢
2016 —
2017 150,00(
2018 —
2019 —
Thereafter 803,27
Total $ 954,34¢

Interest payments of $33 million , $31 million de®24 million were made in 2014 , 2013 , and 20&&pectively.

Revolving Credit Agreeme

In August 2012 , the Corporation refinanced itseng credit facility by entering into a Third Anded and Restated Credit Agreement (Credit Agreemtit a
syndicate of financial institutions, led by Bank4&herica N.A., Wells Fargo, N.A, and JP Morgan GhBsnk, N.A. The proceeds available under the €redi
Agreement are to be used for working capital, maegrowth initiatives, funding of future acquisitis, and general corporate purposes. Under the &frithe Credit
Agreement, the Corporation has borrowing capadiy560 million. In addition, the Credit Agreement provides aroagdion feature which allows the Corporatior
borrow an additional $100 million . As of Decemi3dr, 2014 , the Corporation had $54 million in lettef credit supported by the credit facility araborrowings
outstanding under the credit facility. As of DecemnB1, 2014, letters of credit outstanding relatediscontinuing operations was $9 million . Theised credit
available under the credit facility at December 2114 was $446 million , which we had the abili@ybbrrow in full without violating our debt to caalization
covenant.

In December, 2014, the Corporation amended itdiegisredit facility by entering into a Second Ardement to the Third Amended and Restated Credit égent
(Credit Agreement) with a syndicate of financiatitutions, led by Bank of America N.A., Wells FardN.A, and JP Morgan Chase Bank, N.A. the amentimen
extends the maturity date of the agreement to Nbeen2019. No other material modifications were enalthe 2012 Credit Agreement.

The Credit Agreement contains covenants that thpdgation considers usual and customary for anemgeat of this type for comparable commercial boexsy
including a maximum consolidated debt to capitaiiraratio of 60%. The Credit Agreement has custgnezents of default, such as non-payment of goaloivhen
due; nonpayment of interest, fees, or other amponiss-payment default and cross-acceleration.

Borrowings under the credit agreement will accnierest based on (i) Libor or (i) a base rateheftiighest of (a) the federal funds rate plus 0&)BofA’s
announced prime rate, or (c) the Eurocurrencyphte 1%, plus a margin. The interest rate and lef/&cility fees are dependent on certain finahatios, as
defined in the Credit Agreement. The Credit Agreenadso provides customary fees, including admiaiste agent and commitment fees. In connectioh thie
Credit Agreement, we paid customary transaction feat have been deferred and are being amortizadioe term of the Credit Agreement.

Senior Notes

On February 26, 2013 , the Corporation issued $8illibn of Senior Notes (the “2013 Notes”). Thel20Notes consist of $225 million of 3.70% Seniotdéothat
mature on February 26, 2023 , $100 million of 3.85&fior Notes that mature on February 26, 2028 $&5 million of 4.05% Senior Notes that mature on
February 26, 2028 . $100 million of additiondl¥6 Senior Notes were deferred and subsequentigdssn September 26, 2013 that mature on Septe2iber
2028 . The 2013 Notes are senior unsecured oldigatequal in right of payment to the Corporati@xisting senior indebtedness. The Corporatioits atption,
can prepay at any time all or any part of the 28b&s, subject to a make-whole payment in accoelaiih the terms of the Note Purchase Agreement. |
connection with the issuance of the 2013 NotesCi@oration paid customary fees that have beegrigef and are being amortized over the term o218 Notes
Under the terms of the Note Purchase AgreemenCdingoration is required to maintain certain finahcatios, the most restrictive of which is a debt
capitalization limit of 60% The debt to capitalization ratio (as definedtherNotes Purchase Agreement and Credit Agreerisecdjculated using the same form
for all of the Corporation’s debt agreements araliseasure of the
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Corporation’s indebtedness to capitalization, wheygitalization equals debt plus equity. The Coafion had the ability to borrow additional debt$df2 billion
without violating our debt to capitalization covahalhe 2013 Notes also contain a cross defaultigion with respect to the Corporation’s other seni
indebtedness.

On December 8, 2011 , the Corporation issued $3Di@mof Senior Notes (the “2011 Notes”). The 204ates consist of $100 million of 3.84% Senior Notieat
mature on December 1, 2021 and $200 million of % &knior Series Notes that mature on December2f 20he 2011 Notes are senior unsecured obligation
equal in right of payment to our existing seniatébtedness. The Corporation, at its option, capgyrat any time all or any part of our 2011 Nosethject to a
make-whole payment in accordance with the ternteke@Note Purchase Agreement. In connection with26dd Notes, the Corporation paid customary feats th
have been deferred and are being amortized ovéeimeof our 2011 Notes. Under the Note Purchagsedgent, the Corporation is required to maintanade
financial ratios, the most restrictive of whictaislebt to capitalization limit of 60% . The 2011t&kalso contain a cross default provision withather senior
indebtedness.

On December 1, 2005 , the Corporation issued $lili@mof 5.51% Senior Notes (the “2005 Notes”).eTR005 Notes mature on December 1, 2017 . The Motes
senior unsecured obligations and are equal in dgpaiyment to the Corporation’s existing seniatelbtedness. The Corporation, at its option, capgyrat any time
all or any part of the 2005 Notes, subject to aenakole amount in accordance with the terms ofNb& Purchase Agreement. In connection with theebldhe
Corporation paid customary fees that have beenréefand are being amortized over the terms oRNibtes. The Corporation is required under the Notelase
Agreement to maintain certain financial ratios, tinest restrictive of which is a debt to capitaliaatlimit of 60% . The 2005 Notes also contain assrdefault
provision with the Corporation’s other senior intness.

14. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The Corporation is required to report both basioiegs per share (EPS), based on the weigatetage number of Common shares outstanding, &utddiearning
per share, based on the basic EPS adjusted footalhtially dilutive shares issuable.

As of December 31, 2014 , there were no optionstantling that were considered anti-dilutive. In &@aber 31, 2013 and 2012 , there were 297,000 6388000
stock options outstanding, respectively, that veex@uded from the computation of diluted earningsghare as the exercise price of these optiongweaser than
their average market value, which would resultriraati-dilutive effect on diluted earnings per ghar

Earnings per share calculations for the years ebdegmber 31, 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , are asafsllo

Earnings from Weighted- Earnings per share
continuing Average Shares from continuing

(In thousands, except per share data) operations Outstanding operations
2014
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 169,94¢ 48,01¢ $ 3.54
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred stacknpensation 1,05¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio $ 169,94¢ 49,07t $ 3.4¢€
2013
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 139,40« 46,99 $ 2.97
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred staoknpensation 921
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio $ 139,40« 4791 % 2.91
2012
Basic earnings per share from continuing operations $ 104,08: 46,74:  $ 2.2
Dilutive effect of stock options and deferred stacknpensation 66¢
Diluted earnings per share from continuing operetio $ 104,08: 47,41 % 2.2C

15. SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION PLANS

In May 2014, the Corporation adopted the Curtisggtr2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan (the “2014 OmniBilen”). The plan replaces the Corporation's existing -
Long Term Incentive Plan and the 2005 Stock PlamNfi-Employee Directors (collectively the “200®&k Plans”). Beginning May 2014, all awards weranged
under the 2014 Omnibus Plan. The maximum aggregatier of shares of common stock that may be issnedr the 2014 Omnibus Plan will be 2,400,000
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less one share of common stock for every one sifar@mmon stock granted under any Prior Plan &ftrember 31, 2013 and prior to the effective datb®2014
Omnibus Plan. In addition, any awards that wereiptsly granted under any Prior Plan that termingtBout issuance of shares, shall be eligiblegsnance under
the 2014 Omnibus Plan. Awards under the 2014 Onsrithan may be in the form of stock options, stq@ireciation rights, restricted stock, restricteztktunits
(RSU), other stock-based awards, and performarare shits (PSU) or cash based performance units (PU

During 2014, the Corporation granted awards infthen of RSUs, PSUs, PUs, and restricted stock.iBuewgrants under the 2005 Stock Plans includeequatifiec
stock options. Under our employee benefit progitdue Corporation also provides an Employee Stocktage Plan (ESPP) available to most active empioyee
Certain awards provide for accelerated vestingefe is a change in control.

The compensation cost for employee and non-empldiyeetor share-based compensation programs dg€ig , 2013 , and 2012 is as follows:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Non-qualified stock options $ — 3 23t $ 947
Employee Stock Purchase Plan 1,35( 1,26( 1,30z
Performance Share Units 3,72¢ 3,49¢ 3,17¢
Restricted Share Units 2,65t 1,70C 3,237
Other share-based payments 767 657 767
Total share-based compensation expense before atoms $ 8,50 $ 735 % 9,42¢

Other share-based payments include restricted stwekds to non-employee directors, who are treatezimployees as prescribed by the accounting gredam
share-based payments. The compensation cost reeddoillows the cost of the employee, which is jariity reflected as General and administrative espsrnin the
Consolidated Statements of Earnings. No share-lmsagensation costs were capitalized during 2@DA43 , or 2012.

The following table summarizes the cash receivethfshare-based awards and the Corporation's tafibetognized on share-based compensation:

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Cash received from share-based awards $ 38,18: $ 29,19: % 15,137
Recognized tax benefit on awards $ 9,61C $ 3,19¢ % 1,371

A summary of employee stock option activity is akofvs:

Weighted-
Average
Weighted- Remaining Aggregate
Average Contractual Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Term in Value
(000's) Price Years (000's)
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 2,321 $ 33.6¢
Granted — —
Exercised (872) 33.4¢
Forfeited (6) 29.6¢€
Outstanding at December 31, 2014 1,44: $ 33.8¢ 43 $ 53,00:
Exercisable at December 31, 2014 1,44 % 33.8¢ 43 $ 53,00:

The total intrinsic value of stock options exerdistiring 2014 , 2013 , and 2012 was $28.3 milli§h1.4 million , and $3.1 million , respectively.

Performance Share Uni
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The Corporation has granted performance share tonisrtain employees, whose 3 year cliff vestsigantingent upon how the

Corporation's total shareholder return over theghrear term of the awards compares to that of-amestructed peer group. The non-vested shaeesubject to
forfeiture if established performance goals aremet or employment is terminated other than dudetth, disability, or retirement. Share plans amodhinated in
share-based units based on the fair market valtleedCorporation’s Common stock on the date oftgfEime performance share unit's compensation sost i
amortized to expense on a straight-line basis theethree-year requisite service period. As farfeitassumptions change, compensation cost wiltjpsid on a
cumulative basis in the period of the assumptiange.

Restricted Share Uni
Restricted share units cliff vest at the end ofdtvards’ vesting period. The restricted share wtgain only a service condition, and thus comagois cost is
amortized to expense on a straight-line basis theerequisite service period, which is typicallyears. The non-vested restricted stock is subjefcrteiture if

employment is terminated other than due to deathisability.

A summary of the Corporation’s 2014 activity rethte performance share units and restricted shaite are as follows:

Performance Share Units (PSUSs) Restricted Share Units (RSUs)

Weighted- Weighted-

Shares/Units Average Shares/Units Average

(000's) Fair Value (000's) Fair Value
Nonvested at December 31, 2013 368 $ 35.5Z 31¢ % 36.5:¢
Granted 51 82.7¢ 38 70.2¢
Vested (89) 29.8¢ 92 33.01
Forfeited (18) 46.71 (29 37.0Z
Nonvested at December 31, 2014 312 $ 4412 24 $ 43.02
Expected to vest at December 31, 2014 31z % 44.1: 24€ % 43.0%

Nonvested PSUs had an intrinsic value 22.0 million and unrecognized compensation cos&8d million as of December 31, 2014 . Nonvest&JRhad an
intrinsic value of $ 17.3 million and unrecognizzmmpensation costs of $5.9 milliolunrecognized compensation costs related to PBURSUs are expected to
recognized over periods of 2.3 - 2.7 years.

Employee Stock Purchase P

The Corporation’s ESPP enables eligible employegsitchase the Corporation’s Common stock at & rés share equal to 85% of the fair market valukeaend
of each offering period. Each offering period ag BSPP lasts six months, commencing on Januagniisiuly 1st of each year. The Corporation hasvede
1,200,000 shares from Treasury to satisfy the igseiaf shares under the ESPP.

During 2014 , there were 166,948 shares purchasger the ESPP. As of December 31, 2014 , the Catiparhas withheld $4.5 million from employees, the
equivalent of 73,929 shares. Compensation costizgnized on a straight-line basis over the sixtmeasting period during which employees perforiatesl
services.

16. PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFIT PLANS

The Corporation maintains thirteen separate artthdigoension and other postretirement defined fiigplans, consisting of three domestic plans ardseparate
foreign pension plans. Effective December 31, 2@1i@ Corporation executed the following plan mesgére two Williams Controls defined benefit pemsjsans
were merged with the CW Pension Plan, resultingn@ surviving domestic qualified plan, and the érlemestic postretirement health-benefits plans,(EMD,
and Williams Controls) were merged into one . Rostger, the Corporation maintains the following @stit plans: a qualified pension plan, a mordified pensiol
plan, and a postretirement health-benefits plae. foheign plans consist of three defined benefiispe plans in the United Kingdom, three in Germawp in
Mexico, and one plan each in Canada and SwitzerlEmel German plans were added during 2013 as paurd-ebruary 28, 2013 acquisition of Phonix Holgi
GmbH.
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Domestic Plans
Qualified Pension Plan

The Corporation maintains a defined benefit penplan (the “CW Pension Plan”) covering all emplaye@ader six benefit formulas: a non-contributorpumion
and union formula for certain Curtiss-Wright (CWigloyees, a contributory union and non-union berfiefinula for employees at the EMD business umiti &avo
benefit formulas providing annuity benefits for fi@pants in the former Williams Controls salari@ad union plans.

CW non-union employees hired prior to FebruaryQil,®receive a “traditional” benefit based on yesdrsredited service, using the five highest conseelyears’
compensation during the last ten years of seriibese employees became participants under the @MidPePlan after one year of service and were dexfter
three years of service. CW non-union employeesihireor after the effective date were eligibledarash balance benefit through December 31, 20t3yvare
transitioned to the new defined contribution plamther described below. CW union employees wheehegotiated a benefit under the CW Pension Pleraitlec
to a benefit based on years of service multiplig@ Inonthly pension rate.

The formula for EMD employees covers both union aodunion employees and is designed to satisfy theinegents of relevant collective bargaining agreeis
Employee contributions are withheld each pay pesiod are equal to 1.5% of salary. The benefitsfflelEMD employees are based on years of service and
compensation. On December 31, 2012, the Corporatitended the CW Pension Plan to close the beadEfMD employees hired after January 1, 2014.

Participants of the former Williams Controls Retient Income Plan for salaried employees are eitéfarred vested participants or currently receilirgefits, as
benefit accruals under the plan were frozen toréuaiccruals effective January 1, 2003. Benefithénsalaried plan are based on average compensatibyears of
service.

Participants of the former Williams Controls UAWdal 492 Plan for union employees are entitled bermefit based on years of service multiplied bycatily
pension rate, and may be eligible for supplemérgakfits based upon attainment of certain age envite requirements.

In May 2013, the Company’s Board of Directors appban amendment to the CW Pension Plan. Effedtneiary 1, 2014, all active non-union employees
participating in the final and career average mayntilas in the defined benefit plan will cease aats 15 yearfrom the effective date of the amendment. In aoid
to the sunset provision, the “cash balance” bef@fihon-union participants will be eliminated dsfwe effective date. Non-Union employees whorarecurrently
receiving final or career average pay benefits treceligible to participate in a new defined conitibn plan which provides both employer match aod-glective
contribution components, up to a maximum emplopeatribution of 6% . The amendment does not aft employees that are subject to collective baiggin
agreements.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Corporationshadncurrent pension liability of $152.5 millionca$79.5 million , respectively. This increase \peamarily
driven by a 75 basis point decrease in the disc@iet which was 4.00% as of December 31, 2014ttenddoption of updated mortality tables reflegfiarther
increases in life expectancy. The merger of thdi&¥ils plans also contributed $4.3 million of thisriease.

The Corporation made $39.8 million of contributidaghe CW Pension Plan in 2014 , and made aniadditelective contribution of $145.0 million inrlary
2015 . Due to the large contribution in 2015, tleep@ration does not expect to make any furtherrdmrtions through 2019 , but expects to make annual
contributions to the new defined contribution plas further described below.

Nonqualified Pension Pla

The Corporation also maintains a non-qualifiedaedion plan (the “CW Restoration Plan”) coverihgse employees of CW and EMD whose compensation or
benefits exceed the IRS limitation for pension igneBenefits under the CW Restoration Plan atefuveded, and, as such, the Corporation had amedgrension
liability of $43.7 million and $31.7 million as @fecember 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Thedatipn’s contributions to the CW Restoration Plan are etqu
to be $3.1 million in 2015 .

Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB) Plan

Under the plan merger effective December 31, 28f4Corporation provides postaployment benefits consisting of retiree healtth life insurance to three distir
groups of employees/retirees: the CW Grandfathgelaa and plans assumed in the acquisition of EM®Williams Controls.
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In 2002, the Corporation restructured the posteymémnt medical benefits for then-active CW employeéfectively freezing the plan. The plan contintebe
maintained for certain retired CW employees.

The Corporation also provides retiree health afiedisurance benefits for substantially all of @uertiss-Wright EMD employees. The plan providesdhsalth and
welfare coverage for pre-65 participants basedeamsgy/of service and are subject to certain capsctitfe January 1, 2011, the Corporation modiftesl henefit
design for post-65 retirees by introducing RetRegmbursement Accounts (RRA’s) to participantden bof the traditional benefit delivery. Participatcounts are
funded a set amount annually that can be usedrth@se supplemental coverage on the open markettieély capping the benefit.

The plan also provides retiree health and lifeiasce benefits for certain retirees of the Willia@entrols salaried and union pension plans. Benafit available to
those employees who retired prior to December 823 1n the salaried plan, and prior to OctoberQDin the union plan. Effective August 31, 201 t
Corporation modified the benefit design for postréirees by introducing Retiree Reimbursement Aat® (RRA's) to align with the EMD delivery model.

The Corporation had an accrued postretirement hidiadility at December 31, 2014 and 2013 of $28#lion and $20.4 million respectively. Pursuant to the EI
purchase agreement, the Corporation has a disabretteivable from Washington Group Internationaiinburse the Corporation for a portion of these
postretirement benefit costs. At December 31, 201312013 , the discounted receivable includedhieraassets was $1.4 million and $1.8 million , eespely. The
Corporation expects to contribute $1.6 millionhe plan during 2015 .

Foreign Plans

The foreign plans consist of three defined berpefitsion plans in the United Kingdom, three in Gerynawo in Mexico, and one plan each in Canada and
Switzerland. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013 {dta projected benefit obligation related tofatieign plans is $90.1 million and $87.6 milliorespectively. As
of December 31, 2014 and 2013 , the Corporatiorahnaaiccrued pension liability of $5.3 million arglBmillion , respectively. The Corporation's cdmitions to
the foreign plans are expected to be $3.0 millio8@15 .

In September 2013, the Corporation amended thel Mepaovement Company - Salaried Staff pension 8eh@J.K.) and the Penny & Giles Pension Plan (Ut&.)
cease the accrual of future benefits effective Ddxmr 31, 2013. The amendments to the plans resal@&7 million reduction to the projected benefitigations
and a curtailment gain of $2.8 million .

Components of net periodic benefit expense

The net pension and net postretirement benefis¢ostome) consisted of the following:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012

Service cost $ 2526: $ 40,17 $ 40,27 $ 24 % 37: % 44¢
Interest cost 30,40: 27,771 26,30! 877 83¢ 93¢
Expected return on plan assets (41,74¢) (36,309 (33,58%) — — —
Amortization of prior service cost 662 882 1,201 (657) (63¢) (629)
Recognized net actuarial loss 6,821 15,01 11,02: (811) (614) (682)
Cost of settlements/curtailments 371 13 — — — —
Net periodic benefit cost (income) $ 2178t $ 47550 § 4521t $ (345 ¢ (40 $ 76

Net periodic benefit cost has declined over themepl periods, mainly due to the reduction in sengost, increase in the expected return on plsetasan
reduction of recognized net actuarial loss. The péglesign reduced service cost by eliminatingtteh balance benefit earned in the plan for atigigants, with
those not participating in the traditional benbfiing moved to a new defined contribution plan.deted returns increased due to favorable assetrpefice and tt
incremental return generated from higher requieshaontributions in recent years, while the recghactuarial loss declined in 2014, due largelg prior period
increase in the discount rate.

The Cost of settlements/curtailments indicated alvepresents events that are accounted for unédarge on employers’ accounting for settlements and
curtailments of defined benefit pension plans.044 the charge was due to a settlement in the CWAT in Switzerland. In 2013, the CW Pension Rlartailmen
charge of $2.2 million and special termination Hisaén the CW Restoration Plan were largely offsgthe curtailment gain in the Penny & Giles Pengplan.
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The following table outlines the Corporation's adigated disclosure of the pension benefits andrptiement benefits information described previgushe
Corporation had no foreign postretirement planspkins were valued using a December 31, 2014 memsnt date.

Pension Benefits

Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Change in benefit obligation:
Beginning of year $ 674,19 $ 70502. $ 20,41¢  $ 23,39
Service cost 25,26: 40,17( 24¢ 37z
Interest cost 30,40: 27,77 877 83¢
Plan participants’ contributions 1,73¢ 2,331 364 35C
Amendments 17¢ — — (366)
Actuarial loss (gain) 114,76: (62,539 3,27¢ (2,752)
Benefits paid (40,765 (34,25)) (1,929 (1,419
Business combinations — 5,80¢ — —
Special termination benefits — 53¢ — —
Curtailments/ settlements — (9,719) — —
Actual expenses (1,299 (2,20¢) — —
Currency translation adjustments (7,109) 1,25¢ — —
End of year $ 797,36( $ 67419. $ 2325( $ 20,41¢
Change in plan assets:
Beginning of year $ 55856° $ 460,20. $ —  $ —
Actual return on plan assets 37,574 82,86! — —
Employer contribution 46,30¢ 48,07 1,56¢ 1,06¢
Plan participants’ contributions 1,73¢ 2,331 364 35C
Business combinations — — — —
Benefits paid (40,765 (34,259 (1,929 (1,419
Settlements (1,299 (2,20¢) — —
Currency translation adjustments (6,28¢) 1,55¢ — —
End of year $ 59582 $ 55856 $ — % —
Funded status $ (201,53) $ (11562) $ (23,250 $ (20,41¢)
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Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2014 2013
Amounts recognized on the balance sheet
Noncurrent assets $ 6,041 $ 714: $ — % —
Current liabilities (3,529 (2,620) (1,607) (1,659
Noncurrent liabilities (204,049 (120,14) (21,64°) (18,757
Total $ (201,53) $ (115.62) $ (23,250 $ (20,41¢)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensgt income (AOCI)
Net actuarial loss (gain) $ 180,64 $ 69,35¢ $ (8,269 $ (12,350
Prior service cost 1,99( 2,537 (4,68¢) (5,349
Total $ 182,63 $ 71,89. $ (12,950 $ (17,699
Amounts in AOCI expected to be recognized in net piodic cost in the coming
year:
Loss (gain) recognition $ 1547  $ 593: $ (551) $ (811)
Prior service cost recognition $ 61 $ 631 $ (657) $ (657)
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 753,87¢ $ 641,89: N/A N/A
Information for pension plans with an accumulated fenefit obligation in excess of
plan assets:
Projected benefit obligation $ 770,24 $ 604,51 N/A N/A
Accumulated benefit obligation 726,76( 528,14¢ N/A N/A
Fair value of plan assets 562,66¢ 473,07¢ N/A N/A

Plan Assumption:

Pension Benefits Postretirement Benefits
2014 2013 2014 2013

Weighted-average assumptions in determination of mefit obligation:
Discount rate 3.8&% 4.62% 3.7% 4.47%
Rate of compensation increase 3.31% 3.9% N/A N/A
Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent year N/A N/A 5.5(% 8.0(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2019 and 2015, respegtivel N/A N/A 4.5% 5.0(%
Weighted-average assumptions in determination of neeriodic benefit
cost:
Discount rate 4.62% 3.95% 4.47% 3.7%
Expected return on plan assets 8.01% 7.91% N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 3.3% 3.9% N/A N/A
Health care cost trends:

Rate assumed for subsequent year N/A N/A 8.0(% 8.0(%

Ultimate rate reached in 2019 and 2015, respegtivel N/A N/A 5.0(% 5.0(%

The discount rate for each plan is determined bgalinting the plan’s expected future benefit paytsasing a yield curve developed from high qudlitynds that
are rated Aa or better by Moody'’s as of the measant date. The yield curve calculation matchestt®nal cash inflows of the hypothetical bond fmit with
the expected benefit payments to arrive at onetfferate for each plan.

The overall expected return on assets assumptioesisd on a combination of historical performarfdd@ pension fund and expectations of future perémce.
Expected future performance is determined by weigtthe expected returns for each asset classebyléim’s asset allocation. The expected returnbased on
long-term capital market assumptions utilizing a
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ten-year time horizon through consultation withaéstment advisors. While consideration is giveretent performance and historical returns, the agsam
represents a long-term prospective return.

The effect on the Other Post-Employment Benefits if a 1% change in the health care cost tread fsllows:

(In thousands) 1% Increas 1% Decreas
Total service and interest cost components $ 15 $ ((K)
Postretirement benefit obligation $ 364 $ (307)

Pension Plan Asset

The overall objective for plan assets is to earat@ of return over time to meet anticipated bémefyments in accordance with plan provisions. [Bhg-term
investment objective of the domestic retiremenhglia to achieve a total rate of return, net o feehich exceeds the actuarial overall expectadnain asset
assumptions used for funding purposes and whictiges an appropriate premium over inflation. Thermediate-term objective of the domestic retirenpiens,
defined as three to five years, is to outperforehez the capital markets in which assets are tedesiet of fees. During periods of extreme mavitility,
preservation of capital takes a higher preceddme dutperforming the capital markets.

The Finance Committee of the Corporation’s BoarBioéctors is responsible for formulating investrgalicies, developing investment manager guidsliaed
objectives, and approving and managing qualifiedsads and investment managers. The guidelineblestad define permitted investments within eadesslass
and apply certain restrictions such as limits omcemtrated holdings, and prohibits selling se@sithort, buying on margin, and the purchase ofanyrities issue
by the Corporation.

The Corporation maintains the funds of the CW RemBllan under a trust that is diversified acrosssiment classes and among investment manageskieve an
optimal balance between risk and return. As agfats diversification strategy, the Corporatiorshestablished target allocations for each of tHeviing assets
classes: domestic equity securities, internatieqaity securities, and debt securities. Below laeeQorporation’s actual and established targetations for the CW
Pension Plan, representing 86% of consolidatedsasse

As of December 31, Target Expected
2014 2013 Exposure Range
Asset class
Domestic equities 53% 52% 50% 40%-60%
International equities 14% 15% 15% 10%-20%
Total equity 67% 67% 65% 55%-75%
Fixed income 33% 31% 35% 25%-45%

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, cash fundseil€i#V Pension Plan represented approximately 3%rtfiofio assets.

Foreign plan assets represent 14% of consoliddsedassets, with the majority of the assets supppthe U.K. plans. The U.K. foreign plans follovsianilar asset
allocation strategy, while other foreign plans im@re heavily weighted in fixed income resultingaimeighted expected return on assets assumpti®ss#o for all
foreign plans.

The Corporation may from time to time require thallocation of assets in order to bring the retegatplans into conformity with these ranges. ThepBration ma
also authorize alterations or deviations from thresges where appropriate for achieving the ohjestof the retirement plans.

Fair Value Measurements

The following table presents consolidated plantasssing the fair value hierarchy as of Decembe2814 :
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Quoted Prices

in Active
Markets for Significant Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
Asset Category Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents 17,95. $ 1,63¢ 16,31¢ $ —
Equity securities- Mutual fund® 360,69: 307,22( 53,47: —_
Bond funds® 168,34 115,98t 52,36( —
Insurance Contracf3 10,79¢ — — 10,79¢
Other® 782 — — 782
December 31, 2013 558,56° $ 424,84¢ 122,14«  $ 11,577
Cash and cash equivalents 24,35: $ 871 23,48! % —
Equity securities- Mutual fundy 379,46° 330,61¢ 48,84¢ —_
Bond funds® 183,06¢ 122,79 60,27¢ —
Insurance Contract® 8,16¢ — — 8,16¢
Other® 771 — — 771
December 31, 2014 595,82¢ $ 454,28( 132,60¢ $ 8,94(

MThis category consists of domestic and internatiegaity securities. It is comprised of U.S. setiesi benchmarked against the S&P 500 index andaR &30
index, international mutual funds benchmarked agjdhe MSCI EAFE index, global equity index mutfiaids associated with our U.K. based pension @ands
balanced funds associated with the U.K. and Candifiaed pension plans.

@This category consists of domestic and internatibonads. The domestic fixed income securities @mchmarked against the Barclays Capital AggregatelB
index, actively-managed bond mutual funds comprifetbmestic investment grade debt, fixed inconmévdéives, and below investment-grade issues, U.S.
mortgage backed securities, asset backed secunitiggcipal bonds, and convertible debt. Intern@ldonds consist of bond mutual funds for instial investors
associated with the CW Pension Plan, Switzerland l&K. based pension plans.

®This category consists of a guaranteed investnaerttact (GIC) in Switzerland. Amounts contributedhe plan are guaranteed by a foundation for catimipal
benefits that in turn entered into a group insueatantract and the foundation pays a guaranteedfatterest that is reset annually.

@This category consists primarily of real estateetment trusts in Switzerland.
Valuation

Equity securities and exchange-traded equity amdi lpoutual funds are valued using a market apprbaskd on the quoted market prices of identicalunstnts.
Pooled institutional funds are valued at theirasstet values and are calculated by the sponsbe éfihd.

Fixed income securities are primarily valued usingarket approach utilizing various underlying imgcsources and methodologies. Real estate investnusts ar
priced at net asset value based on valuationseairiderlying real estate holdings using inputs sisctiscounted cash flows, independent appraeadsmarket-
based comparable data.

Cash balances in the United States are held ime@dund and classified as a Level 2 asset. N@h-thsh is valued using a market approach basqdaied
market prices of identical instruments.

The following table presents a reconciliation of/ek3 assets held during the year ended Decemb@03# and 2013 :
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Insurance

(In thousands) Contracts Other Total
December 31, 2012 $ 10,917 $ 728 $ 11,64¢
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at the reporting date 162 35 197
Relating to assets sold during the period — — —
Purchases, sales, and settlements (542) — (542)
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment 25¢ 19 271
December 31, 2013 $ 10,79 % 78z % 11,571
Actual return on plan assets:
Relating to assets still held at the reporting date 15¢ 3¢ 197
Relating to assets sold during the period — — —
Purchases, sales, and settlements (1,819 36 (1,782
Transfers in and/or out of Level 3 — — —
Foreign currency translation adjustment (96€) (86) (1,052
December 31, 2014 $ 8,16¢ ¢ 71 % 8,94(

Benefit Payment:

The following benefit payments, which reflect exigecfuture service, as appropriate, are expectee faid from the plans:

Pension Postretirement

(In thousands) Plans Plans Total

2015 $ 4512¢ $ 1,600 $ 46,72¢
2016 45,91« 1,56¢ 47,47¢
2017 47,53¢ 1,52¢ 49,06
2018 49,76 1,53¢ 51,29¢
2019 52,63( 1,50€ 54,13¢
2020 — 2024 270,76¢ 7,342 278,11:

Defined Contribution Retirement Plan

The Corporation offers all of its domestic emplayé®e opportunity to participate in a defined citmiion plan. Costs incurred by the Corporatiothie
administration and record keeping of the definentrdoution plan are paid for by the Corporation ane not considered material.

Effective January 1, 2014, all non-union employ@hs were not currently receiving final or careeermage pay benefits became eligible to receive eyaplo
contributions in the Corporation's sponsored 40f(&h. The employer contributions include both esgpt match and non-elective contribution componargo a
maximum employer contribution of 6% of eligible cpemsation. During the year ended December 31, 2fiilexpense relating to the plan was $13.7anilli
The Corporation funded $6.4 million in matching tidutions to the plan in 2014, and $7.3 millionaimon-elective contribution in January 2015. Cuativé
contributions of approximately $65.0 million arepexted to be made from 2015 through 2019 .

In addition, the Corporation had foreign pensiostsander various defined contribution plans o¥ $8illion , $5.1 million , and $4.8 million in 20142013 , and
2012, respectively.

78




17. LEASES

The Corporation conducts a portion of its operatifsom leased facilities, which include manufagatgrand service facilities, administrative officesd warehouses.
In addition, the Corporation leases vehicles, nraatyi, and office equipment under operating leabes.leases expire at various dates and may incergavals and
escalations. Rental expenses for all operatingfeamounted to $38.0 million , $35.3 million , &#&9.7 million in 2014 , 2013, and 2012 , resp&tyiv

At December 31, 2014 , the approximate future mimmrental commitments under operating leases that hitial or remaining non-cancelable lease teérms
excess of one year are as follows:

Rental

(In thousands) Commitments

2015 $ 27,61¢
2016 24,03¢
2017 20,51«
2018 16,05¢
2019 11,89¢
Thereafter 45,68
Total $ 145,80¢

18. SEGMENT INFORMATION

Prior to the first quarter of 2014, the Corporatieported its results of operations through theggreents: Flow Control, Controls, and Surface Teldgies.
Beginning in the first quarter of 2014, the Corpimnarealigned its reportable segments with its eredkets to strengthen its ability to service cors and
recognize certain organizational efficiencies. Asult of this realignment the Corporation has tee reportable segments: Commercial/IndustriafeBee, and
Energy. The Corporation’s former Surface Techn@sgiegment is consolidated within the new Commidraiastrial segment. The commercial businesseshwhi
were in the former Controls segment form part efriew Commercial/Industrial segment. The Corpon&idefense businesses, which were primarily in the
Corporation’s former Controls segment and to aglesstent in the former Flow Control segment, ane sonsolidated within the new Defense segment. The
Corporation's Oil and Gas and Nuclear divisionsctvivere in the former Flow Control segment, foha hew Energy segment.

The Corporation's measure of segment profit or ilsperating income. Interest expense and incaxestare not reported on an operating segmentdmagigy are
not considered in the segments’ performance evatuly the Corporation’s chief operating decisioaker, its Chief Executive Officer.

Net sales and operating income by reportable seganeras follows

December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012

Net sales

Commercial/Industrial $ 1,077,04! $ 951,90( $ 679,38:

Defense 739,80! 769,19( 770,31¢

Energy 433,11 403,78t 381,55
Less: Intersegment Revenues (6,83%) (6,797) (7,950)

Total Consolidated $ 2,243,121 $ 2,118,08 $ 1,823,30
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(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Operating income (expense)
Commercial/Industrial $ 142,83. $ 105,24 $ 66,57¢
Defense 102,25: 116,61¢ 90,28¢
Energy 67,60 57,20« 55,64
Corporate and Eliminatioris (30,319 (41,949 (31,110
Total Consolidated $ 282,37. $ 237,12.  $ 181,39«
Depreciation and amortization expense
Commercial/Industrial $ 54,49¢ $ 53,56: $ 32,14¢
Defense 33,19¢ 32,35 33,37:
Energy 13,17 11,647 11,83¢
Corporate 4,06( 4,65¢ 2,771
Total Consolidated $ 104,92 $ 102,21 $ 80,12¢
Segment assets
Commercial/Industrial $ 1,324,670 $ 1,309,23 $ 1,027,78
Defense 1,158,27. 1,293,67! 1,266,55:
Energy 632,00¢ 798,33( 781,83
Corporate 284,55! 57,03t 38,41
Total Consolidated $ 3,399,51. $ 3,458,27. $ 3,114,58:
Capital expenditures
Commercial/Industrial $ 33,64: $ 38,06 $ 43,03¢
Defense 18,11: 11,46¢ 20,60¢
Energy 10,47« 19,43t 13,42
Corporate 4,88¢ 3,27¢ 5,88¢
Total Consolidateé? $ 67,11f $ 72,24: % 82,95«

M Corporate and Eliminations includes pension expegrséronmental remediation and administrative esps, legal, foreign currency transactional gairis a

losses, and other expenses.

@Total capital expenditures included $4.9 millid7,0 million , and $10.4 million of expendituresated to discontinued operations for the years e2d 4 ,

2013, and 2012 , respectively.

Within the Commercial/Industrial, Defense and Eyesggments are $1.0 million , $25.1 million , ad@%.2 million , respectively, of assets classifisceld for

sale.

Reconciliations

December 31,

(In thousands)

Earnings before taxes:
Total segment operating income
Corporate and administrative
Interest expense
Other income, net

Total consolidated earnings before tax
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2014 2013 2012
$ 312,680 $ 279,06 $ 212,50
(30,31 (41,949 (31,110
(35,799 (37,059 (26,30
36¢ 98¢ 12€
$ 246,94 $ 201,050 $ 155,22




December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Assets:
Total assets for reportable segments $ 3,114,961 $ 3,401,24 $ 3,076,17
Non-segment cash 245,65 12,65: 6,93¢
Other assets 38,90( 44,38: 31,47
Total consolidated assets $ 339951 § 345827 $ 3,11458

Geographic Information

December 31,

(In thousands) 2014 2013 2012
Revenues
United States of America $ 1,521,03. $ 1,444,010 $ 1,276,57
United Kingdom 145,09: 134,81! 136,05:
Canada 72,39: 66,23¢ 61,91¢
Other foreign countries 504,60t 473,01 348,76¢
Consolidated total $ 2,243,121 $ 2,118,08 $ 1,823,30

Long-Lived Assets

United States of America $ 32393 365,69: $ 352,61!
United Kingdom 45,62¢ 43,43¢ 43,34:
Canada 20,25] 27,97¢ 31,74
Other foreign countries 69,10( 78,61¢ 61,89
Consolidated total $ 458,91¢ % 515,71¢ $ 489,59:

19. CONTINGENCIES AND COMMITMENTS
Legal Proceedings

The Corporation has been named in a number of itsvhat allege injury from exposure to asbestasddte, the Corporation has not been found liaief paid
any material sum of money in settlement in any céke Corporation believes its minimal use of agim its past and current operations and théivelg non-
friable condition of asbestos in its products makeslikely that it will face material liabilityri any asbestos litigation, whether individuallyiothe aggregate. The
Corporation maintains insurance coverage for tpesential liabilities and believes adequate covermxjsts to cover any unanticipated asbestositiabil

In December 2013, the Corporation, along with othveffiliated parties, received a claim, from CaaadNatural Resources Limited (CNRL) filed in theu@t of
Queen's Bench of Alberta, Judicial District of Galg The claim pertains to a January 2011 fireexplosion at a delayed coker unit at its Fort MciMuymefinery
that resulted in the injury of five CNRL employedamage to property and equipment, and varioussafnesonsequential loss such as loss of profit, los
opportunities, and business interruption. Thedind explosion occurred when a CNRL employee byplasseain safety controls and opened an operatkgrainit.
The total quantum of alleged damages arising ftwarncident has not been finalized, but is estichédemeet or exceed $1 billion. The Corporatiorimzéns
various forms of commercial, property and casugltgduct liability, and other forms of insurancewever, such insurance may not be adequate to tdoweosts
associated with a judgment against us. The Coriporét currently unable to estimate an amount ngezof potential losses, if any, from this matidre Corporatio
believes it has adequate legal defenses and interttéfend this matter vigorously. The Corporatidimancial condition, results of operations, aadtcflows, could
be materially affected during a future fiscal geadr fiscal year by unfavorable developments dca@me regarding this claim.

The Corporation is party to a number of legal axtiand claims, none of which individually or in gggregate, in the opinion of management, are ¢xgéc have a
material effect on the Corporation’s results ofragiens or financial position.
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Letters of Credit and Other Arrangements

The Corporation enters into standby letters of iti@greements and guarantees with financial ingtitg and customers primarily relating to guarasitferepaymen
future performance on certain contracts to propiaelucts and services, to secure advance paymenicertain international customers, and to guasant
repayment of outstanding debt obligations helddayain subsidiaries. At December 31, 2014 and 2@48re were $54.3 million and $47.2 million insténd-by
letters of credit outstanding, respectively, an@.$2nillion and $23.2 million of bank guaranteesstanding, respectively. In addition, the Corpiorais required to
provide the Nuclear Regulatory Commission finanaggurance demonstrating its ability to cover the of decommissioning its Cheswick, Pennsylvaadlify
upon closure, though the Corporation does not thterclose this facility. The Corporation has pded this financial assurance in the form of a $58illion surety
bond.

AP1000 Program

Within the Corporation’s Defense segment, our Etetechanical Division is the reactor coolant pufRECP) supplier for the Westinghouse AP1000 nugbeaver
plants under construction in China and the UnitedeS. The terms of the AP1000 China and UniteteStcontracts include liquidated damage provisiontailure
to meet contractual delivery dates if the Corporatiaused the delay and the delay was not excuSdi#eCorporation would be liable for liquidatedrdmes if the
Corporation was deemed responsible for not meétiaglelivery dates. On October 10, 2013, the Caitjmor received a letter from Westinghouse stating
entitlements to the maximum amount of liquidatethdges allowable under the AP1000 China contrant fiidestinghouse of approximately $25 million . As o
December 31, 2014 , the Corporation has not métinezontractual delivery dates under its AP 1006ih& and US contracts; however, there are sigmifica
counterclaims and uncertainties as to which paatiesesponsible for the delays. Given the uniceiea surrounding the parties responsible fordélays, no
accrual has been made for this matter. As of Dbeeerl, 2014 , the range of possible loss for digtéd damages is $0 to $40 million .

20. ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS)

The total cumulative balance of each componentofimulated other comprehensive income (loss), ine@ixpis as follows:

Foreign currency  Total pension and  Accumulated other

translation postretirement comprehensive

(In thousands) adjustments, net adjustments, net income (loss)
December 31, 2012 $ 65,72: $ (121,23() $ (55,50%)

Current period other comprehensive income (loss) (6,619) 87,38t 80,76"
December 31, 2013 $ 59,100 $ (33,849 $ 25,25¢

Other comprehensive loss before reclassifications (79,38¢) (78,45() (157,83f)

Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comgmelve income (los$Y — 4,16¢ 4,16¢€
Net current period other comprehensive loss (79,38¢) (74,289 (153,67()
December 31, 2014 $ (20,28Y) $ (108,129 § (128,417)

@ All amounts are after tg

Details of amounts reclassified from accumulaté@otomprehensive income (loss) are below:
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Defined benefit pension plan
Amortization of prior service costs
Amortization of actuarial losses
Curtailments

Total reclassifications

Amount reclassified
from Accumulated
other comprehensive
income (loss)

Affected line item in the statement where
net earnings is presented

(5)

(6,016)

(377)

(6,399)

2,23.

$ (4,166)

)
@)

Total before tax
Income tax benefit
Net of tax

@ These items are included in the computation opeebdic pension cost. See Note 16, Pension andr®bstretirement Benefit Pla

21. QUARTERLY RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (UNAUDITED)

(In thousands, except per share data)
2014
Net sales
Gross profit
Earnings from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Net earnings
Basic earnings per share *
Earnings from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Total
Diluted earnings per share *
Earnings from continuing operations
Loss from discontinued operations
Total

2013
Net sales
Gross profit
Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations
Net earnings
Basic earnings per share *
Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations
Total
Diluted earnings per share *
Earnings from continuing operations
Earnings/(loss) from discontinued operations
Total

First Second

Third Fourth

542,95¢ $ 569,19t

184,61 198,23:
36,43( 43,00¢
(1,266) (6,619)
35,16¢ 36,39:

0.7¢ $ 0.9¢
(0.09) (0.19)
0.7: $ 0.7¢
0.7/ $ 0.87
(0.09) (0.19)
0.7: $ 0.7¢

494,39' $ 524,13¢

165,72 182,38
22,59( 34,03t
(1,647 (665)
20,94 33,37(

0.4t $ 0.72
(0.09) (0.09)
04t $ 0.71
0.4t $ 0.72
(0.09) (0.09)
04s 0.7¢
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$ 558,380 $ 572,58t

193,33 200,34(
44,37¢ 46,13:

(19,345 (29,38;)

25,03 16,75(

$ 09: $ 0.9¢
(0.40) (0.69)

$ 05: $ 0.3t
$ 09C $ 0.9¢
(0.39) (0.60)

$ 051 $ 0.3¢

$ 511,38( $ 588,16

178,67: 209,05t
38,07¢ 44,70

(1,719 2,607

36,36: 47,30°

$ 081 $ 0.9t
(0.09) 0.0¢

$ 077 $ 1.0
$ 0.7¢ $ 0.9z
(0.09) 0.0¢

$ 0.7¢ $ 0.97




* May not add due to rounding
22. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

As a result of the previously announced discontinoperations, the Corporation realigned its segmantl businesses during the first quarter of 20h8. Energ
segment will be renamed as the new Power segmbatbilisiness serving the nuclear naval defense emndonild (AP1000) power generation markets, whiab
previously operated within the Defense segment,jaiii the Nuclear aftermarket business in the Rawer segment. The remaining Oil and Gas divisimirtesse
which had previously operated within the Energynseqt, will be reported in Commercial / Industriagment, specifically the industrial valves grougompanies
As a result, all of our industrial severe serviadve businesses will operate within a single dansiThe Defense segment will be comprised primasflythe
electronics businesses serving the ground and@Eegesiefense markets.

On January 9, 2015, the Corporation sold the as$éts Engineered packaging business for £3 millidhe assets of this business were reportedidgdresale as
of December 31, 2014 and its results of operati@ve been reflected as discontinued operationthéoyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

On January 30, 2015, the Corporation made a valu®te45 million contribution to its pension plan.
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Report of the Corporation

The Consolidated Financial Statements appearittgnim 8 of this Annual Report on Form ¥Ohave been prepared by the Corporation in configrmith accountin
principles generally accepted in the United Stafemerica. The financial statements necessaritiuitle some amounts that are based on the besaéssiand
judgments of the Corporation. Other financial imf@tion in this Annual Report on Form-K is consistent with that in the Consolidated Ricial Statements.

The Corporation maintains accounting systems, piaes, and internal accounting controls designgutdeide reasonable assurance that assets areiaafed and
that transactions are executed in accordance hétlappropriate corporate authorization and aregphppecorded. The accounting systems and interc@unting
controls are augmented by written policies and gdaces, organizational structure providing fonasitbn of responsibilities, selection and trainwfgqualified
personnel, and an internal audit program. The designitoring, and revision of internal accountaantrol systems involve, among other things, mamegg’s
judgment with respect to the relative cost and etquebenefits of specific control measures. Managerof the Corporation has completed an asseswhéra
Corporation’s internal controls over financial rejitg and has included “Management’s Annual Repaorinternal Control Over Financial Reporting” it 9A of
this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Deloitte & Touche LLP, our independent registerabllig accounting firm, performed an integrated &oflthe Corporation’s Consolidated Financial Staats that
also included forming an opinion on the internattcols over financial reporting of the Corporation the year ended December 31, 2014 . An auditdes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supportingmtheunts and disclosures in the financial statesnéwt audit also includes assessing the accouptingiples use
and significant estimates made by management, hasvevaluating the overall financial statememisgntation. The objective of their audit is theregpion of an
opinion on the fairness of the Corporation’s Coitsed Financial Statements in conformity with agaiing principles generally accepted in the Unigates of
America, in all material respects, and on the imecontrols over financial reporting as of Decentiie 2014 .

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors, cased entirely of directors who are independenhefGorporation, appoints the independent registenbtic
accounting firm for ratification by stockholdersdammong other things, considers the scope ofithepiendent registered public accounting firm’s eération, the
audit results, and the adequacy of internal ac@ogiebntrols of the Corporation. The independegtstered public accounting firm and the internalitar have
direct access to the Audit Committee, and they mébtthe committee from time to time, with and latit management present, to discuss accountingiraychon
audit consulting services, internal control, amdificial reporting matters.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Charlotte, North Carolina

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeets of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsis (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014 @482
and the related consolidated statements of earntoggprehensive income (loss), stockholders’ eqaityl cash flows for each of the three years ip#red ended
December 31, 2014 . Our audits also included tinfiial statement schedule listed in the Indeteat I15. These financial statements and financaestent
schedule are the responsibility of the Company’sagament. Our responsibility is to express an opion these financial statements and financia¢istant
schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighaffiqUnited States). Those standards require thailan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assaralpgut whether the financial statements are fregaterial misstatement. An audit includes exangnon a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and diséssn the financial statements. An audit alsoudebk assessing the accounting principles usedigmificant
estimates made by management, as well as evaluhtrgyerall financial statement presentation. \&léeke that our audits provide a reasonable basisur
opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetag@resent fairly, in all material respects, tiharicial position of the Company at December 31428nd 2013 ,
and the results of their operations and their dlasts for each of the three years in the periodeehBecember 31, 2014 , in conformity with accoumprinciples
generally accepted in the United States of AmeAdso, in our opinion, such financial statementestile, when considered in relation to the basicaliated
financial statements taken as a whole, presentg,fai all material respects, the information &eth therein.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bio@tnited States), the Company’s internal contxaro
financial reporting as of December 31, 2014 , basethe criteria established limernal Control—Integrated Framework (201i8%ued by the Committee of
Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commisai@hour report dated February 19, 2015 expressedgualified opinion on the Company'’s internal troh
over financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 19, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountindrirm

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders of
Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Charlotte, North Carolina

We have audited the internal control over finangglorting of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and suksigs (the “Company”) as of December 31, 2014sebzon
criteria established imternal Control — Integrated Framework (20183ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission. The
Company’s management is responsible for maintaieffegtive internal control over financial repodiand for its assessment of the effectivenessteffrial control
over financial reporting, included in the accomgagyManagemens Annual Report on Internal Control Over Finan&aporting. Our responsibility is to express
opinion on the Company’s internal control over finil reporting based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the statedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those standards require thatlare
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assaralngut whether effective internal control oveafinial reporting was maintained in all materiapexts. Our auc
included obtaining an understanding of internaltic@rover financial reporting, assessing the riskt ta material weakness exists, testing and evadutite design
and operating effectiveness of internal controkldasn the assessed risk, and performing such ptheedures as we considered necessary in the Gtanoes. We
believe that our audit provides a reasonable Basisur opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidj the company’s principal executive and ppatfinancial
officers, or persons performing similar functioasd effected by the company’s board of directoagement, and other personnel to provide reasoaablirance
regarding the reliability of financial reportingcthe preparation of financial statements for exdepurposes in accordance with generally accegatedunting
principles. A company'’s internal control over firéad reporting includes those policies and procesdihat (1) pertain to the maintenance of recdrats in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleetttiansactions and dispositions of the assetseafdgmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance Hrazctions are
recorded as necessary to permit preparation afifinbstatements in accordance with generally aede@ccounting principles, and that receipts anebeditures of
the company are being made only in accordanceawithorizations of management and directors of simepany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance liagard
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asitjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the findrstetements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internalteolnover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management overrimfecontrols,
material misstatements due to error or fraud maya@revented or detected on a timely basis. Adsgjections of any evaluation of the effectivenefthe internal
control over financial reporting to future pericae subject to the risk that the controls may bexoradequate because of changes in conditionkabttte degree «
compliance with the policies or procedures may ritatate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialeespects, effective internal control over fiogl reporting as of December 31, 2014 , baseithewmriteria
established ifnnternal Control — Integrated Framework (20183ued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bodsnited States), the consolidated financial statets and
financial statement schedule as of and for the geded December 31, 2014 of the Company and oartréated February 19, 20&%pressed an unqualified opin
on those financial statements and financial stat¢sehedule.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 19, 2015

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountéon Accounting and Financial Disclosure.

None.
Item 9A. Controls And Procedures.

Disclosure Controls and Procedures
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As of December 31, 2014 , the Corporation’s managenincluding the Corporation’s Chief Executivei€dr and Chief Financial Officer, conducted anlaation
of the Corporation’s disclosure controls and praresd, as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15@)L&d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act 8418s
amended (the “Exchange Act”). Based on such evialuahe Corporation’s Chief Executive Officer a@tlief Financial Officer concluded that the Corpmnas
disclosure controls and procedures are effectivaf 82cember 31, 2014 insofar as they are desigmedsure that information required to be discldsgeds in the
reports that we file or submit under the Exchangeigrecorded, processed, summarized and repovittdn the time periods specified in the Commis&aules
and forms, and they include, without limitationntwls and procedures designed to ensure thaniafiion required to be disclosed by us in the repo# file or
submit under the Exchange Act is accumulated anthamicated to our management, including our prisagxecutive and principal financial officers, @rgons
performing similar functions, as appropriate t@waittimely decisions regarding required disclosure.

Managemens Annual Report On Internal Control Over Finan&aborting

The Corporation’s management is responsible fabdishing and maintaining adequate internal cordka@r financial reporting, as defined in Rules 134f) anc
15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1@34amended.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or detaisstatements. Also, projections of the futufeativeness ¢
controls currently deemed effective are subjedhwrisk that controls may become inadequate becafishanges in conditions or deterioration in diegree ¢
compliance with the policies or procedures.

The Corporation’s management assessed the effeetiseof the Corporation’s internal control overfinial reporting as of December 31, 2014 making thi
assessment, the Corporatiesmanagement used the criteria established bydth® @ommittee of Sponsoring Organizations of thea@iwvay Commission in Inter
Control-Integrated Framework.

Based on management’s assessment, managemenebéliavas of December 31, 2014 , the Corporatimérnal control over financial reporting is efige base
on the established criteria.

The Corporation’s internal controls over finanaighorting as of December 31, 20ldve been audited by Deloitte & Touche LLP, an reelent registered puk
accounting firm, and their report thereon is inelddn Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Repartin

There were no changes in the Corporasanternal control over financial reporting duritige most recently completed fiscal quarter thatemnigty affected, or ai
reasonably likely to materially affect, our intekoantrol over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information.
None.
PART IlI

The information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 8] &4 of Part Il of this Annual Report on Form KQto the extent not set forth herein, is incorpedsherein by
reference from the registrant’s definitive proxgtement relating to the annual meeting of stoclkdrsitb be held on May 7, 2015 which definitive pretatement
shall be filed with the Securities and Exchange @ssion within 120 days after the end of the figaadr to which this report relates. Informationuieed by Item
401(b) of Regulation S-K is included in Part | bistreport under the caption “Executive Officeraianformation required by Item 201(d) of Regulat®-K is
included in Part Il of this report under the capti®ecurities Authorized For Issuance Under EqGiynpensation Plans”.

PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.
(a) Financial Statements and Footnotes Page
The following are documents filed as part of tleipart in Part I,

1. Item 8:
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(b)

Exhibit No.

Consolidated Statements of Earnings
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensieenhe
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Consolidated Statements of Stockholdeysit
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule II-Valuation and Qualifying Accds

All other financial statement schedules have besitted because
they are either not required, not applicable ordwgiired
information is shown in the Consolidated Finan8tltements or
Notes thereto.

Exhibits

Exhibit Description

Incorporated by Reference

Form

Filing Date

42
43
44
45
46
47

94

Filed
Herewith

21
3.1
3.2
3.3

4.1

10.1

10.2

10.3

10.4

10.5

10.6

10.7

Agreement and Plan of Merger and Recapitalizatiated as of
February 1, 2005, by and between the RegistranCadderger
Sub, Inc.

Amended and Restated Certificate of ipaxation
Amended and Restated By-Laws
Form of stock certificate for Commonto

Agreement to furnish to the Commission upon reqaestpy of any
long-term debt instrument where the amount of #ousties
authorized thereunder does not exceed 10% of thkassets of the
Registrant and its subsidiaries on a consolidassisb

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Omnibus Long-Termdntive
Plan, amended and restated effective January 0,201

Form of Long Term Incentive Award Agreement, betwtee
Registrant and the executive officers of the Regyigt*

Revised Standard Employment Severance AgreememiSgitior
Management of the Registrant.*

Amended and Restated Retirement Benefits RestorBtan as
amended January 1, 2009.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Redtat
Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amendaadad, 2009.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Redtat
Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amendagadad, 2009.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to Amended and Redtat
Retirement Benefits Restoration Plan as amendaadad, 2009.*
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8-K
8-A/A
8-K
8-K

10-K

14A

10-K
10-Q
10-K

10-K

February 3, 2005
May 24, 2005
February 13, 2014
November 17, 2008

December 31, 1985

March 19, 2010

March 7, 2006
Audiist2001
Februan2@31

February 24, 2012




10.8

10.9

10.10

10.11

10.12

10.13

10.14

10.15

10.16

10.17

10.18

10.19

10.20

10.21

10.22

10.23

10.24
10.25

Amended and Restated Curtiss-Wright Corporatiofir&aent Plan
and Instrument of Amendment No. 1, as amended ¢firdanuary 1
2010. *
Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended anstd®ed
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as aseeinJanuary 1,
2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to the Amended ansté&ted
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as aseenJanuary 1,
2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 4 to the Amended ansté&ted
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as atheeinJanuary 1,
2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 5 to the Amended anstd®ed
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as aseeinJanuary 1,
2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 6 to the Amended anstd®ed
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as aseeinJanuary 1,
2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 7 to the Amended anst&ed
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as aseeinJanuary 1,
2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Amended anst&ted
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan, as aseeinJanuary 1,
2010.*
Restated and Amended Curtiss-Wright Corporatiorirgavand
Investment Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Restated ameAded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Restated ameded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdanhPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 3 to the Restated ame:ided
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdanhPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 4 to the Restated ame:ided
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 5 to the Restated ameAded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 6 to the Restated ameded
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 7 to the Restated ame:ided
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Instrument of Amendment No. 8 to the Restated ame:ided
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and InvestmdahPdated
January 1, 2010.*

Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2014 Omusilbacentive Plan
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10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012

February 21, 2013

February 21, 2013

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

10-K February 25, 2011

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

10-K

14A

February 25, 2011

February 24, 2012

February 24, 2012

February 21, 2013

February 21, 2014

February 21, 2014

March 21, 2014




10.26

10.27

10.28

10.29

10.30

10.31

10.32

10.33

10.34

10.35

10.36

10.37

10.38
10.39

10.40

10.41

10.42

Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirem8avings Restoration Plan

Form of indemnification Agreement entered into by Registrant
with each of its directors.

Amended and Restated Curtiss-Wright Electro-Meatani
Corporation Savings Plan, dated January 1, 2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No.1 to the Amended anddted
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Sa&rPlan, dated
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended ansté&ted
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Sa&rPlan, dated
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No.3 to the Amended anddRes
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Sa&rPlan, dated
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 2010.*
Instrument of Amendment No.4 to the Amended anddRes
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Sa&rPlan, dated
January 1, 2010, dated January 1, 2010.*
Curtiss-Wright Corporation 2005 Stock Plan for Nemployee
Directors.*
Amended and Revised Curtiss-Wright Corporation Eiee
Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended Novembér*200
Instrument of Amendment No. 1 to the Amended anddee
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred Comgation Plan,
as amended August 2008.*
Instrument of Amendment No. 2 to the Amended anddee
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred Comgagtion Plan,
as amended August 2008.*

Standard Change In Control Severance Protectiopekgent, dated
July 9, 2001, between the Registrant and Key Exezsibf the
Registrant.*

Trust Agreement, dated January 20, 1998, betweeRégistrant
and PNC Bank, National Association.*

Curtiss-Wright Corporation EmployeecBtPurchase Plan.*

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrartextain
Institutional Investors, dated September 25, 2003.
Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note PseAgreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutione¢$tors, dated
September 25, 2003.

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrartextain
Institutional Investors, dated December 1, 2005.

91

10-Q May 7, 201
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10-K February 21, 2013

10-K February 21, 2014
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10-K February 27, 2007
10-K February2p42
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10.45

10.46

10.47

10.48

10.49

10.50

10.51

10.52

10.53
21
23

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note PseiAgyreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutione¢$tors, dated
December 1, 2005.

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrantextain
Institutional Investors, dated December 8, 2011.

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note PseAgyreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutione¢$tors, dated
December 8, 2011.

Note Purchase Agreement between the Registrartextain
Institutional Investors, dated February 26, 2013.

Restrictive Legends on Notes subject to Note PseAgyreement
between the Registrant and certain Institutione¢$tors, dated
February 26, 2013.

Incentive Compensation Plan, as anteNdeember 15, 2010. *

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobel0962by and
between the Registrant and David Adams. *

Restricted Stock Unit Agreement, dated Octobe28y7, by and
between the Registrant and David Adams. *

Third Amended and Restated Credit Agreement dated August
9, 2012 among the Registrant, and Certain Subgdias
Borrowers; the Lenders parties thereto; Bank of AcagN.A., as
Administrative Agent; Swingline Lender, and L/Cuss; J.P.
Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Wells Fargo, N.ASwsdication
Agents; and RBS Citizens, N.A., as Documentatioe#ig

First Amendment to Third Amended and Restated Cragtieement
dated as of August 9, 2012 among the RegistradtCamtain
Subsidiaries as Borrowers; the Lenders partiegtbeBank of
America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Swinglineder, and L/C
Issuer; J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Wellg&aX.A., as
Syndication Agents; and RBS Citizens, N.A., as Doentation
Agent
Second Amendment to Third Amended and RestatedtCred
Agreement dated as of August 9, 2012 among thesRegt, and
Certain Subsidiaries as Borrowers; the Lendersgsattiereto; Bank
of America, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Swingtihender, and
L/C Issuer; J.P. Morgan Chase Bank, N.A., and Wedigio, N.A.,
as Syndication Agents; and RBS Citizens, N.A., asubnentation
Agent
Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

Consent of Independent Registered Pélgoounting Firm.
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311

31.2

32

101.INS
101.SCH
101.CAL
101.DEF
101.LAB
101.PRE

Certification of David C. Adams, Chairman and CEEQrsuant to
Rule 13a - 14(a).

Certification of Glenn E. Tynan, Chief Financialfioér, Pursuant to
Rule 13a - 14(a).

Certification of David C. Adams, Chairman and CE@ &lenn E.
Tynan, Chief Financial Officer, Pursuant to 18 @.SSection 1350.

Indicates contract or compensatory plan or arramgéem

XBRL Instance Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Daenim
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculatibimkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definitioinkbase Document
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label LinideaDocument
XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentdtiokbase Document
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION and SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE Il — VALUATION and QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

for the years ended December 31, 2014 , 2013 2abA

(In thousands)

Additions
Balance at Charged to Charged to Other
Beginning of Costs and Accounts Deductions Balance at
Description Period Expenses (Describe) (Describe) End of Period
Deducted from assets to which they apply:
December 31, 2014
Tax valuation allowance 6,321 18,53t (265) @ 1,11¢ 23,47¢
Total 6,321 18,53¢ % (26%) 1,11¢ $ 23,47¢
December 31, 2013
Tax valuation allowance 8,531 (1,89¢) (319 = — 6,321
Total 8,531 (1,89 $ (319 — $ 6,321
December 31, 2012
Tax valuation allowance 5,51¢ 1,66¢ 1,346 ®» — 8,531
Total 5,51¢ 1,668 $ 1,34¢ — $ 8,531
Notes:

A. Primarily foreign currency translation adjustme

94




SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&fthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Resyisthas duly caused this report to be signedsobehalf by th
undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CURTISSWRIGHT CORPORATION
(Registrant)

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ DavidAdams
David C. Adams
Chairman and CEO

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgh Act of 1934, this report has been signed bbélpthe following persons on behalf of the Regrgti@nd in th
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Glenn ¥man
Glenn E. Tynan
Vice President of Finance and Chief Financial @ffic

Date: February 19, 2015 __ By: /s/ K. Chigter Farkas
K. Christopher Farkas
Vice President and Corporate Controller

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ MartinBRnante

Martin R. Benante
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Dean NAtt-I
Dean M. Flatt
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ S. MarabeF
S. Marce Fuller
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ Allen AoAfnski
Allen A. Kozinski
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ John ReMy
John R. Myers
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ John BthN&an
John B. Nathman
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 By: /s/ RobeRiyet
Robert J. Rivet
Director

Date: February 19, 2015 __ By: /s/ William Bihler
William W. Sihler
Director

Date:  February 19, 2015 __ By: /s/ AlbertShith
Albert E. Smith
Director
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Date:

February 19, 2015 __ By: /s/ Stuarflhbrn
Stuart W. Thorn
Director
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CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT BENEFITS RESTORATION PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2009

SECOND INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Benefits
Restoration Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety, effective as of January 1,
2009.

2. Subsequent to the most recent amendment of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend the Plan for the following
reasons:

a. Toreflect that the joint and 66-2/3% survivor annuity has been eliminated as an optional form of payment for Curtiss-
Wright participants; and

b.  To provide for a default form of payment in the case of a Curtiss-Wright participant who previously elected to receive
benefits in the form of the joint and 66-2/3% survivor annuity, but fails to make a valid election of a different annuity form
of payment before his or her benefit commencement date.

3. Article IX(a) of the Plan permits the Board of Directors of the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time
and from time to time.

4. The Board of Directors has delegated to the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Administrative Committee the authority to adopt
amendments that do not materially increase the costs of the Plan.

Amendment to the Plan:

For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended, effective as of July 1, 2012,
in the following respects.

1. Article Vli(c) is amended by adding the following sentence at the end of this paragraph:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, effective for benefit commencement dates on or after July 1, 2012, a C-W Participant may not
elect to receive benefits in the form of a joint and 66-2/3% survivor annuity, including the option to receive one-half of the
benefit in the form of a joint and 66-2/3% survivor annuity and one-half in the form of a lump sum payment.

2. Article VII(d) is amended by adding the following sentence at the end of this paragraph:




In the event a C-W Participant elects to receive benefits in the form of a 66-2/3% joint and survivor annuity before July 1,
2012, and fails to make a valid election of a different form of annuity before his or her benefit commencement date, the
Participant shall be

deemed to have elected payment in the form of a single life annuity if the Participant is unmarried, or in the form of a joint and
50% survivor annuity with his or her spouse as contingent annuity, if the Participant is married.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2012,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT BENEFITS RESTORATION PLAN
As Amended and Restated Effective January 1, 2009

THIRD INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Benefits
Restoration Plan (the “Restoration Plan”) and has caused the Restoration Plan to be amended and restated with respect to
compensation earned after December 31, 2004, including amendments reflected in the restatement of the Restoration Plan
effective January 1, 2009.

2. Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement, the Company has decided to amend the Restoration Plan,
effective January 1, 2014, (a) to revise the deadline for filing an election with respect to the time and form of payment of
benefits under the Restoration Plan so that it accords with comparable provisions of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Retirement Savings Restoration Plan and the permissible restrictions of Section 409A(a)(4) of the Internal Revenue Code
and regulations thereunder, and (b) to make certain minor administrative corrections.

3. Article 1X(a) of the Restoration Plan permits the Board of Directors of the Company (the “Board”) to amend the Restoration
Plan at any time and from time to time.

4. Pursuant to Article Il of the Restoration Plan, the Board has previously delegated to the Committee the authority to adopt
certain Restoration Plan amendments on behalf of the Company.

Amendment to the Restoration Plan:
1. Article Ill(a) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(@) Except to the extent provided in Article 1V, hereof, all participants in the C-W Retirement Plan (who are not EMD
Participants) shall be eligible to participate in this Plan in the calendar year (“Plan Year”) in which their benefits under
the C-W Retirement Plan as from time to time in effect would first be limited as a result of any provision of the Code
(including, but not limited to, Sections 401(a)(17) and 415 thereof) or ERISA (“C-W Participants”).

2. The first sentence of Article VII(c) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

A C-W Participant who has earned a Post-2004 Benefit and who has not previously filed an election with respect to the time
and form of payment of benefits under the Plan




as permitted under prior Article VII and Section 409A transition guidance, shall file an election with the Committee no later
than 30 days after the first day of the Plan Year following the Plan Year in which he or she becomes a Participant in the
Plan, specifying the time at which payment of his Post-2004 Benefit shall commence payment and the form in which his
Post-2004 Benefit shall be paid.

Article VII(d) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(d) In the event a C-W Participant fails to file a completed election form under Paragraph (c) by the 30 th day after the
first day of the Plan Year following his or her initial Plan Year of participation in the Plan, the Participant shall be
deemed to have elected payment to commence within 90 days of his Separation from Service in the form of a single
life annuity if the Participant is unmarried, or in the form of a joint and 50% survivor annuity with his spouse as
contingent annuitant, if the Participant is married.

Article VII(g) is amended by substituting the word “Article” for the word “Section” in each instance in which it occurs.
Articles IX and X and references thereto are redesignated as Articles VIII and IX, respectively.

Articles VIII and IX, as redesignated pursuant to item 4 above, are amended by substituting the terms “Article VIII” for
“Section IX” and “Article IX for “Section X", respectively.

The second sentence of Section 10(a) of Appendix A is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

In the event an EMD Participant has not filed an election in accordance with the first sentence of this paragraph (a),
he shall file an election with the Committee no later than 30 days after the first day of the Plan Year following the Plan Year
of his or her initial participation, specifying the time at which payment of his benefit hereunder shall commence.

Section 4 of Appendix B is amended by substituting the term “Section 4” for the terms “Section 10" and “Section 2", in each
instance in which they occur.

The second sentence of Section 4(a) of Appendix B is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

In the event an EMD Participant has not filed an election in accordance with the first sentence of this paragraph (a),
he shall file an election with the Committee no event later than 30 days after the first day of the Plan Year following the Plan
Year of his or her initial participation in the Plan, specifying the time at which payment of his supplemental retirement benefit
shall commence.




Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Restoration Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of ,2014.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

EIGHTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss—Wright Corporation Retirement Plan (the
“Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective as of January 1, 2010.

The Plan consists of two separate components: the EMD Component, which applies to eligible employees of Curtiss-Wright
Electro-Mechanical Corporation as provided in the EMD appendix to the Plan, and the CWC Component, which applies to
other employees eligible to participate in the Plan (the “CWC Component”).

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend the CWC and
EMD Components for the following reasons:

a. To address recent guidance from the Internal Revenue Service regarding the definition of “Spouse” in light of the U.S.
Supreme Court decision in United States v. Windsor ;

b. To amend the CWC Component to clarify the timing of the inclusion of bonuses in “Compensation” taken into account
under the Plan, and

c. To amend the CWC Component to provide that payment of pre-retirement death benefits to multiple designated
beneficiaries may be made only in the form of a lump sum payment.

Articles 12.01 and 12.02 of the CWC Component permit the Company to amend the CWC Component, by written resolution,
at any time and from time to time.

Article 11.02(b) of the CWC Component authorizes the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Administrative Committee to adopt
certain CWC Component amendments on behalf of the Company.

Section 18.A of the EMD Component permits the Company, acting by written resolution of its Board of Directors (the
“Board”) or a duly authorized delegate of the Board, to amend the EMD Component at any time and from time to time.

Section 12.B.2 of the EMD Component authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt certain EMD Component
amendments on behalf of the Company.




Amendment:
For the reasons set forth in the Recitals to this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan is hereby amended in the following respects:

CWC Component

The CWC Component is amended as follows:

1. The second paragraph of Article 1.12 (
read as follows:

Compensation™) is amended in its entirety to

Compensation shall include only that Compensation which is actually paid to the Participant during the applicable period,
provided, however, payments under the Company’s cash based incentive compensation plans and for accrued vacation pay
shall be taken into account in the periods to which such payments relate and payments under the Company’s bonus plans
for Participants who have terminated Service prior to receipt of such payments shall be taken into account only in the last
calendar month of the period to which such payments relate provided that the Participant does not terminate Service prior to
the last business day of such calendar month. Except as provided elsewhere in this Plan, the applicable period shall be the
Plan Year. Effective January 1, 2009, Compensation shall also include “differential wage payments” pursuant to the Heroes
Earnings Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008.

The provisions of this item 1 are intended as a clarification of existing Plan provisions and have no specific effective date.
2. Effective June 26, 2013, Article 1.39 (“Spouse™) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

1.39 “Spouse” means the individual to whom the Participant is lawfully married (whether of the same or opposite sex),
and any former Spouse to the extent provided under a qualified domestic relations order as described in Section 414
(p) of the Code (“QDRQ"). On and after June 26, 2013, and on and before September 15, 2013, the determination of
the legal status of the Participant’s marriage shall be made in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the
Participant maintains his legal residence. Effective September 16, 2013, the determination of the legal status of the
Participant’'s marriage shall be made in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the marriage ceremony
was performed, regardless of whether the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Participant maintains his legal
residence recognize the marriage as valid. No individual, whether of the same or opposite sex, shall be a
Participant’s Spouse on account of the fact that such individual has entered into a domestic partnership, civil union or
other formal or informal relationship with the Participant that is not denominated as a legal marriage under the laws of
a jurisdiction, even if those laws provide similar rights, protections and benefits to persons in those relationships as
they do to married persons. In all cases, the marriage must be




recognized for purposes of the Code’s provisions applicable to qualified plans pursuant to regulatory guidance issued
thereunder. The Administrative Committee may require the Participant and/or Spouse to submit evidence to prove
such legal relationship.

3. Effective January 1, 2014, Article 4.06(c) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(©

Subject to the spousal consent requirements of Article 8.01 of the Plan, the Participant may, by written designation
filed with the Administrative Committee, designate one Beneficiary to receive payment under this Article 4 and may
rescind or change any such designation. In the event that a Participant has designated more than one Beneficiary to
receive payment under this Article 4 and no election described in Article 4.06(b) has been made, payment of the
Participant's Cash Balance Account shall be made in a lump sum to the Beneficiaries in the proportion that the
annuity described in Article 4.06(a) would have been paid to such Beneficiaries.

4. Effective January 1, 2014, Article 8.01 (“Pre-Retirement Death Benefit”) is amended by adding the following paragraph (f) to
read as follows:

(f)

Notwithstanding paragraphs (a) and (b) above, in the event that a Participant has designated more than one
Beneficiary to receive a pre-retirement death benefit, a lump sum payment of Actuarial Equivalent value shall be paid
to the Beneficiaries, without their consent, in lieu of the monthly benefit in the proportion that such monthly benefit
would have been paid to such Beneficiaries.

EMD Component

The EMD Component is amended as follows:

Effective June 26, 2013, Section 1.43 (“Spouse™) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

43.

“Spouse” means the individual to whom the Participant is lawfully married (whether of the same or opposite sex),
and any former Spouse to the extent provided under a qualified domestic relations order as described in Section 414
(p) of the Code. On and after June 26, 2013, and on and before September 15, 2013, the determination of the legal
status of the Participant's marriage shall be made in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the
Participant maintains his legal residence. Effective September 16, 2013, the determination of the legal status of the
Participant’'s marriage shall be made in accordance with the laws of the jurisdiction in which the marriage ceremony
was performed, regardless of whether the laws of the jurisdiction in which the Participant maintains his legal
residence recognize the marriage as valid. No individual, whether of the same or opposite sex, shall be a
Participant’s Spouse on account of the fact that such individual has entered into a domestic partnership, civil union or
other formal or informal relationship with the Participant that is not denominated as a legal marriage under the laws of
a jurisdiction, even if those




laws provide similar rights, protections and benefits to persons in those relationships as they do to married persons.
In all cases, the marriage must be recognized for purposes of the Code’s provisions applicable to qualified plans
pursuant to regulatory guidance issued thereunder. The Administrative Committee may require the Participant and/or

Spouse to submit evidence to prove such legal relationship.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2014,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




Recitals:

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

SEVENTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment
Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective as of January 1, 2010.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend the Plan for

the following reasons (capitalized terms used but not defined herein are as defined in the Plan):

2.
a.
b.
C.
d.
e.

3.

4.

To provide for the merger of the Williams Controls, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan into the Plan effective on or about April
1, 2014;

To provide for the merger of the Exlar Corporation 401(k) Plan into the Plan effective on or about August 1, 2014;

To provide that any Employees who were acquired from an entity acquired by the Employer or an Affiliated Employer
in either an asset or stock acquisition will receive eligibility and vesting credit under the Plan for their prior service with
such acquired entity, based on their most recent date of hire with such acquired entity prior to the date as of which
they became Employees under the Plan, effective January 1, 2014;

To provide that Matching Contributions made on or after January 1, 2014, on behalf of any Employee employed by the
Employer on or after April 1, 2013, and on or before December 31, 2013, at the operations and facilities that were
acquired by the Company from Cimarron Energy Inc. will be fully vested upon the completion of 3 years of Vesting
Service and partially vested prior to the completion of 3 years of Vesting Service ;

To provide that a Participant will be permitted to have up to two outstanding loans at any given time, effective January
1, 2015.

Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan at any time and from time to time.

Section 12.01(b) authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of the Company under

certain circumstances.




5. Certain of the Plan amendments described herein shall be subject to approval by the Board of Directors.
Amendments to the Plan:
1. Effective January 1, 2015, Section 8.05(a)(viii) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(viii) To the extent permitted in this Article 8, a Participant will be permitted to have up to 2 outstanding loans at any given

time.
2. Effective January 1, 2014, paragraph 26(f)(i) of Appendix A is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
0] Subject to subparagraph (f)(ii) below, a Cimarron Employee for whom Discretionary Match Contributions were made

for the period April 1, 2013, through December 31, 2013, will become vested in amounts credited to his Cimarron
Match Subaccount and in the value of Matching Contributions made on his behalf on or after January 1, 2014, in
accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Vesting Service  Vested Percentage
Less than 1 0%
1 but less than 2 20%
2 but less than 3 40%
3 or more 100%

3. Effective January 1, 2014, Appendix A is amended by adding paragraph 31 to read as follows:
31. General Provision Regarding Eligibility and Vesting Service for Employees of Acquired Entities

For purposes of determining Years of Eligibility Service and Vesting Service with respect to any
Employee formerly employed by an entity acquired by the Employer or an Affiliated Employer by means of an asset
or stock acquisition who becomes an Employee on the date of such acquisition, whose immediate prior service was
with such acquired entity or an affiliate thereof, and who is employed by such entity at such acquisition date, service
shall commence with his or her most recent date of hire with such entity immediately prior to such acquisition date.

4. The Williams Controls, Inc. 401(k) Savings Plan (the “Williams Plan”) shall be and hereby is merged with and into the Plan
effective on or about April 1, 2014, with the




surviving plan being the Plan. Accounts transferred to the Plan from the Williams Plan shall initially be invested in the
Investment Fund(s) designated by the Administrative Committee most similar in characteristics to the investment fund(s) in
which such transferred amounts were invested under the Williams Plan, otherwise in the Fidelity Managed Income Portfolio
Il Class 2. Any Member may thereafter change the investment of his Accounts, including the transferred amounts, in
accordance with the Plan’s provisions relating to the investment of Members’ Accounts.

5. The Exlar Corporation 401(k) Plan (the “Exlar Plan”) shall be and hereby is merged with and into the Plan effective on or
about August 1, 2014, with the surviving plan being the Plan. Accounts transferred to the Plan from the Exlar Plan shall
initially be invested in the Investment Fund designated by the Administrative Committee, which shall be the Fidelity Freedom
Fund selected on the basis of the Member's age. Any Member may thereafter change the investment of his Accounts,
including the transferred amounts, in accordance with the Plan’s provisions relating to the investment of Members’ Accounts.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2014,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
SAVINGS AND INVESTMENT PLAN
As Amended and Restated effective January 1, 2010

EIGHTH INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT

Recitals:

5.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Savings and Investment
Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated in its entirety effective as of January 1, 2010.

Subsequent to the most recent amendment and restatement of the Plan, the Company has decided to amend the Plan for
the following reasons, effective December 31, 2014:

a. To provide for the merger of the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan into the Plan, effective
December 31, 2014;

b. To simplify the Plan’s loan provisions by incorporating by reference the terms of a separate document constituting the
Plan’s loan policies and procedures.

Section 12.01(a) of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan at any time and from time to time.

Section 12.01(b) authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of the Company under
certain circumstances.

Certain of the Plan amendments described herein shall be subject to approval by the Board of Directors.

Amendments to the Plan:

The Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan shall be and hereby is merged with and into the Plan,
effective December 31, 2014, with the surviving plan being this Plan.

The Preamble to the Plan is amended by adding a new paragraph at the end thereof to read as follows:

Effective as of December 31, 2014, the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan (the “EMS
Plan”) was merged into and made a part of the Plan. All account balances for participants in the EMS Plan were transferred
to the Plan, effective as of December 31, 2014. Each participant in the EMS Plan whose account balance was transferred to
the Plan as an incidence of such merger was entitled to an account




balance under the Plan immediately after the merger that was equal to or greater than the account balance he was entitled
to under the EMS Plan immediately prior to the merger. Participants in the EMS Plan who thereby became Members (as
defined herein) of this Plan shall have such further rights and benefit entittements as provided under the terms of the EMS
Plan prior to becoming Members of this Plan and shall have such further rights and benefit entittements as provided under
the terms of this Plan subsequent to becoming Members hereof.

Section 1.20 is amended by adding a new sentence at the end thereof to read as follows:

Notwithstanding the foregoing, with respect to a Member employed by an Employer that had adopted the EMS Plan,
the term “Disability” means a Member’s inability, due to injury or sickness, to engage in any gainful occupation for which he
is reasonably fitted by education, training or experience, provided he has completed at least 10 years of Vesting Service.

Section 1.22 is amended by adding a new sentence at the end thereof to read as follows:
The Effective Date of the EMS Plan was January 1, 2004.
Section 1.25A is added to read as follows:

1.25A “EMS Plan” means the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan, as constituted on and before
December 31, 2014.

Section 1.34A is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

1.34A “Frozen Member” means any eligible Employee (i) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or after February 1,
2010, for whom benefit accruals under Article 4 of the CWC Component of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement
Plan have ceased pursuant to the provisions of Section 4.02 of such Plan, (ii) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition
is on or before January 31, 2010, but for whom benefit accruals under Article 6 of the CWC Component of the
Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan have ceased pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.01(e) or (g) of such
Plan, (iii) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or before January 31, 2010, and for whom benefits were
accruing under only Article 4 of the CWC Component of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan pursuant to
the provisions of Schedule J of such Plan, (iv) whose date of hire, rehire or transfer to an Employer that had adopted
the EMS Plan was on or before December 31, 2013, and who did not elect to participate in the EMD Component of
the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan after January 1, 2014, by means of a timely-filed election that was
effective on or before January 1, 2014, or (v) whose date of hire, rehire or acquisition is on or after January 1, 2014,
and who is not eligible to accrue benefits under Article 4




10.

of the CWC Component of the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Retirement Plan pursuant to the provisions of Section 2.01
(a) of such Plan.

The first sentence of Section 2.01(e) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

Effective as of January 1, 2014, and notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 2.01(a) and (d), but subject to
Appendix A, each regular, full-time Employee, other than a member of a unit of Employees covered by a collective
bargaining agreement, with the exception of (i) the collective bargaining agreement covering Employees of Williams
Controls, Inc. and (ii) effective as of December 31, 2014, the collective bargaining agreement covering Employees of the
Engineered Pump Division of the Employer that had adopted the EMS Plan, shall be eligible to become a Member as of any
Enrollment Date following the date on which he became an Employee.

Section 2.01 is amended by adding a new subsection (f) at the end thereof to read as follows:

Any Employee on December 31, 2014 who was a participant in the EMS Plan immediately prior thereto and any
individual who was employed by the Employer’s Benshaw business unit on and before June 30, 2014 and who was a
participant in the EMS Plan immediately prior to December 31, 2014 shall become a Member on the next following
Enrollment Date.

Section 3.03(e) is amended by adding a new sentence at the end thereof to read as follows:

Matching Contributions that might otherwise be allocated to a Covered Member's Account on behalf of Automatic
Deferred Cash Contributions will not be allocated to the extent the Covered Member withdraws such Automatic Deferred
Cash Contributions pursuant to this paragraph (e) and any Matching Contributions already made on account of Automatic
Deferred Cash Contributions that are later withdrawn pursuant to this paragraph (e) will be forfeited.

The first sentence of Section 3.07(c) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

From and after January 1, 2014, the Employer shall contribute on behalf of each of its Frozen Members, other than a
member of a unit of Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of (i) the collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of Williams Controls, Inc. and (ii) effective as of December 31, 2014, a collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of the Employer that had adopted the EMS Plan, and Acquired Members who
elected to make Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or After-Tax Contributions, Matching
Contributions in an amount equal to 50% of the Deferred Cash Contributions, Roth Deferred Cash Contributions, and/or
After-Tax Contributions made by the Member
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12.

13.

to the Plan that do not exceed the first 6% of the Member's Compensation during each payroll period.
The first sentence of Section 3.07A(a) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

For any Plan Year beginning on or after January 1, 2014, the Employer may make CW Savings Contributions in an
amount to be determined by the Employer, as of the last day of the Plan Year, on behalf of each Frozen Member, other than
a member of a unit of Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of (i) the collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of Williams Controls, Inc. and (ii) effective for any Plan Year beginning on or after
January 1, 2015, the collective bargaining agreement covering Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the Employer
that had adopted the EMS Plan, and Acquired Member who is described in the following sentence.

Section 3.17 is added to read as follows:
3.17 Earnings on Distribution of Excess Deferrals, Exces s Contributions and Excess Aggregate Contributions

Earnings on excess deferrals distributed pursuant to Section 3.01(c), excess contributions distributed pursuant to Section
3.11(b) and (c) and excess aggregate contributions distributed pursuant to Section 3.12(b) shall be determined (a) by
multiplying allocable gain or loss on the Deferred Account, the Roth Deferred Cash Contribution Account, and/or the
Employer Account attributable to Matching Contributions, as the case may be, (excluding Catch-Up Contributions, Roth
Catch-Up Contributions and income attributable to Catch-Up and Roth Catch-Up Contributions) for the Plan Year by a
fraction, the numerator of which is the excess deferrals, excess contributions or excess aggregate contributions, as the case
may be, for the Plan Year and the denominator of which is the Deferred Account, the Roth Deferred Cash Contribution
Account, and/or the Employer Account attributable to Matching Contributions balance at the end of the Plan Year,
disregarding any income or loss occurring during the Plan Year.

Section 6.02(a) is amended in its entirety to read as follows:

(@) (i) As of December 31 of each year prior to January 1, 1995, a Member shall become vested with respect to 25% of
the value of the total Matching Contributions made on his behalf for that portion of the year. As of each
succeeding December 31 prior to January 1, 1998, such Member shall become vested with respect to an
additional 25% of the value of such Matching Contributions until, on December 31 of the third calendar year
following the year for which the Matching Contributions were made, such




(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

Member shall become vested in 100% of the value of such Matching Contributions made on his behalf.

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Member shall be 100% vested in, and have
a nonforfeitable right to, the value of Matching Contributions and CW Savings Contributions made on his
behalf on or after January 1, 2014, upon the completion of 3 years of Vesting Service.

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a)(ii) above, a Member whose date of hire, rehire or transfer to
an Employer that had adopted the EMS Plan was on or before December 31, 2013, other than a member of a
unit of Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of the collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the Employer that had
adopted the EMS Plan, will become vested in the value of Matching Contributions made on his behalf and the
value of his Employer Account attributable to employer matching contributions made on his behalf under the
EMS Plan in accordance with the following schedule:

Years of Vesting Service Vested Percentage
Less than 1 0%
1 but less than 2 20%
2 but less than 3 40%
3 or more 100%

Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (a)(ii) above, a Member whose date of hire, rehire or transfer to
an Employer that had adopted the EMS Plan was on or before December 31, 2013, and who is a member of a
unit of Employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement, with the exception of the collective
bargaining agreement covering Employees of the Engineered Pump Division of the Employer that had
adopted the EMS Plan, will become vested in the value of his Employer Account attributable to employer
matching contributions made on his behalf under the EMS Plan in accordance with the following schedule:
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Years of Vesting Service Vested Percentage

Less than 1 0%
1 but less than 2 20%
2 but less than 3 40%
3 but less than 4 60%
4 but less than 5 80%

5 or more 100%

(v) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsections (a)(i), (ii), (iii) and (iv) above, a Member shall be 100% vested
in, and have a nonforfeitable right to, Matching Contributions and CW Savings Contributions made on his
behalf upon death (including death while performing qualified military service, pursuant to the Heroes Earnings
Assistance and Relief Tax Act of 2008), Disability, or the attainment of his 65th birthday.

(vi)  Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan to the contrary, a Member who was employed by the
Employer's Benshaw business unit on and before June 30, 2014 shall be 100% vested in, and have a
nonforfeitable right to, all amounts credited to his Accounts under the Plan.

Section 7.02A is added to read as follows:
7.02A Withdrawal of Certain Contributions Under the EMS Plan

A Member who is 100% vested in the value of Matching Contributions made on his behalf may withdraw all or any portion of
his Employer Account attributable to employer matching contributions made on his behalf under the EMS Plan on or before
December 31, 2013 at any time by providing notice to the Administrative Committee or its designee.

Article 8 is amended in its entirety to read as follows:
ARTICLE 8:LOANS TO MEMBERS
8.01 Availability

The Plan offers a loan program to Members who are Employees of the Employer or an Affiliated Employer. Loans shall be
available to Members on a uniform and nondiscriminatory basis.

8.02 Terms and Conditions




Member loans from the Plan shall be granted, and the loan program shall be administered, in accordance with and pursuant
to the terms and conditions set forth in the Loan Policy, a separate document incorporated by reference into the Plan. Loan
repayments shall be suspended, reamortized, and resumed as permitted under Code Section 414(u) in accordance with the
Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment Rights Act of 1994 and in accordance with the Servicemembers Civil
Relief Act of 2003 for a Member who enters active duty with the uniformed services of the United States.

16. Section 9.02(b) is amended by adding a new subsection (iii) at the end thereof to read as follows:

A Member who incurs a Disability shall be treated for the purposes of this Article 9 in the same manner as a Senior
Member and he or his surviving spouse shall be entitled to the same options set forth above in subsection (b)(i) and (b)(ii),
whichever is applicable.

Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of , 2014,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT SAVINGS
RESTORATION PLAN

( As Effective January 1, 2014)
CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
RETIREMENT SAVINGS RESTORATION PLAN

Article I. Purpose of Plan

Effective as of January 1, 2014, Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Corporation”) hereby establishes this Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Retirement Savings Restoration Plan (“the Plan”) to provide a means of paying certain amounts that would be payable under the Curtiss-
Wright Corporation Savings and Investment Plan (the "S&l Plan™) or the Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Savings Plan (the
“EMS Plan”), were it not for the limitations now or hereafter imposed by any provision of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended
(the "Code").

The Plan provides a means of paying benefits to certain highly compensated and managerial employees who are participants in either the
S&I Plan or the EMS Plan (individually, a “Savings Plan”). The Corporation is the sponsor of the Plan and Curtiss-Wright Electro-
Mechanical Corporation, a subsidiary of Curtiss-Wright Flow Control Corporation, a subsidiary of the Corporation, is a participating
employer herein.

The Plan is intended to constitute a nonqualified deferred compensation plan evidencing documentary compliance with Section 409A of
the Code and an unfunded plan maintained primarily for the purpose of providing deferred compensation for a select group of
management or highly compensated employees for purposes of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 (“ERISA”).

Article Il.  Administration of the Plan

This Plan shall be administered by the Curtiss-Wright Administrative Committee (the "Committee"), in accordance with powers delegated
to it by the Board of Directors of the




Corporation. All questions arising in connection with the interpretation and application of this Plan shall be determined by the Committee
and such determinations of the Committee shall be final, conclusive and binding upon all persons.

Article lll.  Participation in the Plan

All participants in a Savings Plan described in Section 3.07A(a) of the S&I Plan (not including those covered by a collective bargaining
agreement that does not provide for their membership in this Plan) or Article Ill.2A.a of the EMS Plan (not including those covered by a
collective bargaining agreement that does not provide for their membership in this Plan), as applicable, shall automatically participate in
this Plan whenever the C-W Savings Contributions (as defined in Section 1.16B of the S&I Plan or Article 1.23B of the EMS Plan, as
applicable, and as limited in Section 3.07A(a) of the S&I Plan or Article Ill.2A.a of the EMS Plan, as applicable) allocated on their behalf
from time to time under a Savings Plan would be limited as a result of any provision of the Code (including, but not limited to, Sections
401(a)(17) and 415 thereof) (“Participants”). Participation shall be deemed to commence under this Plan on the first day of the calendar
year (“Plan Year”) in which C-W Savings Contributions are first so limited under a Savings Plan.

Article IV. Retirement Savings for Participants
Each Participant shall receive supplemental retirement savings under this Plan equal to the excess, if any, of

(@) the C-W Savings Contributions that would have been allocated to him under the Savings Plan in which he participates for
any year, computed on the basis of the Participant's "compensation,” as defined in such Savings Plan, for such year,
calculated without regard to any Savings Plan provision incorporating or reflecting (i) limitations imposed by Section 401(a)
(17) of the Code on the amount of compensation that may be taken into account under the Savings Plan, (ii) limitations
imposed by Section 415 of the Code on the maximum amount of annual additions to the Participant’s account under the
Savings Plan or (iii) any other provision of the Code limiting the allocation of such C-W Savings Contributions under the
Savings Plan, over

(b) the C-W Savings Contributions allocated under the Savings Plan in which he participates for such year, computed
otherwise as above but limited by any provision incorporating or reflecting such Code limitations.

The supplemental retirement savings otherwise payable hereunder shall be credited with interest in accordance with the following
methodology. As of the first day of each month during the Plan Year, interest will be credited on the cumulative excess of (a) above over
(b) above of each Participant. The amount of interest to be credited will be determined by multiplying the amount of such excess on each
day of each month during the Plan Year (including interest previously credited through each such date) by the annual rate of interest on
30-year Treasury securities for the month of November preceding the first day of the Plan Year, then by aggregating the amounts
determined during each month. No interest will be credited during a Plan Year on excess amounts attributable to that Plan Year.




Article V. Vesting

Supplemental retirement savings accrued by Participants will be 100% vested after three years of service for vesting purposes (“Vesting
Service”). Vesting Service will be determined under this Plan by reference to a Participant’s period of employment with the Corporation or
an affiliated entity. Vesting Service will be determined on an elapsed times basis pursuant to principles consistent with those expressed in
the definition of “vesting service” contained in the S&l Plan or the definition of “eligibility service” contained in the EMS Plan, as
applicable.

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, a Participant shall forfeit the entire amount of his supplemental retirement savings
accrued hereunder if it is determined by the Committee that he has engaged in any of the following acts:

(@) Disclosure, release or other failure to protect the Corporation’s confidential information;
(b) Violation of a written non-competition agreement;

(c) Public or private disparagement of the Corporation or any of its affiliated entities;

(d) Negligent or intentional misrepresentations detrimental to the Corporation’s interest;
(e) Misappropriation or diversion of corporate assets or business opportunities;

(f)  Sexual harassment or misconduct in the workplace; or

(9) Physical assault of anyone in and around the workplace or business gatherings or of an employee or customer in any
setting.

Article VI. Payment of Retirement Savings

This Article VI reflects the rules governing distributions of retirement savings accrued under the Plan with respect to Participants who
incur a Separation from Service with the Company, both as defined below.

(a)“Separation from Service” means, as to a particular Participant, a termination of services provided by the Participant to the
Company, whether voluntarily or involuntarily, as determined by the Committee in accordance with Section 409A of
the Code and Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h). In determining whether a Participant has experienced a
Separation from Service, the following provisions shall apply:

0] For a Participant who provides services to the Company as an employee, a Separation from Service shall occur
when the Participant has experienced a termination of employment with the




Company. A Participant shall be considered to have experienced a termination of employment for this purpose
when the facts and circumstances indicate that the Participant and the Company reasonably anticipate that either
(A) no further services will be performed by the Participant for the Company after the applicable date, or (B) the
level of bona fide services the Participant will perform for the Company after such date will permanently decrease
to no more than 20% of the average level of bona fide services performed by the Participant over the immediately
preceding 36-month period (or the full period of services to the Company if the Participant has been providing
services to the Company less than 36 months). However, if the Participant is on military leave, sick leave, or other
bona fide leave of absence, the employment relationship between the Participant and the Company shall be treated
as continuing intact, provided that the period of such leave does not exceed 6 months, or if longer, as long as the
Participant retains a right to reemployment with the Company under an applicable statute or by contract. If the
period of a military leave, sick leave, or other bona fide leave of absence exceeds 6 months and the Participant
does not retain a right to reemployment under an applicable statute or by contract, the employment relationship
shall be considered to be terminated for purposes of this Plan as of the first day immediately following the end of
such 6-month period. In applying the provisions of this paragraph, a leave of absence shall be considered a bona
fide leave of absence only if there is a reasonable expectation that the Participant will return to perform services for
the Company.

(ii) For purposes of this definition of “Separation from Service,” the term “Company” means the Corporation or any
subsidiary of the Corporation that the Participant last performed services for or was employed by, as applicable, on
the date of his Separation from Service, and all other entities that are required to be aggregated together and
treated as the employer under Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-1(h)(3).

(b)A Participant shall file an election with the Committee no later than 30 days after the first day of the Plan Year following the
Plan Year in which the Participant became a Participant in the Plan, specifying the time at which payment of his
retirement savings shall be made or commence and the form of payment in which distribution of his retirement
savings shall be made. A Participant shall be permitted to elect two of the following payment dates: (i) within 90 days
after the Participant’s Separation from Service prior to the Participant’s attainment of age 55, or (ii) within 90 days
after the first anniversary of the Participant’s Separation from Service prior to the Participant’s attainment of age 55,
and (iii) within 90 days after the Participant’'s Separation from Service on or after the Participant’s attainment of age
55, or (iv) within 90 days after the first anniversary of the Participant’'s Separation from Service on or after the
Participant’s attainment of age 55.




(c)In the event a Participant fails to file a completed election form under paragraph (b) above by the 30th day after the first day of
the Plan Year following his initial year of participation in the Plan, the Participant shall be deemed to have elected
payment to be made within 90 days of his Separation from Service in accordance with the provisions of paragraph (f)
(i) below.

(d)A Participant’s election under paragraph (b) above may not be changed or revoked in the event the Participant incurs a
Separation from Service during the Plan Year following his initial year of participation in the Plan.

(e)A Participant’s election under paragraph (b) above may be changed and a later date of payment or commencement elected in
the event the Participant incurs a Separation from Service during a Plan Year subsequent to that described in
paragraph (d) above, provided that (i) such election may not take effect until at least 12 months after the date on
which the election is made, and (ii) payment pursuant to such election may not be made or commence for at least
five years following the date on which payment would otherwise have been made or commenced had the
Participant’s election under paragraph (b) above not been changed.

) (i) Payment of a Participant’s retirement savings under the Plan shall be made in a cash lump sum, unless the
Participant has elected the optional form of payment as provided in subparagraph (ii) below. A Participant who fails
to file a completed election form under paragraph (b) above by the 30th day after the first day of the Plan Year
following his initial year of participation in the Plan shall be deemed to have elected payment to be made in a cash
lump sum.

(ii)A Participant’s election under paragraph (b) above may specify that payment of his retirement savings shall commence
in the form of monthly or annual installments, over a 60-month or 120-month or 5-year or 10-year
period, the payment of which is to commence on the date specified in such election (provided that
such date is determined by reference to a Separation from Service that occurs on or after the
Participant's attainment of age 55), with subsequent installments to be made on the monthly or annual
anniversary of the date of first payment. An election of the optional form of payment not made within
the time limit described in paragraph (b) above or a revocation of an election of the optional form of
payment and new election of payment in a cash lump sum is subject to the provisions of paragraphs
(d) and (e) above regarding timing and payment commencement.

(g)Where the amount of retirement savings payable to any Participant under the Plan, determined as provided in Article 1V, is less
than the limit under Section 402(g)(1)(B) of the Code as in effect for the Plan Year in which his Separation from
Service occurs, such amount shall be paid in a single lump sum as soon as practicable following the Participant’s
Separation from Service, and any prior election in accordance with this Article VI with respect to such amount shall
be void.




(h)In the event a Participant incurs a Separation from Service with the Company at a time when he is deemed to be a key

employee, as determined in accordance with Section 416(i) of the Code (without regard to paragraph (5) thereof),
any payments due him within the first six months following his Separation from Service may not be paid or
commence to be paid prior to the date that is the 6-month anniversary of the Participant's Separation from Service.
Key employees shall be identified on a calendar year basis and shall be subject to the six-month delay in the event
their Separation from Service occurs within the 12-month period commencing April 1 following the end of the
calendar year determination period.

(DIn the event of the death of a Participant with a vested benefit under this Plan prior to payment hereunder, the Participant’s

Article VII.

retirement savings shall be paid to the Participant’s Beneficiary (as defined in Section 1.09 of the S&I Plan or Article
1.12 of the EMS Plan, as applicable) in the form of a lump sum on the first day of the month following the death of the
Participant but in no event more than 90 days following the death of the Participant. An amendment to the definition of
“beneficiary” in a Savings Plan will not change the definition in this Plan. An amendment to this Plan will be required to
change the definition of Beneficiary.

Amendment and Termination of the Pl  an

This Article VII governs amendment and termination of the Plan.

@)

(b)

Amendment. The Board of Directors of the Corporation may amend the Plan from time to time, provided, however, that to
the extent required by Section 409A of the Code, the Plan may not be amended in a manner that would give rise to an
impermissible acceleration of the time or form of a payment of a benefit under the Plan pursuant to Section 409A(a)(3) of
the Code. Further, no amendment shall reduce or eliminate any benefit to the extent that the right thereto shall have
accrued prior to such amendment. In the event of an amendment that would reduce or eliminate any such accrued benefit
then or thereafter payable pursuant to this Plan, the Corporation shall remain liable for the payment of the accrued benefits
at substantially the same time and under substantially the same conditions as the accrued benefits that would have been
payable under this Plan in the absence of such amendment.

Termination and liquidation. The Board of Directors may terminate and liquidate the Plan and distribute all benefits
hereunder in accordance with the requirements of Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-3(j)(4)(ix)(A), (B) or (C)
promulgated under Section 409A of the Code (or any similar successor provision), which regulation generally provides that
a deferred compensation arrangement such as the Plan may be terminated within twelve (12) months following a
dissolution or change in control of the Corporation or may be terminated if the Corporation also terminates all other similar
deferred compensation arrangements and distributes all benefits under the Plan not




Article VIII.

less than twelve (12) months and not more than twenty-four (24) months following such termination; provided, however,
that to the extent required by Section 409A of the Code, the Plan may not be terminated and liquidated in a manner that
would give rise to an impermissible acceleration of the time or form of a payment of a benefit under the Plan pursuant to
Section 409A(a)(3) of the Code. Further, no termination and liquidation shall reduce or eliminate any benefit to the extent
that the right thereto shall have accrued prior to such termination and liquidation. In the event of a termination and
liquidation that would reduce or eliminate any such accrued benefit then or thereafter payable pursuant to this Plan, the
Corporation shall remain liable for the payment of the accrued benefits at substantially the same time and under
substantially the same conditions as the accrued benefits that would have been payable under this Plan in the absence of
such termination and liquidation.

Operational Provisions of the Plan

This Article VIII governs administration of benefits provided under the Plan.

@)

(b)

(©

Funding of Benefit Payments

All benefits provided for under this Plan shall be paid in cash from the general funds of the Corporation, without interest
(except as provided in the last paragraph of Article IV or as provided in Article VI(h)). No special or separate fund shall be
established and no segregation of assets shall be made in connection with such benefits or amounts equivalent to interest.
However, the Corporation may at its election establish a bookkeeping reserve in respect of its obligations hereunder.
Nothing contained in this Plan, and no action taken pursuant to its provisions, shall create or be construed to create a trust
of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship, between the Corporation and any Participant in this Plan or any other person. The
rights that any Participant in this Plan or any other person shall have to receive benefits hereunder shall be limited to the
rights of an unsecured general creditor of the Corporation.

Alienation of Benefits

The benefits payable under this Plan shall not be subject in any manner to anticipation, alienation, sale, transfer,
assignment, pledge, encumbrance, charge, garnishment, execution or levy of any kind, either voluntary or involuntary; and
any attempt to anticipate, alienate, sell, transfer, assign, pledge, encumber, charge or otherwise dispose of any right to

benefits payable hereunder shall be null and void and without effect.

Interpretation of Statutory Provisions




(d)

(e)

()

@)

(h)

@)

Any reference in this Plan to Sections 401(a) (17) or 415 of the Code or to any provision of ERISA shall be deemed to
apply to the same as they may from time to time be amended or supplemented.

No Employment Rights

Nothing in this Plan shall be construed as conferring upon any person any right to be continued as an employee or as
affecting the right to discharge an employee.

Governing Law

This Plan shall be construed, administered and enforced according to the laws of the State of New Jersey.

Claims Procedures

The Committee shall establish a procedure for claims to benefits under the Plan, which procedure shall comply with the
requirements of Section 503 of ERISA.

Tax Withholding

The Corporation shall have the right to deduct from each payment made under the Plan any amount required to be
withheld for taxes under federal, state or local law. Each Participant shall bear the ultimate responsibility for payment of all
taxes owed under this Plan.

Incapacity of Recipient

If any person entitled to a distribution under the Plan is deemed by the Committee to be incapable of
personally receiving and giving a valid receipt for such payment, then, unless and until claim therefor shall have been
made by a duly appointed guardian or other legal representative of such person, the Committee may provide for such
payment or any part thereof to be made to any other person or institution then contributing toward or providing for the care
and maintenance of such person. Any such payment shall be a payment for the account of such person and a complete
discharge of any liability of the Corporation, the Committee and the Plan therefor.

Unclaimed Benefit

In the event that all, or any portion, of the retirement benefits payable to a Participant or Beneficiary
hereunder shall, at the expiration of five years after it shall become payable, remain unpaid solely by reason of the inability
of the Corporation or the Committee, after sending a registered letter, return
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(k)

o

(m)

(n)

receipt requested, to the last known address, and after further diligent effort, to ascertain the whereabouts of such
Participant or Beneficiary, the amount so distributable shall be treated as a forfeiture and shall be retained by the
Corporation as part of its general assets.

Limitation of Liability

The Committee shall not be liable for any act or omission on its part, excepting only its own willful
misconduct or gross negligence or except as otherwise expressly provided by applicable law. To the extent permitted by
applicable law and not otherwise covered by insurance, the Corporation shall indemnify and save harmless the Committee
against any and all claims, demands, suits or proceedings in connection with the Plan that may be brought by Participants
or their Beneficiaries, or by any other person, corporation, entity, government or agency thereof; provided, however, that
such indemnification shall not apply with respect to acts or omissions of willful misconduct or gross negligence. The Board
of Directors, at the expense of the Corporation, may settle any such claim or demand asserted or suit or proceeding
brought against the Committee when such settlement appears to be in the best interest of the Corporation.

Plan Construction

The Plan is not intended to be qualified under Section 401(a) of the Code and is intended to constitute an unfunded
deferred compensation plan for a select group of management or highly compensated employees, within the meaning of
Sections 201(2), 301(3), and 401(a)(1) of ERISA.

Headings

The headings in this document are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference and in no
way define, limit, enlarge or describe the scope of intent of the Plan and shall in no way affect the Plan or the construction
of any provisions thereof.

Separability

If any provision of the Plan is held invalid or unenforceable, its invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect
any other provisions of the Plan.

Section 409A Construction

The Plan shall be administered to be in compliance with Section 409A of the Code and shall be construed and interpreted
to the maximum extent reasonably possible to avoid the imputation of any tax, penalty or interest pursuant to Section 409A
of the Code. If any portion of a Participant’s benefits under the Plan is required to be included in income by the Participant
prior to receipt due to a failure of the Plan to comply with the requirements of Section 409A of the Code and related
Treasury Regulations, the Committee




may determine that such Participant shall receive a distribution from the Plan in an amount equal to the lesser of (i) the
portion of his benefits hereunder required to be included in income as a result of the failure of the Plan to comply with the
requirements of Section 409A of the Code and related Treasury Regulations, or (ii) the Participant's unpaid benefits
hereunder.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , and as evidence of the adoption of this plan, the Corporation has caused this instrument to be executed by an
officer duly authorized on this day of , 2014,

Curtiss-Wright Corporation

By:




CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION
EXECUTIVE DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
As Amended Through August 29, 2008

SECOND INSTRUMENT OF AMENDMENT
Recitals:

1. Curtiss-Wright Corporation (the “Company”) has heretofore adopted the Curtiss-Wright Corporation Executive Deferred
Compensation Plan (the “Plan”) and has caused the Plan to be amended and restated with respect to compensation earned
after December 31, 2004, including amendments adopted through August 29, 2008.

2. Subsequent to the most recent amendment, the Company has decided to amend the Plan to clarify the Plan provision for
accelerated distribution of certain amounts elected to be paid in annual installments over certain specified periods so that it
accords with Plan administrative practice and the requirements of Section 409A(a)(3) of the Internal Revenue Code and
regulations thereunder.

3. Section 7.01 of the Plan permits the Company to amend the Plan, by written instrument, at any time and from time to time.

4. Section 7.02 of the Plan authorizes the Administrative Committee to adopt Plan amendments on behalf of the Company if
they are administrative in nature or have no material financial impact on the Company.

Amendment to the Plan:

1. Section 4.01(e) is amended in its entirety, effective January 1, 2014, to read as follows:

(e) Notwithstanding the provisions of subsection (b), if the balance of a Participant's Deferral Account, determined as of
his retirement or termination of employment, is less than the limit under Sec. 402(g)(1)(B) of the Code as in effect for
the Plan Year in which his retirement or termination of employment occurs, then the portion of such Deferral Account
elected in accordance with the provisions of Sections 4.02(b)(1) or 4.03(c)(1) as applicable shall be void and the
entire balance of such Deferral Account shall be paid to him in a single lump sum in accordance with the Single Sum
payment timing rules under Section 4.02(b) with respect to Participants who retire at or after age 55 or Section 4.03
(c) with respect to Participants who terminate from employment prior to age 55.




Except to the extent amended by this Instrument of Amendment, the Plan shall remain in full force and effect.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, this amendment has been executed on this day of ,2014.

Curtiss-Wright Corporation
Administrative Committee

By:

Date:




FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT

THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATERCREDIT AGREEMENT (this "Amendment"), dated
as of July 28, 2014, by and among CURTISS-WRIGHTRPORATION, a Delaware corporation (th€bmpany "), each of the other
Loan Parties under the Credit Agreement (as hefteindefined), the LENDERS (as defined under thed@rAgreement) parties hereto,
and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,, in its capacity as adnstrative agent for the Lenders (th&dministrative Agent ).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the parties hereto are parties to thaagemhird Amended and Restated Credit Agreemetstddas of August 9, 20.
(the "Credit Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to amend thdiCAgreement as provided herein;

NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, in considenatifbtheir mutual covenants and agreements heteimsdt forth and
intending to be legally bound hereby, covenantagree as follows:

1. DEFINED TERMS . Capitalized terms used herein unless otherwifigatbherein have the meanings ascribed to thetimein
Credit Agreement as amended by this Amendment.dftere references in the Loan Documents to the iCAegteement shall be deemed
to refer to the Credit Agreement as modified herahg as further amended, restated or otherwisefimddn accordance with its terms.

2. AMENDMENTS .

(&) Section 7.05(b) of the Credit Agreement is herabgaded and restated to read in its entirety agvistl

(b) Dispositions of its property that, togetheéth all other property of its Subsidiaries prevsbuleased, sold or
disposed of (other than Investments sold in thénarg course of business by Subsidiaries of Borrgjvas permitted by
this Section 7.0S5ince the date hereof, do not constitute a Subatd&tartion of the property of the Company and its
consolidated Subsidiaries; providedowever, that if a Material Subsidiary is sold or otheravifisposed of; or all or
substantially all of the assets of a Material Sdibasy are sold or otherwise disposed of, then #tgroceeds of such sale
or other disposition shall be used, within 365 dafythe receipt of such net proceeds, for genengdarate purposes of the
Borrower and its remaining Subsidiaries, includiampvestment in assets, funding of working capithayment of debt,
and buy-back of capital stock (but excluding payt@#ividends outside the ordinary course of bess).




(b) Section 8.01(1) of the Credit Agreement is herabgraded and restated to read in its entirety asvistl

(1) _Company Sale of any Borrower, efthe Company shall cease to own, beneficiallyfaeoord, directly or
indirectly, 100% of the issued and outstanding ehaf capital stock of all Material Subsidiaries;ept as otherwise contempla
in Section 7.05(b) hereof, and subject to contintmdpliance at all times with the requirements efti®n 7.12 hereof.

3. CONDITIONS TO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS AMENDMENT

This Amendment shall be effective when (a) it hesrbsigned and delivered by the Loan Parties, dugiired Lenders and the
Administrative Agent, (b) the representations ardranties of the Loan Parties in Section 4 herkall ®e true and correct in all material
respects (as qualified in such Section 4), anth@).oan Parties have paid and/or reimbursed theiddtrative Agent for all of its fees
and expenses incurred in connection with the pegjoar and negotiation of this Amendment (includimithout limitation the reasonable
fees and expenses of counsel).

4. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .

The Loan Parties hereby represent and warrantetddministrative Agent and the Lenders that: (&) répresentations and
warranties of the Loan Parties contained in Artielef the Credit Agreement, and in the other Loacnents to which they are party,
are true and correct in all material respects @hamof the date hereof, except (i) that any saphesentations and warranties that are
gualified by reference to materiality or Materiadiverse Effect shall be true and correct in all eesq (i) to the extent that such
representations and warranties specifically raefert earlier date, in which case they shall bedndcorrect as of such earlier date, and
(iii) that for purposes hereof, the representatimmd warranties contained in subsections (a) andf(®ection 5.05 of the Credit
Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the mosnhtestatements furnished pursuant to clauses (ajl@ncespectively, of Section 6.01 of
the Credit Agreement; (b) no Default exists or walult from the execution, delivery and performeantthis Amendment; (c) this
Amendment has been duly executed and delivere@dly koan Party; (d) the execution, delivery andgrerance by each Loan Party of
this Amendment are within the power and authorftgach Loan Party and have been duly authorizealllnecessary corporate or other
organizational action, and do not and will notc@nflict with or result in any breach or contraventof, or the creation of any Lien und
or require any payment to be made under (A) anytt@otual Obligation to which such Person is a partipy which such Person or its
properties or any of its Subsidiaries are boun{Bdny order, injunction, writ or decree of anyv@mmental Authority or any arbitral
award to which such Person or its property is supg@ (ii) violate any Law; and (e) the Credit &gment and other Loan Documents, as
modified by this Amendment, are in full force ariteet and are enforceable against each such Lody party thereto in accordance w
the respective terms




of such Loan Documents (except as such enforcemayptoe limited by principles of equity, bankruptoysolvency or other Laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights gatg).

5. REAFFIRMATION

Each of the Loan Parties hereby reaffirms, ratdied confirms all of its respective obligations enthe Credit Agreement and
other Loan Documents to which it is a party, asstmme may have been modified by this Amendment.

6. GOVERNING LAW .

This Amendment shall be governed by and constmiedé¢ordance with the Laws of the State of New Yarid shall be deemed
to be a contract made under and governed by, emusand enforced in accordance with the Laws oftage of New York (including fc
such purpose Sections 5-1401 and 5-1402 of ther@e@bligations Law of the State of New York), watlt regard to principles of
conflicts of Law.

7. COUNTERPARTS.

This Amendment may be signed by telecopy or origmany number of counterparts each of which shaldleemed an original,
but all of which together shall constitute one #melsame instrument.

[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]




[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedittigument under seal as of the day and yeardirste written.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION

CURTISS-WRIGHT CONTROLS, INC.

METAL IMPROVEMENT COMPANY, LLC

CURTISS-WRIGHT FLOW CONTROL CORPORATION
CURTISS-WRIGHT FLOW CONTROL SERVICE CORPORATION
CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL CORPORATION

By:

Name: Glenn E. Tynan
Title: Vice President & Chief Financial Officer




[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , as Administrative Agent

By:

Name:

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 30OF9 TO

FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , as a Lender, the L/C Issuer and the Swing Lirmedee
By:
Name:
Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 4 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. , as a Lender
By:
Name:

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 5 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as a Lender

By:

Name:

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 6 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

RBS CITIZENS, N.A. , as a Lender

By:

Name:

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 7 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as a Lender

By:

Name:

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 8 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON , as a Lender

By:

Name:

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 9 OF 9 TO
FIRST AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CREDI T AGREEMENT]

HSBC BANK USA, N.A., as a Lender

By:

Name:

Title:




SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED
CREDIT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO

SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATEREDIT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT (this Amendment"), dated as of December 12, 2014, by and among
CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION, a Delaware corporatfthre "Company "), each of the other Loan Parties under the Credit
Agreement (as hereinafter defined), the LENDERSI&med under the Credit Agreement) parties hetatoGUARANTORS (as
defined in the Guaranty, as that term is hereinaéned) and BANK OF AMERICA, N.A., in its cap#agias administrative agent for 1

Lenders (the Administrative Agent ").

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the parties hereto are parties to thaacemhird Amended and Restated Credit Agreemetstddas of August 9,
2012, as amended by a First Amendment to Third Aleérand Restated Credit Agreement (such agreemeat amended theOriginal

Agreement”, and as further amended hereby ti@rédit Agreement"); and

WHEREAS, the Guarantors executed and delivere&ttsidiary Guaranty and Suretyship Agreement dateaf August 9, 2012
(as amended from time to time, including by thisekdment, thé Guaranty " ); and

WHEREAS, on or about , 2014, the Compattyall of the outstanding Equity Interests in 8&aw, Inc., a
Guarantor; and

WHEREAS, the Loan Parties have requested that thmiristrative Agent and the Lenders release Benshawfrom its
obligations under the Guaranty; and

PHL4209432




WHEREAS, the parties hereto desire to further antbadriginal Credit Agreement and the Guarantgrasided herein.
NOW, THEREFORE, the parties hereto, in considenadibtheir mutual covenants and agreements heteimsdt forth and

intending to be legally bound hereby, covenantagree as follows:

1. DEFINED TERMS . Capitalized terms used herein unless otherwiieatkeherein have the meanings ascribed to them

in the Credit Agreement. Hereafter, referencesénltoan Documents to the Credit Agreement shatlémmed to refer to the Credit

Agreement as modified hereby and as further amendsthted or otherwise modified in accordance ustherms.

2. AMENDMENTS TO CREDIT AGREEMENT

(a) Section 1.0Df the Credit Agreement is amended as follows:

() The definition of " FATCA" is amended by adding the following immediatelydoe the final ".":

"and any agreement entered into pursuant to Set#@m(b)(1) of the Code."

(i)  the definition of " Fronting Exposutes amended by adding "(a)" between the "," andh“in the first line, and

adding the following immediately before the final".

"and (b) with respect to the Swing Line Lender tsDefaulting Lender's Applicable Percentage of mniding
Swing Line Loans made by the Swing Line Lender othan Swing Line Loans as to which such Defaulting
Lender's participation obligation has been reatle¢#o other Lenders."

(i)  the definition of " Maturity Daté is deleted and replaced in its entirety as folow




" Maturity Date" means November 21, 2019; provided howevesuch date is not a Business Day, the Maturity
Date shall be the next preceding Business Day."

(iv)  The following definitions shall be added_to Sectio@1, each in the proper alphabetical order:

" Anti -Corruption Laws " means all laws, rules, and regulations of aniggliction applicable to any Loan Party
any Subsidiaries of any of them from time to tine@@erning or relating to bribery or corruption.

" DesignatedJurisdiction " means any country or territory to the extent thath country or territory is the subject
of any Sanction.

" LIBOR " has the meaning specified in the definition ofd&wrrency Rate.

" LIBOR Quoted Currency " means Dollars, Euro, Sterling, Yen and Swiss Franeach case as long as there
published LIBOR rate with respect thereto.

" LIBOR Rate " has the meaning specified in the definition ofd&wrrency Rate.

" Rate Determination Date" means two (2) Business Days prior to the commmece of such Interest Period (or
such other day as is generally treated as thdixaig day by market practice in such interbank kedyas
determined by the Administrative Agent; providédt to the extent such market practice is not athmatively
feasible for the Administrative Agent, then "Ratet€rmination Date" means such other day as otherwis
determined by the Administrative Agent).

" Sanctioned Persorl means, at any time, (a) any Person listed in@anyctions-related list of designated Persons
maintained by the Office of Foreign Assets Contfathe United States Department of the TreasugyLthited
States Department of State, or by the United Nati®ecurity Council, the European Union or any EUniner

state, (b) any Person operating, organized oreasid a Designated Jurisdiction, or (c) any Persmrirolled by

any such Person.

" Sanctions" means any sanction or trade embargo imposed nésteried or enforced from time to time by the
United States Government (including without limiatthe Office of Foreign Assets Control of the Bgment of
the Treasury or the Department of State), or thieedriNations Security




Council, the European Union, Her Majesty’s Treasfrthe United Kingdom, or other relevant sanctémthority.

(v) The definition of " Eurocurrency Ratds deleted and replaced in its entirety as folow

"" Eurocurrency Rate" means:

€)) for any Interest Period, with respect to any Cregiension

(i) denominated in a LIBOR Quoted Currency, the rateapeum equal to the London Interbank Offered
Rate (" LIBOR"), or a comparable or successor rate which raapsoved by the Administrative Agent, as
published on the applicable Bloomberg screen pagsuch other commercially available source praxgdiuch
guotations as may be designated by the Adminiggagent from time to time) (in such case, the BOR Rate")
at or about 11:00 a.m. (London time) on the RateiDgination Date, for deposits in the relevant ency, with a
term equivalent to such Interest Period,;

(i)  denominated in Canadian Dollars, the rate per arequmal to the Canadian Dealer Offered Rate ("
CDOR™"), or a comparable or successor rate which raappsoved by the Administrative Agent, as publishadhe
applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such othenmneially available source providing such quotaias may
be designated by the Administrative Agent from timé&ime) (in such case, the " CDOR R§tat or about 10:00
a.m. (Toronto, Ontario time) on the Rate DetermdmabDate with a term equivalent to such Interesidele

(i)  denominated in Swedish Krona, the rate per annuraléq the Stockholm Interbank Offered Rate ("
STIBOR"), or a comparable or successor rate which raa@psoved by the Administrative Agent, as publisbad
the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such attramercially available source providing such gtiote as
may be designated by the Administrative Agent ftome to time) at or about 11:00 a.m. (Stockholmge8en time
on the Rate Determination Date with a term, eqenalo such Interest Period;

(iv) denominated in Danish Krone, the rate per annunaldquhe Copenhagen Interbank Offered Rate ("
CIBOR™"), or a comparable or successor rate which raapsoved by the Administrative Agent, as publisbed
the applicable Bloomberg screen page (or such attramercially available source providing such gtiote as
may be designated by the Administrative Agent ftome to time) at or about




11:00 a.m. (Copenhagen, Denmark time) on the Rater®ination Date with a term equivalent to sudbrst
Period;

(v) with respect to any Credit Extension denominateainiy other Non-LIBOR Quoted Currency, the rate
per annum as designated with respect to such AlieenCurrency at the time such Alternative Curyeisc
approved by the Administrative Agent and the reté\tanders pursuant to Section 1;G6d

(b) for any interest rate calculation with respect ®ese Rate Loan on any date, the rate per annuai &qthe
LIBOR Rate, at or about 11:00 a.m. (London timdpdained two (2) Business Days prior to such datéllar
deposits being delivered in the London interbankketafor deposits in Dollars with a term of one fd9nth
commencing that day;

providedthat (i) to the extent a comparable or successerisaapproved by the Administrative Agent in
connection with any rate set forth in this defimitj the approved rate shall be applied in a macomesistent with
market practice; provided, furthtrat to the extent such market practice is not athinatively feasible for the
Administrative Agent, such approved rate shall pgliad in a manner as otherwise reasonably detechiuy the
Administrative Agent and (ii) if the Eurocurrencyt shall be less than zero, such rate shall heetbeero for
purposes of the Agreement.”

(vi) The definition of " Applicable Ratéis deleted and replaced in its entirety with thiédowing:
" Applicable Rate' means the following percentages per annum, baged the Consolidated Leverage Ratio as
set forth in the most recent Compliance Certificgatzeived by the Administrative Agent pursuant ¢égti®n 6.02
(b):
For Eurocurrency Ratg
Pricing Level | Consolidated Leverage Raltio Fachiee Loans Letter of Credit Fee

1 >50% 0.175% 1.450% 1.450%

2 < 50%, but 0% 0.150% 1.225% 1.225%

3 < 40%, but >80% 0.125% 1.000% 1.000%

4 <30% 0.100% 0.850% 0.850%

Any increase or decrease in the Applicable Rataltierg from a change in the Consolidated Leveraggdshall
become effective as of the first Business Day imatety following the date a Compliance Certificie




(Vi)

(viii)

delivered pursuant to Section 6.02(lprovided, however, that if a Compliance Certificate is not delivekgden
due in accordance with such Section, then PricienelL1 shall apply as of the first Business Dagratte date on
which such Compliance Certificate was requiredgweenbeen delivered and shall remain in effect suoigh time as
the Compliance Certificate has been delivered hagtoper Pricing Level can be determined and implged.
The Applicable Rate as in effect from the Closiratédthrough the date a Compliance Certificatetfergeriod
ending June 30, 2012, is delivered shall be detathbased upon Pricing Level 3.

The definition of " Committed Loan Notices deleted and replaced in its entirety with fiblowing:

" Committed Loan Noticé means a notice of (a) a Committed Borrowing,glepnversion of Committed Loans
from one Type to the other, or (c) a continuatibEwrocurrency Rate Loans, pursuant to Section(2)Q2vhich
shall be substantially in the form of Exhibitok such other form as may be approved by the Adsimative Agent
(including any form on an electronic platform oe&tfonic transmission system as shall be approyedé
Administrative Agent, appropriately completed aighed by a Responsible Officer of the Borrower."

The definition of " Responsible Officéris deleted and replaced in its entirety with théofeing:

" Responsible Officet means the chief executive officer, presidentetfinancial officer, treasurer, assistant
treasurer, corporate controller, corporate segretarassistant secretary of a Loan Party, ané)ysébr purposes of
notices given pursuant to Article Il, any othericéf or employee of the applicable Loan Party sigieted by any
of the foregoing officers in a notice to the Adnsimative Agent or any other officer or employeehsf applicable
Loan Party designated in or pursuant to an agreebstween the applicable Loan Party and the Adinatige
Agent. Any document delivered hereunder that isesigoy a Responsible Officer of a Loan Party dhall
conclusively presumed to have been authorizedllneakssary corporate, partnership and/or oth@raoh the
part of such Loan Party and such Responsible Qffiaall be conclusively presumed to have actedetralb of
such Loan Party. To the extent requested by theiidimative Agent, each Responsible Officer wilbpide an
incumbency certificate and to the extent requelyethe Administrative Agent, appropriate authotizat
documentation, in form and substance satisfactotiig Administrative Agent."




(b)

(©)

(d)

(e)

(ixX)  The definition of "Swing Line Loan Notice" is dedet and replaced in its entirety with the following:

"™ Swing Line Loan Noticé means a notice of Swing Line Borrowing pursuan®éction 2.04(bvhich shall be
substantially in the form of Exhibit Bor such other form as approved by the Administeaf\gent (including any
form on an electronic platform or electronic tramssion system as shall be approved by the Admatise Agent),
appropriately completed and signed by a Respon€iffleers of the Company."

Section 2.02 (als amended by adding the following phrase aftemtbed "facsimile" in the fourth line thereof:

"of a Committed Loan Notice"

Section 2.05(als amended by adding the following parentheticidrahe word "Agent” in the second line thereof:

"(which shall be in such form as may be approvethleyAdministrative Agent, including any form onelactronic
platform or electronic transmission system as db@khpproved by the Administrative Agent, and shalsigned by
a Responsible Officer)."

Section 2.14s amended by adding subsection (f) to the endid Section, to read in its entirety as follows:

“(f) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary coiniad in this Section 2.14no Subsidiary of the Company shall
become a “Designated Borrower” unless and untiheamder has determined, after its review of alterials and
information it has reasonably requested, that sectider can extend credit to such Designated Bomrowder all
Laws applicable to such Lender, including, withtimitation, so called “know your customer” Laws.”

Section 3.01s amended by adding the following as subsectiom(8)(iv):

"(iv) For purposes of determining withholding Taxegosed under FATCA, from and after the effectiate of th
Second Amendment to Third Amended and Restatedt@greement among the parties hereto, the Loatid2ar
and the Administrative Agent shall treat (and tleadlers




hereby authorize the Administrative Agent to trehi3 Agreement and the Obligations hereunder agumlifying
as a "grandfathered obligation" within the mearohg@reasury Regulation Section 1.1471-2(b)(2)(i)."

()  Section 3.02s hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety wighfollowing:
" 3.02 lllegalityand Designated Lenders

If any Lender determines that any Law has madelawful, or that any Governmental Authority haseated that i
is unlawful, for any Lender or its Lending Offiae mnake, maintain or fund any Credit Extension whoserest is
determined by reference to the Eurocurrency Rate{wer denominated in Dollars or an Alternativer€ncy), or
to determine or charge interest rates based oBuhgcurrency Rate, or any Governmental Authority ingposed
material restrictions on the authority of such Lentb purchase or sell, or to take deposits of|dd®lor any
Alternative Currency in the applicable interbankrkes, then, on notice thereof by such Lender toBbeower
through the Administrative Agent, (a) any obligatiaf such Lender to make or continue Eurocurrenate Roans
in the affected currency or currencies or, in tagecof Eurocurrency Rate Loans in Dollars, to carBase Rate
Loans to Eurocurrency Rate Loans shall be suspemgedb) if such notice asserts the illegalitgoth Lender
making or maintaining Base Rate Loans the inteaston which is determined by reference to the&unrency
Rate component of the Base Rate, the interesbraBase Rate Loans of such Lender shall, if necgssavoid
such illegality, be determined by the Administratiégent without reference to the Eurocurrency Rateponent ¢
the Base Rate, in each case until such Lendeiiewttie Administrative Agent and the Borrower it
circumstances giving rise to such determinatiotonger exist. Upon receipt of such notice, (i) Barower shall,
upon demand from such Lender (with a copy to thmiistrative Agent), prepay or, if applicable angtls Loans
are denominated in Dollars, convert all EurocuryeRate Loans of such Lender to Base Rate Loansrtbeest
rate on which Base Rate Loans of such Lender shatcessary to avoid such illegality, be deteeliy the
Administrative Agent without reference to the Eungency Rate component of the Base Rate) eithéh@tast da
of the Interest Period therefor, if such Lender daayfully continue to maintain such Eurocurrencytdkaoans to
such day, or immediately, if such Lender may naffldly continue to maintain such Eurocurrency Riabans and
(ii) if such notice asserts the illegality of suobnder determining or charging interest rates bage the
Eurocurrency Rate, the Administrative Agent shallig the period of such suspension compute the Bage
applicable to such Lender without reference toBheocurrency Rate component thereof until the Adstiative
Agent is advised in writing by




(9)

such Lender that it is no longer illegal for sud@nder to determine or charge interest rates bgsau u
Eurocurrency Rate. Upon any such prepayment orersion, the Borrower shall also pay accrued intemeshe
amount so prepaid or converted."

Section 3.03s hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety withfollowing:

" 3.03 Inability to Determine Rates.

(&) Ifin connection with any request for a Eunoency Rate Loan or a conversion to or contimuetihereof, (i)
the Administrative Agent determines that (A) def®éivhether in Dollars or an Alternative Currenayg not being
offered to banks in the applicable offshore intetbearket for such currency for the applicable ami@nd Interes
Period of such Eurocurrency Rate Loan, (B) adeqaiatereasonable means do not exist for determthiag
Eurocurrency Rate for any requested Interest Pavithdrespect to a proposed Eurocurrency Rate l(adwether
denominated in Dollars or an Alternative Currenay)n connection with an existing or proposed BRage Loan ¢
(C) a fundamental change has occurred in the forexghange or interbank markets with respect th suc
Alternative Currency (including, without limitatipghanges in national or international financialjtcal or
economic conditions or currency exchange ratexarange controls) (in each case with respect teseldi), "
Impacted Loan$), or (i) the Administrative Agent or the Requiréenders determine that for any reason
Eurocurrency Rate for any requested Interest Pevithdrespect to a proposed Eurocurrency Rate ldoes not
adequately and fairly reflect the cost to such lezaaf funding such Loan, the Administrative Ageiilt promptly
so notify the Borrower and each Lender. Thereafi@rthe obligation of the Lenders to make or meiimt
Eurocurrency Rate Loans in the affected currenayuarencies shall be suspended (to the extenteddffected
Eurocurrency Rate Loans or Interest Periods), ghih the event of a determination described ingreceding
sentence with respect to the Eurocurrency Rate onemg of the Base Rate, the utilization of the Eurcency Rat
component in determining the Base Rate shall bgesitked, in each case until the Administrative Adapon the
instruction of the Required Lenders) revokes suatita. Upon receipt of such notice, the Borrowey mevoke an
pending request for a Borrowing of, conversionteantinuation of Eurocurrency Rate Loans in tHeciéd
currency or currencies (to the extent of the affiddEurocurrency Rate Loans or Interest Periodgpibing that,
will be deemed to have converted such requeskimemuest for a Borrowing of Base Rate Loans iratheunt
specified therein.




(b) Notwithstanding the foregoing, if the Adnstrative Agent has made the determination desciibethuse (a)
(i) of this Section, the Administrative Agent inrgultation with the Borrower and the Required Leadmay
establish an alternative interest rate for the lketghLoans, in which case, such alternative ratetefest shall
apply with respect to the Impacted Loans untiltfi® Administrative Agent revokes the notice delaewith
respect to the Impacted Loans under clause (d){li®Section, (2) the Administrative Agent or tRequired
Lenders notify the Administrative Agent and the Bever that such alternative interest rate doesadetjuately an
fairly reflect the cost to the Lenders of funditg impacted Loans or (3) any Lender determinesamai_aw has
made it unlawful, or that any Governmental Authohiis asserted that it is unlawful, for such Leratdts
applicable Lending Office to make, maintain or flr@hns whose interest is determined by referenseth
alternative rate of interest or to determine omwghanterest rates based upon such rate or anyr@oeatal
Authority has imposed material restrictions ondh¢hority of such Lender to do any of the foregaimgl provides
the Administrative Agent and the Borrower writtestioe thereof."

(h) Section 3.04s hereby amended by deleting subsection (e) tharebreplacing it with the following:

"(e) _Reserves on Eurocurrency Rate LaaFise Borrower shall pay (or cause the applicatdsignated
Borrower to pay) to each Lender, (i) as long ahidiender shall be required to maintain reservel wspect to
liabilities or assets consisting of or including@urrency funds or deposits (currently known asrtieurrency
liabilities™), additional interest on the unpaidrmipal amount of each Eurocurrency Rate Loan etputile actual
costs of such reserves allocated to such Loan dly lsender (as determined by such Lender in godH,faihich
determination shall be conclusive), and (ii) aglas such Lender shall be required to comply withraserve rati
requirement or analogous requirement of any cehtraking or financial regulatory authority imposedespect of
the maintenance of the Commitments or the fundfrieLoans, such additional costs (expressedpescentage
per annum and rounded upwards, if necessary, togaeest five decimal places) equal to the actstiscallocated
to such Commitment or Loan by such Lender (as detexd by such Lender in good faith, which deterrioma
shall be conclusive), which in each case shalldeeahd payable on each date on which interesymshbaon such
Loan, provided the Borrower shall have receivel@ast ten (10) days' prior notice (with a copyhte t
Administrative Agent) of such additional interestcosts from such Lender. If a Lender fails to giatice ten (10)
days prior to the relevant




(i)

()

Interest Payment Date, such additional interedt bhalue and payable ten (10) days from receipguch notice.

(H Mandatory Costslf any Lender or the L/C Issuer incurs any MandatCosts attributable to the Obligations,
then from time to time the Company will pay (or sauhe applicable Designated Borrower to pay) th siender

or the L/C Issuer, as the case may be, such Manyd@tmsts. Such amount shall be expressed as anpegeerate
per annum and shall be payable on the full amofitteoapplicable Obligations."

Section 3.06s amended by adding the following sentence teetitbof subsection (a) thereof:

"The Borrower hereby agrees to pay all reasonaidesand expenses incurred by any Lender or LA@&tss
connection with any such designation or assignrhent.

Section 5.18s hereby deleted and replaced in its entirety withfollowing:

"5.18 _Sanctions Concerns and AnfCorruption Laws .

(a) _Sanctions Concernslo Loan Party, nor any Subsidiary, nor, to thewedge of the Loan Parties and their
Subsidiaries, any director, officer, employee, ageffiliate or representative thereof, is an indial or entity that
is, or is owned or controlled by any individualemtity that is (i) currently the subject or targétany Sanctions or
(ii) located, organized or resident in a Designahadsdiction.

(b) _AntiCorruption Laws The Loan Parties and their Subsidiaries have wtted their business in compliance
with applicable anti-corruption laws and have inmpémted and maintain in effect policies and proceslaiesigned
to ensure compliance by the Loan Parties, theis@idries and their respective directors, officeraployees and
agents with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicable 8ams, and the Loan Parties, their Subsidiariesthair
respective directors, officers and employees antdé&nowledge of the Loan Parties, their agemésira
compliance with Anti-Corruption Laws and applicaBlenctions in all material respects. None of (g)lavan
Party, any agent of any Loan Party or any Subsidiaany of their respective directors, officersanployees, or
(b) to the knowledge of any Loan Party, any agémainy Loan Party or any Subsidiary that will acimy capacity
in connection with or benefit from the credit fétgilestablished hereby, is a Sanctioned Persorbaddmwing, use
of proceeds or other transaction contemplated isyAgreement will violate Anti-Corruption Laws opjglicable
Sanctions ."




(k)

U

(m)

A new Section 6.14hall be added to Article VI to read as follows:

"6.14 _Keepwell Each Qualified ECP Guarantor (as defined in thar@nty) hereby jointly and severally
absolutely, unconditionally and irrevocably undkesto provide such funds or other support as neayeeded
from time to time by each other Loan Party to haadbof its obligations under the Loan Documentsaspect of
Swap Obligations (as defined in the Guaranty), jpled, however that each Qualified ECP Guarantolt shly be
liable under this Section for the maximum amoungwath liability that can be incurred without reridgrits
obligations under the Loan Documents voidable uagpticable Law. The obligations of each QualifiedP
Guarantor under this Section shall remain in foitlt€ and effect until all Swap Obligations areyfdhtisfied. Each
Qualified ECP Guarantor intends that this Sectiamstitutes, and this Section shall constitute,eeflvell, support
or other agreement"” for the benefit of each otteari_Party for all purposes of Section 1(a)(18)(¥)(yof the
Commodities Exchange Act (as defined in the Gugjdnt

Section 7.14s deleted and replaced in its entirety with théofeing:

" 7.14 Sanctions and AntiCorruption Laws . The Loan Parties will maintain in effect and enéopolicies and
procedures designed to ensure compliance by the Bagties, their Subsidiaries and their respedirectors,
officers, employees and agents with Anti-Corruptianvs and applicable Sanctions. The Borrower vatl request
any borrowing, and the Borrower shall not use, stmall procure that the Loan Parties, their Subs&iaand its or
their respective directors, officers, employees agehts shall not use, the proceeds of any borgpimeluding
without limitation, any Letter of Credit) (a) intfilnerance of an offer, payment, promise to paguthorization of
the payment or giving of money, or anything elsealiie, to any Person in violation of any Anti-Ggotion Laws,
(b) for the purpose of funding, financing or fating any activities, business or transactionrafioh any
Sanctioned Person, or in any Designated Jurisdictio(c) in any manner that would result in thelafion of any
Sanctions applicable to any party hereto."

Section 8.01(bjs deleted and replaced in its entirety with thiéofeing:

"(b) Specific Covenants (i) The Company fails to perform or observe anyntecovenant or agreement contained
in (A) any of Section$.10, 6.11, 7.01, 7.03, 7.06, 7.11, 7.120r 7.14, or (B) any of Sections 6.016.02, 6.03,

or 6.13and, with respect to those sections identifiedause (B), such failure continues for five days(iprany
Subsidiary Guarantor fails




to perform or observe any term, covenant or agreetntained in the Subsidiary Guaranty; or"

(n) Section 8.03s deleted and replaced in its entirety with théfeing:

" 8.03 _Application of Funds.

After the exercise of remedies provided for in 8&c8.02 (or after the Loans have automaticallyonee
immediately due and payable and the L/C Obligatimnge automatically been required to be Cash @oHhred a
set forth in the proviso to Section 8.02) or ibay time insufficient funds are received by andlabée to the
Administrative Agent to pay fully all Obligationkén due hereunder, any amounts received on acobtire
Obligations shall, subject to the provisions oftiec2.16, be applied by the Administrative Agemtlie following
order:

First, to payment of that portion of the Obligations stitating fees, indemnities, expenses and othenaitso
(including fees, charges and disbursements of eéunshe Administrative Agent and amounts payaivider
Article IIl) payable to the Administrative Agent its capacity as such;

Second to payment of that portion of the Obligations stituting fees, indemnities, expenses and otheuamso
(other than principal, interest and Letter of Cré&dies) payable to the Lenders and the L/C Issneugiing fees,
charges and disbursements of counsel to the réspéeinders and the L/C Issuer) arising under than_
Documents and amounts payable under Article lthlily among them in proportion to the respectiveants
described in this clause Second payable to them;

Third , to the payment of that portion of the Obligati@esstituting accrued and unpaid Letter of Credi$-and
interest on Loans, L/C Borrowings and other Oblmyz arising under the Loan Documents ratably antbag
Lenders and the L/C Issuer in proportion to theeetive amounts described in this clause Third lplgyt them;

Fourth, to payment of that portion of the Obligations stitating unpaid principal of the Loans, L/C Borriogs
and Obligations then owing under Lender — Provile@dp Contracts and to the Administrative Agenttfier
account of the L/C Issuer, to Cash Collateraliz¢ gortion of L/C Obligations comprised of the aggate undrawn
amount of Letters of Credit to the extent not ottise Cash Collateralized by the Borrower pursuamrticle 11, in
each case ratably among the Administrative AgéetLenders (including without limitation with regpé¢o




Obligations owing to such Lenders’ respective Adfits holding Obligations under Lender-Provided gwa
Contracts), and the L/C Issuer, in proportion @ riaspective amounts described in this clause kit by them;
and

Last, the balance, if any, after all of the Obligatidrave been indefeasibly paid in full, to the Boreowr as
otherwise required by Law.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Excluded Swap Otiliyss (as defined in the Guaranty) with respectrtp
Subsidiary Guarantor shall not be paid with amouvetgived from such Subsidiary Guarantor or ite&sdut
appropriate adjustments shall be made with regpgmyment from other Loan Parties to preservatloeation to
Obligations otherwise set forth above in this settBubject to Section I, amounts used to Cashatéodlize the
aggregate undrawn amount of Letters of Credit pansto clause Fourthibove shall be applied to satisfy drawings
under such Letters of Credit as they occur. If ampunt remains on deposit as Cash Collateral alfteetters of
Credit have either been fully drawn or expired fstemaining amount shall be applied to the othdigations, if
any, in the order set forth above.

(o) Section 10.17s deleted and replaced in its entirety with tHéofeing:

"10.17 _Electronic Execution of Assignments andeg®tain other Documents. The words "delivery”, "execute
"execution”, "signed", "signature," and words &Elimport in any Loan Document or any other docuneseecuted
in connection herewith shall be deemed to includetenic signatures, the electronic matching sfgrament term
and contract formations on electronic platformsraped by the Administrative Agent, or the keepirfigezords in
electronic form, each of which shall be the sangalleffect, validity or enforceability as a manyaikecuted
signature, physical delivery thereof or the usa phper-based recordkeeping system, as the casbantythe
extent and as provided for in any applicable Lawluding the Federal Electronic Signatures in Glalna Nationg
Commerce Act, the New York State Electronic Tratisas Act;providedthat notwithstanding anything
contained herein to the contrary neither the Admatiative Agent, the L/C Issuer nor any Lender isder any
obligation to agree to accept electronic signatuirsany form or in any format unless expressly agctto by the
Administrative Agent, the L/C Issuer or such Lendpursuant to procedures approved by it and providerdher
without limiting the foregoing, upon the request ahy party, any electronic signature shall be protiygfollowed
by such manually executed counterpart.”




3. AMENDMENTS TO THE GUARANTY .

(a) Clause (iv) of Section 1.@f the Guaranty is deleted and replaced in itsetytwith the following:
"(iv) Swap Obligations under Lender-Provided Swamiacts, but excluding Excluded Swap Obligations,"

(b) Section 1.2Ais added to the Guaranty between Section 1.2 actib8el.3 to read as follows:

"1 . 2A Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms héneemeanings set forth below:

"Commodity Exchange Act" means the Commaodity Exchange Act (7 U.S.C. §<€eqt), as amended from time
time, and any successor statute.

" Excluded SwapObligation " means, with respect to any Guarantor, any Swdg&tton if, and to the extent
that, all or a portion of the guarantee of suchr@otr of such Swap Obligation (or any guaranteeetr) is or
becomes illegal under the Commaodity Exchange Aagyrrule, regulation or order of the Commoditiesufes
Trading Commission (or any of the application draidl interpretation of any thereof) by virtue sich Guarantot
failure for any reason to constitute an "eligibtentract participant” as defined in the Commoditgliange Act and
the regulations thereunder at the time the guagasiteuch Guarantor becomes effective with resjpestich Swap
Obligation. If a Swap Obligation arises under at@aggreement governing more than one swap, suathston
shall apply only to the portion of such Swap Otiigathat is attributable to swaps for which suciamgntee is or
becomes illegal.

" Qualified ECP Guarantor " means, in respect of any Swap Obligation, sucnLBarty that has total assets
exceeding $10,000,000 at the time the relevantagiiee becomes effective with respect to such Svidigadion or
such other person as constitutes an "eligible ashparticipant” under the Commodity Exchange Adciy
regulations promulgated thereunder and can caugbearperson to qualify as an "eligible contraatipgant” at
such time by entering into a keepwell under Sectiaf18)(A)(v)(ll) of the Commodity Exchange Act.

" Swap Obligation" means, with respect to any Guarantor, any ohtigab pay or perform under any agreement,
contract or transaction that




constitutes a "swap" within the meaning of secfiaf47) of the Commodity Exchange Act."

(c) The Administrative Agent and the Lenders herebgasé Benshaw, Inc. from any and all liability unither Guaranty,
whether past, present or future, as if Benshaw,Had never been a party thereto. Each Loan Pektyosvledges that it has requested
the Administrative Agent and the Lenders agreaithselease and further agrees that its obligatioer the Loan Documents
(including, without limitation, the Guaranty) to h it is a party are joint and several with eatfeo Loan Party other than Benshaw,
Inc., and shall not be diminished in any way bytstalease.

4. CONDITIONS TO THE EFFECTIVENESS OF THIS AMENDMENT

This Amendment shall be effective when (a) it hesrbsigned and delivered by the Loan Parties, émglérs and the
Administrative Agent, (b) the representations amdranties of the Loan Parties in Section 5 herkall ®e true and correct in all material
respects (as qualified in such Section 5), (cBbaowers have delivered to the Administrative Agepinions of counsel, certified
organizational documents, certified resolutionsumbency and other certificates all in form andssamce acceptable to the
Administrative Agent, (d) the Loan Parties havalgaithe Lenders, the Administrative Agent andbimt Lead Arrangers all fees
required to have been paid in connection with Arreendment, including without limitation the Upfrolige as set forth in the
Commitment Letter dated November 10, 2014, anth@) oan Parties have paid and/or reimbursed thmiAdtrative Agent for all of it
fees and expenses incurred in connection with tepgpation and negotiation of this Amendment (idizig without limitation the

reasonable fees and expenses of counsel).




5. REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES .

The Loan Parties hereby represent and warrantetddministrative Agent and the Lenders that: (&) rpresentations and
warranties of the Loan Parties contained in Arti¢lef the Credit Agreement, and in the other Loaciiments to which they are party,
are true and correct in all material respects ahaof the date hereof, except (i) that any saphesentations and warranties that are
qualified by reference to materiality or Materiadiverse Effect shall be true and correct in all eesq (i) to the extent that such
representations and warranties specifically refert earlier date, in which case they shall beandcorrect as of such earlier date, and
(iii) that for purposes hereof, the representatimg warranties contained in subsections (a) andf(®ection 5.05 of the Credit
Agreement shall be deemed to refer to the moshtestatements furnished pursuant to clauses (ajl@ncespectively, of Section 6.01 of
the Credit Agreement; (b) no Default exists or walult from the execution, delivery and performeantthis Amendment; (c) this
Amendment has been duly executed and delivere@dly koan Party; (d) the execution, delivery andgeerance by each Loan Party of
this Amendment are within the power and authorftgach Loan Party and have been duly authorizeglllnecessary corporate or other
organizational action, and do not and will notc@hflict with or result in any breach or contranentof, or the creation of any Lien und
or require any payment to be made under (A) anytr@otual Obligation to which such Person is a partigy which such Person or its
properties or any of its Subsidiaries are boun{Bdny order, injunction, writ or decree of anyv@mmental Authority or any arbitral
award to which such Person or its property is sub@ (ii) violate any Law; and (e) the Credit &gment and other Loan Documents, as
modified by this Amendment, are in full force arftket and are enforceable against each such Lodp Party thereto in accordance w

the respective terms




of such Loan Documents (except as such enforcemayptoe limited by principles of equity, bankruptoysolvency or other Laws
affecting the enforcement of creditors' rights gatg).

6. REAFFIRMATION

Each of the Loan Parties hereby reaffirms, ratdied confirms all of its respective obligations enthe Credit Agreement and
other Loan Documents to which it is a party, asstmme may have been modified by this Amendment.

7. GOVERNING LAW .

This Amendment shall be governed by and constmuedéordance with the Laws of the State of New Yand shall be deemed
to be a contract made under and governed by, ecmtstnd enforced in accordance with the Laws oSthée of New York (including fc
such purpose Sections 5-1401 and 5-1402 of ther@e@bligations Law of the State of New York), watlt regard to principles of
conflicts of Law.

8. COUNTERPARTS.

This Amendment may be signed by telecopy or origmany number of counterparts each of which shaldeemed an original,

but all of which together shall constitute one #melsame instrument.




[SIGNATURE PAGE 1 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executedittigument under seal as of the day and yeardirste written.

CURTISS-WRIGHT CORPORATION

CURTISS-WRIGHT CONTROLS, INC.

METAL IMPROVEMENT COMPANY, LLC

CURTISS-WRIGHT FLOW CONTROL CORPORATION
CURTISS-WRIGHT FLOW CONTROL SERVICE CORPORATION

CURTISS-WRIGHT ELECTRO-MECHANICAL CORPORATION

By:
Name:__

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 2 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , as Administrative Agent

By:

Name:__

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 30OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A. , as a Lender, the L/C Issuer and the Swing Linedee

By:

Name:__

Title:




[ SIGNATURE PAGE 4 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A. , as a Lender

By:
Name:__

Title: _




[SIGNATURE PAGE 5 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

WELLS FARGO BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as a Lender

By:

Name:__

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 6 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

CITIZENS BANK NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as a Lender

By:

Name:__

Title: _




[SIGNATURE PAGE 7 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

PNC BANK, NATIONAL ASSOCIATION , as a Lender

By:

Name:__

Title: _




[SIGNATURE PAGE 8 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

THE BANK OF NEW YORK MELLON , as a Lender

By:
Name:__

Title: _




[SIGNATURE PAGE 9 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

HSBC BANK USA, N.A., as a Lender

By:

Name:__

Title:




[SIGNATURE PAGE 10 OF 10 TO
SECOND AMENDMENT TO THIRD AMENDED AND RESTATED CRED IT AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT TO
SUBSIDIARY GUARANTY AND SURETYSHIP AGREEMENT]

GUARANTORS :

CURTISS-WRIGHT SURFACE TECHNOLOGIES, LLC

DY4 INC.

TAPCO INTERNATIONAL, INC.

By:

Name:__

Title: __



Exhibit 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

The information below is provided, as of Decemtr2014 with respect to the subsidiaries of theifemt, all of which are wholly owned by the Corgikbon,
directly or indirectly. The names of certain ingetsubsidiaries and other consolidated subsidiafidse Registrant have been omitted because sunsidsaries
would not constitute a significant subsidiary, indually or in the aggregate.

Name Organized Under the Laws of
Curtiss Wright Controls Inc. Delaware
Curtiss-Wright Electro-Mechanical Corporation Delaware
Curtiss-Wright Flow Control Corporation New ¥or

Dy4 Systems, Inc. (DY4 Canada) Ontario

Metal Improvement Company, LLC Delaware

Tapco International Inc. Delaware



Exhibit 23
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTINGRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniftegion Statement Nos. 333-116195, 333-126543;12%6543, 333-177739, and 333-197752 on Fo®y &-oul
reports dated February 19, 2015 , relating to dmsglidated financial statements and financiakstant schedule of Curtis§¥ight Corporation and subsidiaries,

the effectiveness of internal control over finahogporting, appearing in this Annual Report onrRd0-K of Curtiss-Wright Corporation and subsidéarfor the
year ended December 31, 2014 .

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Parsippany, New Jersey
February 19, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

Certifications

I, David C. Adams, certify that:

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-kCaoftiss-Wright Corporation;

1. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgajnuntrue statement of a material fact or omisteie a material fact necessary to make the stae
made, in light of the circumstances under whicthsstatements were made, not misleading with redpehe period covered by this report;

2. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafigia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preskint¢his report;

3. The registrans’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsiteestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdetemd procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal comivel financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 13a-15(f) and 155(f)) for the registrant ai

have:

a)

b)

©)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduregused such disclosure controls and procedures ttesigned under our supervision, to ensur
material information relating to the registrantliuding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kmoéavus by others within those entities, partidy
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr, or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisio
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réhalof financial reporting and the preparation dafahcial statements for external purpose
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipies;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtéds report our conclusions about the effectegno
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrideoéthe period covered by this report based eh swaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the stegnts internal control over financial reporting thattoed during the registrant's most recent f
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethia case of an annual report) that has materiffibgtad, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

4. The registrant’ other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financial reporting, to the registra
auditors and the audit committee of the registsedrtard of directors (or persons performing thewvedent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which are reasonably liked
adversely affect the registrant's ability to recgnabcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrant's internal control ¢
financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2015

/s/ David C. Adams
David C. Adams
Chairman and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

Certifications

I, Glenn E. Tynan, certify that:

1.

2.

5.

| have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16ftCurtissWright Corporatior

Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgainuntrue statement of a material fact or omistede a material fact necessary to make the state
made, in light of the circumstances under whichhsstatements were made, not misleading with res¢pebe period covered by this report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd, ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all material respects theafinia
condition, results of operations and cash flowthefregistrant as of, and for, the periods preseint¢his report;

The registrang’ other certifying officer(s) and | are responsitieestablishing and maintaining disclosure cdetemd procedures (as defined in Exchange
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal comivel financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Rules 13a-15(f) and 155(f)) for the registrant ai

have:

a)

b)

©)

d)

Designed such disclosure controls and proceduresused such disclosure controls and procedures tiesigned under our supervision, to ensur
material information relating to the registrantlirding its consolidated subsidiaries, is made kméavus by others within those entities, partidy
during the period in which this report is beinggaeed;

Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finah@aorting to be designed under our supervisio
provide reasonable assurance regarding the réfjalof financial reporting and the preparation afaincial statements for external purpose
accordance with generally accepted accounting ipie=;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registsadisclosure controls and procedures and presémtéds report our conclusions about the effectegno
the disclosure controls and procedures, as ofrideoéthe period covered by this report based eh swaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the stegnts internal control over financial reporting thattoed during the registrant's most recent f
guarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quartethia case of an annual report) that has materiffibgtad, or is reasonably likely to materially affethe
registrant's internal control over financial repugt and

The registran$’ other certifying officer(s) and | have discloskdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrobover financial reporting, to the registra
auditors and the audit committee of the registsevgard of directors (or persons performing thewvadent functions):

a)

b)

All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal contraéiofinancial reporting which are reasonably likid
adversely affect the registrant's ability to recgnabcess, summarize and report financial inforamatand

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involvearmagement or other employees who have a significdatin the registrant's internal control ¢
financial reporting.

Date: February 19, 2015

/sl Glenn E. Tynan
Glenn E. Tynan

Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the Annual Report of Curtiss-giti Corporation (the "Company”) on Form 10-K foe theriod ended December 31, 23t filed with th
Securities and Exchange Commission on the datehéhe "Report”), David C. Adams, as President @mief Executive Officer of the Company, and Gldh
Tynan, as Chief Financial Officer of the Comparggtehereby certifies, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. sedt&50, that to the best of his knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeotsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exd®Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgesents, in all material respects, the finan@aldition and results of operations of the Company.
[s/ David C. Adams

David C. Adams

Chairman and

Chief Executive Officer
February 19, 2015

/sl Glenn E. Tynan

Glenn E. Tynan
Chief Financial Officer
February 19, 2015



